This electronic thesis or dissertation has been downloaded from the King's Research Portal at https://kclpure.kcl.ac.uk/portal/



Effect of Age on Visual Dependence for Spatial Orientation and Postural Control

Lee, Shu-Chun

Awarding institution: King's College London

The copyright of this thesis rests with the author and no quotation from it or information derived from it may be published without proper acknowledgement.

END USER LICENCE AGREEMENT



Unless another licence is stated on the immediately following page this work is licensed

under a Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-NoDerivatives 4.0 International

licence. https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-nd/4.0/

You are free to copy, distribute and transmit the work

Under the following conditions:

- Attribution: You must attribute the work in the manner specified by the author (but not in any way that suggests that they endorse you or your use of the work).
- Non Commercial: You may not use this work for commercial purposes.
- No Derivative Works You may not alter, transform, or build upon this work.

Any of these conditions can be waived if you receive permission from the author. Your fair dealings and other rights are in no way affected by the above.

Take down policy

If you believe that this document breaches copyright please contact <u>librarypure@kcl.ac.uk</u> providing details, and we will remove access to the work immediately and investigate your claim.

This electronic theses or dissertation has been downloaded from the King's Research Portal at https://kclpure.kcl.ac.uk/portal/



Title: Effect of Age on Visual Dependence for Spatial Orientation and Postural Control

Author: Shu-Chun Lee

The copyright of this thesis rests with the author and no quotation from it or information derived from it may be published without proper acknowledgement.

END USER LICENSE AGREEMENT

This work is licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-NoDerivs 3.0 Unported License. http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-nd/3.0/

You are free to:

• Share: to copy, distribute and transmit the work

Under the following conditions:

- Attribution: You must attribute the work in the manner specified by the author (but not in any way that suggests that they endorse you or your use of the work).
- Non Commercial: You may not use this work for commercial purposes.
- No Derivative Works You may not alter, transform, or build upon this work.

Any of these conditions can be waived if you receive permission from the author. Your fair dealings and other rights are in no way affected by the above.

Take down policy

If you believe that this document breaches copyright please contact <u>librarypure@kcl.ac.uk</u> providing details, and we will remove access to the work immediately and investigate your claim.

Effect of Age on Visual Dependence for Spatial Orientation and Postural Control

By Shu-Chun Lee 2014

Centre of Human and Aerospace Physiological Sciences

School of Biomedical Sciences

King's College London

Submitted in partial fulfilment of the requirements of the Degree of Doctor of Philosophy of King's College London

Abstract

Effective spatial orientation and postural control requires the integration of proprioceptive, vestibular and visual inputs. Increased visual dependence has been reported in older adults but the underlying mechanisms remain unknown. The aims of this research were to investigate the methodological issues relevant to assessment of visual dependence in healthy younger (18-40 yrs) and older (>60 yrs) subjects and also the effect of sensory manipulation (vibratory and auditory) on visual dependence and postural control. Visual dependence is commonly assessed by the Rod and Disc Test (RDT) and used throughout the thesis. Postural control was assessed by postural sway when standing on a force plate during static (one and two legged stance) and dynamic (stepping) tasks with eyes open (viewing static and rotating images) and closed.

It was found in Chapter 2 that presentation shape (rectangular or round) had no effect on visual dependence. However pixellation on a TV screen could provide orientation cues to judge visual vertical i.e. decreased visual dependence as judged by the RDT and thus underestimates the amount of visual dependence. This was similar in both age groups.

Visual stimulation can impair balance and there are reports of habituation in response to repetitive stimulation and also that the habituation is less in healthy older people. Little is known about the effects of repeated visual stimulation on visual dependence. There was no effect on visual dependence of repeated visual stimulation by the RDT with two recovery intervals (~7 and 10

min) in either age group (Chapter 3). These findings suggest that visual dependence is less sensitive to visual stimulation than balance control.

Whole body vibration (WBV) is a sensory stimulus that can improve muscle power and balance after a single session but its effects on sensory systems is less understood. Five minutes of WBV improved visual dependence in the younger group for 20 minutes (p=0.03 - 0.05) but had no effect in the older one (Chapter 4). No such compensation occurred in older people who may have a less flexible and slower sensory reweighting ability.

In Chapter 5 balance control was assessed during standing on one and two legs when looking at both a static and rotating image also with eyes closed. There was a non-significant trend for balance improvement in both age groups. The sensory stimulation provided by WBV through proprioceptive and vestibular inputs may reduce reliance on vision.

Divided attention may increase visual dependence and disturb balance, particularly dynamic balance. Auditory distraction, in the form of recordings of real street sounds, did not change the level of visual dependence or balance control during static bipedal stance or dynamic (stepping) in either age group. However, it did increase postural sway during the more challenging task of standing on one leg in younger subjects (p=0.048) and showed a non-significant trend (p=0.07) to do so in the older subjects (Chapter 6). This was the only study to find higher levels of visual dependence in the older age group (p=0.02 – 0.0001).

A key finding of majority of studies was the relatively similar level of visual dependence and response to sensory manipulation in the two age groups compared with the published literature, although the subjects studied were often older. They subjects were healthy and very active both physically and mentally and so may not be representative of their age group. This suggests that ageing *per se* may not necessarily lead to increased visual dependence in healthy people but relates to the development of specific pathologies.

Acknowledgements

I would like to thank everyone who has helped me during my journey. First of all, I would like to express the deepest appreciation to my supervisors, Professor Di Newham and Dr Dave Green. Di, you have been so patient with me and given me lots of support over the past 3 years. You taught me everything and I learnt a lot from you, not only the way to do the research but also the attitude to deal with anything. I could not have completed my PhD without your constant support, advice, and encouragement. I will be forever thankful. Dave, thank you for always make yourself available when I needed your help. Your patience, guidance and continuous support throughout every stage of my study were immensely appreciated.

I would like to thank everyone in the Division for their support during my PhD: Professor Roger Woledge for your assistance with my data analysis and programme writing; Dr Anthea Rowlerson for patiently and kindly teaching me how to write a literature review and interpret the data during the initial stage of my study; Dr Marousa Pavlou for wonderful ideas in research design and insightful comments in manuscript writing.

Of course, I cannot forget to thank everyone who has been or still in the PhD office over the past years not only for your practical help but more importantly for your friendship. You guys make me feel I am home and I am not alone. Many thanks for your company.

I am also truly thankful to all my dear friends in Taiwan who show your support and encouragement whenever I feel frustrated and homesick. Although you are 6085 miles away, I still can carry on with my study because I know you all have been there for me. In particular I would like to sincerely thank my best friends, Wen-Hsin and Pei-Yi, who signed the contract as guarantors for me without any hesitation. Thanks for your trust and confidence in me. Without your unconditional help, I would not have studied abroad and completed my PhD.

Special thanks go to all the subjects who gave generously of your time to participate in the studies and Taiwanese Government for the financial support throughout my doctoral programme.

There are no words which can express my gratitude to my parents, my sister and my fiancé Patrick who have been there for me throughout this journey. You have always encouraged me, supported me and had faith in me. Thank you Honey, you are the best thing happened in my life, thank you for all the things you have done to me. I love you more than words can say. 謝謝爸爸和媽媽, 謝 謝你們一路的栽培,謝謝你們給我無限大的空間去探索去嘗試。你們總是說你 們沒有甚麼好給我的,其實你們不知道,你們給了我全世界,給了我所有的一 切。謝謝姊姊,我一直都很感激有你這個姊姊,一個愛我比愛妳自己還多的姊 姊。謝謝妳永遠站在我這邊,總是鼓勵我追求夢想,給我無條件的支持。如果 我有任何一點小成就,那絕對是你們賦予我的。我愛你們,我的家人。這本博 士論文是獻給你們的。

Table of Contents

ABSTRACT	2
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	5
TABLE OF CONTENTS	7
LIST OF FIGURES	10
LIST OF TABLES	13
ABBREVIATIONS	14
CHAPTER ONE INTRODUCTION	
1.1 SPATIAL ORIENTATION AND POSTURAL CONTROL	17
1.2 SENSORY SYSTEMS	
1.2.1 Vestibular system	19
1.2.2 Proprioceptive system	22
1.2.3 Visual system	24
1.3 SENSORY INTEGRATION	26
1.4 VISUAL DEPENDENCE	
1.4.1 Visual dependence measurement	29
1.4.2 Visual dependence for patients with vestibular disorders	30
1.4.3 Visual dependence and proprioceptive impairments	31
1.4.4 Visual dependence in older people	32
1.5 SENSORY DISTURBANCE	33
1.5.1 Vestibular disturbance	
1.5.2 Proprioceptive disturbance	33
1.5.3 Visual disturbance	35
1.5.4 Divided attention	36
1.6 SUMMARY	

2.2.2 Protocol	44
2.2.3 Statistical Analysis	47
2.3 RESULTS	49
2.4 DISCUSSION	53

CHAPTER THREE EFFECT OF REPETITIVE VISUAL STIMULATION ON

60

VISUAL DEPENDENCE IN HEALTHY VOUNGER AND OLDER SUBJECTS

	OBJECTONNIOU
3.1 INTRODUCTION	60
3.2 METHODS	66
3.2.1 Subjects	66
3.2.2 Protocol	66
3.2.3 Statistical analysis	67
3.3 RESULTS	69
3.4 DISCUSSION	

CHAPTER FOUR EFFECT OF WHOLE BODY VIBRATION ON VISUALDEPENDENCE FOR SPATIAL ORIENTATION IN HEALTHY YOUNGER ANDOLDER SUBJECTS854.1 INTRODUCTION854.2 METHODS904.2.1 Subjects904.2.2 Protocol904.2.3 Data analysis924.3 RESULTS944.3.1 Static SVV95

CHAPTER FIVE EFFECT OF WHOLE BODY VIBRATION ON POSTURALCONTROL IN HEALTHY YOUNGER AND OLDER SUBJECTS5.1 INTRODUCTION1045.2 METHODS1085.2.1 Subjects108

5.2.2 Protocol	108
5.2.3 Data analysis	
5.3 RESULTS	114
5.3.1 Static balance	
5.3.2 Dynamic balance	120
5.4 DISCUSSION	123

CHAPTER SIX EFFECT OF AUDITORY DISTRACTION	ON VISUAL
DEPENDENCE FOR SPATIAL ORIENTATION AND POSTURAL	CONTROL IN
HEALTHY YOUNGER AND OLDER SUBJECTS	130
6.1 INTRODUCTION	130
6.2 METHODS	136
6.2.1 Subjects	136
6.2.2 Protocol	136
6.2.3 Data analysis	
6.3 RESULTS	143
6.3.1 Visual dependence	143
6.3.2 Static balance	144
6.3.3 Dynamic balance	151
6.3.4 Questionnaires	153
6.4 DISCUSSION	154

CHAPTER SEVEN SUMMARY AND CONCLUSIONS	160
7.1 SUMMARY	160
7.2 HEALTHY AGEING AND VISUAL DEPENDENCE	163
7.3 FUTURE RECOMMENDATIONS	165
7.4 LIMITATIONS	165
7.5 CONCLUSION	166
REFERENCES	168
APPENDIX 1 INFORMATION SHEET AND CONSENT FORM	194
APPENDIX 2 SITUATIONAL VERTIGO QUESTIONNAIRE	
APPENDIX 3 FALLS EFFICACY SCALE- INTERNATIONAL	201

List of Figures

FIG. 1.1 CONCEPTUAL MODEL REPRESENTING THE MANY INTER-RELATED
COMPONENTS OF POSTURAL CONTROL18
FIG. 1.2 THE 6 SENSORY CONDITIONS USED TO TEST THE ABILITY TO
ADAPT SENSORY INFORMATION FOR POSTURAL CONTROL27
FIG. 1.3 VISUAL DEPENDENCE MEASUREMENTS WITH A DISPLACED
(TILTED) ROD. A) ROD AND FRAME TEST (RFT) WITH ROTATED FRAME
AND B) ROD AND DISC TEST (RDT)
FIG. 1.4 TYPES OF VIBRATING PLATFORMS. A) ROTATIONAL VIBRATING
PLATFORM AND B) VERTICAL VIBRATING PLATFORM
FIG. 2.1 SCHEMATIC EXPERIMENTAL SETUP OF THE RDT WITH BACK
PROJECTED IMAGE45
FIG. 2.2 THE IMAGE SEEN BY THE SUBJECTS FOR A) TV_{Rec} AND B) TV_{ROUND}
AND PROJ SETUPS46
FIG. 2.3 DYNAMIC SVV VALUES ASSESSED WITH TV _{REC} , TV _{ROUND} AND PROJ
IN HEALTHY YOUNG SUBJECTS49
FIG. 2.4 DYNAMIC SVV VALUES ASSESSED WITH TV _{REC} , AND PROJ IN
HEALTHY YOUNGER AND OLDER SUBJECTS51
FIG. 2.5 CORRELATION BETWEEN AGE (CLOSED SYMBOL: YOUNGER
SUBJECTS; OPEN SYMBOL: OLDER SUBJECTS) AND DYNAMIC SVV IN A)
TV _{REC} AND B) PROJ52
FIG. 3.1 STATIC SVV WITH REPETITIVE TESTING IN A) T _{VARIABLE} AND B)
TFIXED IN YOUNGER AND OLDER GROUPS
FIG. 3.2 DYNAMIC SVV WITH REPETITIVE TESTING IN A) T _{VARIABLE} AND B)
T _{FIXED} IN YOUNGER AND OLDER GROUPS71
FIG. 3.3 STATIC SVV WITH REPETITIVE TESTING IN A) T _{VARIABLE} AND B)
T _{FIXED} IN ALL SUBJECTS73
FIG. 3.4 DYNAMIC SVV WITH REPETITIVE TESTING IN A) T _{VARIABLE} AND B)
T _{FIXED} IN ALL SUBJECTS74
FIG. 3.5 BLAND-ALTMAN PLOT OF AVERAGE AND DIFFERENCE OF STATIC
SVV WITH MEAN AND 95% CONFIDENCE INTERVALS INDICATING THE
LIMITS OF AGREEMENT IN YOUNGER A) AND OLDER B) GROUPS76

FIG. 3.6 BLAND-ALTMAN PLOT OF AVERAGE AND DIFFERENCE OF
DYNAMIC SVV WITH MEAN AND 95% CONFIDENCE INTERVALS
INDICATING THE LIMITS OF AGREEMENT IN YOUNGER A) AND OLDER B)
GROUPS77
FIG. 3.7 BLAND-ALTMAN PLOT OF AVERAGE AND DIFFERENCE OF STATIC
SVV A) AND B) DYNAMIC SVV WITH MEAN AND 95% CONFIDENCE
INTERVALS INDICATING THE LIMITS OF AGREEMENT IN ALL SUBJECTS79
FIG. 4.1 THE WBV MACHINE91
FIG. 4.2 STATIC SVV BEFORE AND AFTER WBV IN BOTH AGE GROUPS95
FIG. 4.3 DYNAMIC SVV BEFORE AND AFTER WBV IN BOTH AGE GROUPS96
FIG. 5.1 BALANCE TESTING POSITION110
FIG. 5.2 A) RQ AND B) KQ WITH 2LS117
FIG. 5.3 A) RQ AND B) KQ WITH 1LS (5S)118
FIG. 5.4 A) RQ AND B) KQ WITH 1LS (2S)119
FIG. 5.5 KQ AT BASELINE, TO, AND T20 IN YOUNGER AND OLDER
GROUPS121
FIG. 5.6 MEDIAL-LATERAL DEVIATION WITH EO (BLUE), CW (RED) AND
CCW (GREEN) IN YOUNGER (LEFT) AND OLDER (RIGHT) GROUPS AT
BASELINE (UPPER), TO (MIDDLE) AND T20 (LOWER)122
FIG. 6.1 THE ROD AND DISK (RDT) AND BALANCE TESTS WERE
CONDUCTED WITH AND WITHOUT SOUND IN COUNTERBALANCED
ORDER
FIG. 6.2 THE POSITION OF SPEAKERS138
FIG. 6.3 STATIC SVV WITH AND WITHOUT SOUND IN YOUNGER AND
OLDER GROUPS143
FIG. 6.4 DYNAMIC SVV WITH AND WITHOUT SOUND IN YOUNGER AND
OLDER GROUPS144
FIG. 6.5 THE A) RQ AND B) KQ IN 2LS WITH AND WITHOUT SOUND IN
YOUNGER AND OLDER GROUPS146
FIG. 6.6 THE A) RQ AND B) KQ IN 1LS (5S) WITH AND WITHOUT SOUND IN
YOUNGER AND OLDER GROUPS148
FIG. 6.7 RQ AND KQ IN 1LS (2S) WITH AND WITHOUT SOUND IN YOUNGER
AND OLDER GROUPS150

FIG. 6.8 KQ DYNAMIC ML BALANCE WITH AND WITHOUT SOUND IN
YOUNGER AND OLDER GROUPS152
FIG. 6.9 ML DEVIATION WITH EO (BLUE), CW (RED) AND CCW (GREEN) IN
YOUNGER (UPPER) AND OLDER (LOWER) GROUPS WITH (RIGHT) AND
WITHOUT SOUND (LEFT)153

List of Tables

TABLE 3.1 STATIC AND DYNAMIC SVV VALUES WITH REPETITIVE TESTING
IN TVARIABLE AND TFIXED IN YOUNGER AND OLDER GROUPS70
TABLE 3.2 STATIC AND DYNAMIC SVV VALUES WITH REPETITIVE TESTING
IN BOTH PROTOCOLS IN ALL SUBJECTS72
TABLE 4.1 STATIC SVV VALUES IN BOTH AGE GROUPS BEFORE AND AFTER
WBV94
TABLE 4.2 DYNAMIC SVV VALUES IN BOTH AGE GROUPS BEFORE AND
AFTER WBV96
TABLE 5.1 POSTURAL SWAY VELOCITY (M.S-1) IN EO, EC AND ROT115
TABLE 5.2 RQ AND KQ WITH 2LS, 1LS (5S) AND 1LS (2S)116
TABLE 5.3 ML POSTURAL DEVIATION (M) IN EO AND ROT120
TABLE 5.4 KQ AT BASELINE, T0, AND T20121
TABLE 6.1 SWAY PATH LENGTH (M) WITH 2LS IN EO, EC AND ROT WITH
AND WITHOUT SOUND IN YOUNGER AND OLDER GROUPS145
TABLE 6.2 SWAY PATH LENGTH (M) WITH 1LS (5S) IN EO, EC AND ROT
WITH AND WITHOUT SOUND IN YOUNGER AND OLDER GROUPS147
TABLE 6.3 SWAY PATH LENGTH (M) WITH 1LS (2S) IN EO, EC AND ROT
WITH AND WITHOUT SOUND IN YOUNGER AND OLDER GROUPS149
TABLE 6.4 DYNAMIC BALANCE ML DEVIATION (M) DURING EO AND ROT
WITH AND WITHOUT IN BOTH YOUNGER AND OLDER GROUPS151

Abbreviations

1LS = one-leg stance

2LS = two-leg stance

CCW = counter-clockwise

CNS = central nervous system; a processing centre for the nervous system that receives information fro, and sends information to the peripheral nervous system

COG = centre of gravity; a point at the centre of the total body mass in space

COP = centre of pressure; a point that the COM perpendicularly projects to the ground

CW = clockwise

EC = eyes closed

EO = eyes open

FES-I = Falls Efficacy Scale – International; assessment of subject's concerns about falling

GVS = Galvanic vestibular stimulation; elicits the vestibular reflex by sending specific electronic message to a nerve in the inner ear

KQ = Kinetic Quotient; a ratio of postural sway velocity with looking at rotating and static images that reflects the influence of dynamic visual stimulation

MEG = magnetoencephalography; a functional neuroimaging technique for mapping brain activity by recording magnetic fields produced by electrical currents in the brain

ML = medial-lateral

PET = positron emission tomography; a nuclear medical imaging technique that produces a 3-dimentaionl image of functional processes in the brain and body

PROJ = projected image

rCBF = regional cerebral blood flow

RDT = Rod ad disc test; a dynamic visual dependence measurement by assessing the change of subjective visual vertical with a tilted frame of reference

RFT = Rod and frame test; a static visual dependence measurement by assessing the change of subjective visual vertical with a donut shape of rotating florescent discs

ROT = rotation

RQ = Romberg Quotient; a ratio of postural sway velocity in eyes closed and open which reflects influence of vision

SEM = standard error of mean

SVQ = situational vertigo questionnaire; assesses how frequently symptoms (disorientation, dizziness or unsteadiness) are provoked or exacerbated in environments with visual-vestibular conflict or intense visual motion

SVV = subjective visual vertical; the visual perception of verticality

T_{fixed} = repeated tests with fixed intervals between tests

T_{variabel} = repeated tests with variable intervals between tests

TVR = tonic vibration reflex; a sustained contraction of a muscle subjected to vibration

TV_{rec} = TV screen with rectangular shape

TV_{round} = TV screen with circular shape

VOR = vestibule-ocular reflex; maintains visual acuity during head movement by moving the eyes in the direction opposite to the head's movement in order to preserve a stable image on the retina

WBV = whole body vibration; a form of vibration that is applied to the entire body by standing on a vibrating platform

CHAPTER ONE INTRODUCTION

Effective spatial orientation and postural control require a complex interaction of neural and musculoskeletal systems. The central nervous system (CNS) merges and integrates inputs from vestibular, proprioceptive and visual systems, to form a single perceptual and internal representation of body position and motion in space. The CNS then transmits afferent signals to target muscles for stabilisation and movement of the body. However, sensory and motor systems and also sensory integration are reported to decline with increasing age as does balance and postural control.

Visual dependence is a term used to describe people who over-rely on visual input for orientation and balance, and has been reported in older adults. However, the underlying mechanisms of increased visual dependence with age remain unknown. Therefore, the purpose of this thesis is to investigate the effect of sensory modulation on the use of vision for orientation and balance and whether such responses differ with age.

This chapter focuses on the neural components of postural control and spatial orientation providing an overview of the literature relevant to the function of sensory systems, sensory integration, visual dependence and their relationship to ageing.

1.1 Spatial orientation and postural control

Spatial orientation is the perception of body orientation in relation to its environment. Effective orientation is based on the integration of visual, vestibular and proprioceptive sensory inputs; however, discrepancies between inputs can result in a sensory mismatch producing spatial disorientation (Lord et al., 1991b). Such discrepancies are seen in pilots (Wynbrandt, 2004), or with pathology of a sensory system i.e. vestibular neuritis, or during misinterpretation of, or mal-adaptation to, a novel situation (Redfern et al., 2001).

Postural control is the ability to maintain the centre of gravity (COG) within the area of the base of support (Nashner, 1981). It requires a complex interaction of musculoskeletal and sensory systems (Shumway-Cook, 2012, Fig.1.1). Normally, the central nervous system (CNS) integrates information from various sensory receptors and activates the appropriate motor responses to maintain postural control i.e. balance (Peterka, 2002). The relative weighting between the three sensory systems can also be modulated to facilitate movement and orientation within a particular environment (Horak, 2006).

Posture can be influenced by inaccurate spatial orientation (Isableu et al., 1997). A tilted or inappropriate internal representation of verticality results in a postural alignment incongruent with respect to gravity, which can lead to imbalance (Horak, 2006). Impairment of any of the receptors, effectors or higher integrative centres because of trauma, degeneration or disease, can have a negative effect on postural control if not compensated for (Sturnieks et al., 2008).



Fig. 1.1 Conceptual model representing the many inter-related components of postural control (Shumway-Cook, 2012)

1.2 Sensory systems

The CNS organises information from sensory receptors throughout the body in order to determine the body's position in space. Normally, peripheral inputs from vestibular, proprioceptive, and visual systems are available to detect the orientation and position of the body with respect to the environment.

1.2.1 Vestibular system

The vestibular system in each inner ear contains the semicircular canals and the otolith organs. The semicircular canals are sensitive to angular acceleration in the sagittal, frontal and horizontal planes, whereas the utricule is sensitive to changes in linear acceleration in the horizontal plane and the saccule in the vertical plane i.e. gravity (Baloh and Halmagyi, 1996). Vestibular apparatus, in particular the otolith, provides information regarding head position with respect to the vertical axis.

The primary function of the vestibulo-ocular (VOR) reflex is to stabilise vision and along with the vestibulo-cervical and vestibulospinal reflexes can contribute to postural control under some circumstances. Abnormal VOR function leads to instability and dizziness (Sloane et al., 1989). The vestibulecervical and vestibulospinal reflexes allow vestibular inputs to be used for postural adjustments of the head and body respectively to maintain stability with respect to a gravity environment (Shupert and Horak, 1996, Buchanan and Horak, 2001).

When both proprioceptive and visual inputs are available and accurate, vestibular inputs play a minor role in controlling balance (Nashner et al., 1982, Maurer et al., 2000). However, the vestibular system becomes increasingly important in situations where proprioceptive and visual inputs are either unavailable or inaccurate i.e. conflicted (Nashner, 1993). It is considered as an

absolute reference system against which visual and proprioceptive systems may be compared and calibrated (Black and Nashner, 1985) resolving situations involving visual-proprioceptive conflict.

Spatial orientation may be compromised when vestibular function is impaired or lost (Lackner and DiZio, 2005). Large deviations of subjective visual vertical from true vertical (Anastasopoulos et al., 1997) have been found in patients with uni- (~12⁰, Lopez et al., 2006) and bi-lateral (10 - 40⁰, Bronstein et al., 1996, Guerraz et al., 2001, Lopez et al., 2007) vestibular deficits which increased after vestibular neurotomy surgery suggesting distorted internal representation of verticality (Lopez et al., 2007). However, this was compensated for as early as the first postoperative month and was not different to normal subjects 1 year after surgery (Lopez et al., 2007). Visual vertigo with symptoms of spatial disorientation, is often reported by patients with a peripheral or central vestibular disorder (Redfern et al., 2001a). They complain of dizziness, disorientation and imbalance, which is triggered or made worse in visual environments including moving visual scenes or repetitive visual patterns e.g. walking in the aisle of a supermarket or along busy pavements (Bronstein, 1995).

Patients with unilateral vestibular deficit suffer from disequilibrium, tilt their head (Bronstein, 1988), shift body weight toward to the side of the lesion (Takemori et al., 19 85) and have other postural disturbances (Fukuda, 1984)

and tend to fall toward the lesioned side (Nelson, 1968). Posturograpic recordings indicate larger oscillations of their centre of pressure (COP) (Gagey and Toupet, 1991) and increased postural sway when visual and/or proprioceptive inputs are altered (Fetter et al., 1990). However, those symptoms gradually disappeared in the long term (by 2 years) if other sensory systems i.e. visual and proprioceptive, are intact and able to compensate for maintenance of balance (Horak et al., 1990).

An age-related reduction in vestibular apparatus activity has been identified in both end organs and central pathways (Walther and Westhofen, 2007, Baloh et al., 2001a). Unsurprisingly, these abnormalities relate to an increased risk of falls. 73 % of older adults referred for multi-dimensional falls risk assessment displayed abnormal vestibular system function (Jacobson et al., 2008) and 80 % of fallers attending Accident and Emergency had symptoms of vestibular impairments (Pothula et al., 2004).

A decline in vestibular function with age would cause this absolute reference system to become less reliable. Older adults exhibit significantly greater postural sway in conditions where both visual and proprioceptive information are disturbed, indicative of reduced vestibular function leading to an inability to resolve sensory conflicts (Buatois et al., 2006). Abnormal VOR can also be found with increased age. Thirty percent of older fallers showed abnormal VOR gain in rotational testing (Jacobson et al., 2008), and older adults at high risk of falling were unable to control head accelerations when mobilising due to impaired VOR activity (Baloh et al., 2001a).

Vestibular signals in isolation alone cannot provide the CNS with a true picture of how the body is moving in space i.e. it cannot distinguish between a head nod and a forward bend using vestibular inputs alone (Horak and Shupert, 1994). Proprioception is a key element of postural control considered dominant when balance is relatively unchallenged (Allum et al., 1998).

1.2.2 Proprioceptive system

Proprioceptors, including muscle spindles, Golgi tendon organs, joint receptors and cutaneous mechanoreceptors, provide the relative location of body segments to one another and position and movement of the body with respect to the surrounding environment (Lackner and DiZio, 2005). Proprioceptive inputs from numerous parts of the body are able to contribute to postural control and body orientation (Roll and Roll, 1988). Although information from all three sensory systems influences balance, proprioceptive input is considered to be dominant when the support surface is stable (Diener et al., 1986) and during horizontal surface displacement (Dietz et al., 1991).

Reduction of afferent input from the lower extremities due to vascular ischemia (Asai et al., 1994) or anesthesia (Diener et al., 1984) result in greater postural sway (Nakagawa et al., 1993). Patients with proprioceptive impairments e.g.

peripheral neuropathy, had greater than normal instability when standing with no vision or on a moving platform (Ledin et al., 1990). They also showed prolonged muscle EMG latencies (Nardone et al., 2000) and reduced amplitude (Nardone and Schieppati, 2004) in response to postural perturbation.

Proprioceptive loss is common with increasing age. Diminished vibration sense and proprioception are both associated with decreased stability and increased sway and risks of fall (Abrahamova et al., 2009). In the healthy "young old" (aged 65 – 74 yrs), the incidence of vibration insensitivity and proprioceptive loss are 12 % and 21 % respectively. Whilst in the healthy "oldest old" (aged > 84 yrs), 68 % had vibration in sensitivity and 44 % had proprioceptive loss (Kaye et al., 1994). Proprioceptive loss is more extensive in older fallers (Lord and Ward, 1994). Age-related changes in tactile sensitivity (Kenshalo, 1986), vibration threshold (Bergin et al., 1995), and static and dynamic joint position (Kaplan et al., 1985, Thelen et al., 1998) have all been documented. Tactile sensitivity depends on impulses from Meissner and Pacinian corpuscles, which have been reported to reduce in number and show poorer innervation with increased age (Bruce, 1980). Loss of function is greater in the lower limbs, resulting in high frequency postural sway (Kristinsdottir et al., 2001, Pyykko et al., 1990). Motion detection and position replication at the knee are also impaired to a greater extent at slower speeds (Duncan et al., 1993).

Despite the importance of proprioceptive information for balance, the loss of proprioception/and or vestibular input can be compensated for by an increased sensitivity/reliance upon visual information.

1.2.3 Visual system

Visual signals are processed through different parts of the brain, from the retina to the primary and secondary visual cortices (Waxman, 1999). Processing involves a number of aspects, including visual acuity, depth perception, colour contrast, light sensitivity, the identification and categorisation of visual objects, assessment of relative distances/perspective, and guides bodily movements with respect to objects within the external world (Bruce, 2003).

Vision plays a significant role in spatial orientation and maintenance of posture by providing information regarding the position and movement of the head in relation to the environment, acting as a reference of visual verticality (Lopez et al., 2006). However, visual input can be misleading. Motion across the visual field can result from movement of either the viewer, or a viewed object. For example, the movement of a parallel slow-moving train may lead to a transient misperception of self-motion (Bronstein and Hood, 1986), which can be resolved by the presence/absence of congruent proprioceptive and/or vestibular feedback (Redfern et al., 2001a). However, individuals who over-rely on visual input i.e. are visually dependent, for spatial orientation and postural responses may experience difficulty in resolving situations where visual information is complex or inaccurate (Guerraz et al., 2001).

Vision plays a significant role in balance, particularly when proprioceptive input is disrupted e.g. standing on unstable surface and in patients with peripheral neuropathology (Wang et al., 2008). Blind people have increased sway and poorer balance control in a range of situations, utilising to a greater extent a hip strategy to maintain postural stability (Ray et al., 2008, Schmid et al., 2007). Decreased visual acuity (Paulus et al., 1984), discrimination (Owen, 1985), depth and contour (Nevitt et al., 1989), contrast sensitivity (Lord et al., 1991) and visual field size (Ivers et al., 1998), have also been reported to be associated with increased postural instability and fall risk.

Visual changes with increasing age are well documented in both fallers and nonfallers. Loss of visual acuity appears not to be strongly related to imbalance and falls. Rather visual field loss, diminished contour and depth perception, or reduced contrast sensitivity, visual field motion and ability to perceive extrinsic horizontal and vertical cues all have been related, to varying degrees, with falls risk and imbalance (Tang and Woollacott, 2004, Pitts, 1982, Overstall, 2004).

Although vision is a critical part of postural orientation and balance control, no single sensory system is able to provide the CNS with accurate information regarding the orientation and movement of the body in space in every situation and therefore the CNS must be able to integrate information from each sensory system and resolve sensory conflicts by changing the relative weighting of a sensory input in an appropriate manner – based on experience and thus expectation.

1.3 Sensory integration

The CNS integrates sensory inputs from vestibular, proprioceptive and visual systems to form a single perception and internal representation of body position in space by multi-sensory integration. Accurate perception of body position and motion is a prerequisite for postural control because motor commands to the musculoskeletal system require accurate assessment of current body state. Greater processing is required if the sensory inputs are in conflict (Mahoney et al., 2011, Peterka and Loughlin, 2004).

In a situation of sensory conflict, the CNS must first recognise the discrepancy and reduce the weighting (suppress) of the inaccurate input, while increasing the weighting of input from the sensory systems deemed to provide more reliable information (Horak et al., 1990, Nashner, 1997, Wolfson, 1997, Tang and Woollacott, 2004). This complex process is termed multiple-sensory reweighting (Jeka and Lackner, 1994, Jeka and Lackner, 1995, Kuo et al., 1998, Nashner, 1982, Nashner, 1976, Peterka and Black, 1990, Oie et al., 2002) and is vital to maintain balance and orientation in an ever changing, and increasingly mechanised environment.

How the CNS integrates multiple sensory inputs for postural control can be tested via the dynamic posturography sensory organisation protocol (Fig. 1.2) (Nashner, 1976, Nashner, 1982). The subject stands quietly under 6 different conditions that alter the availability and accuracy of visual and proprioceptive inputs for postural control. Normal subjects sway the least in the conditions where only one sense was disrupted (conditions 1 - 4) and have the greatest sway (on average > 50 % than condition 1) when two senses are simultaneously altered and only one accurate set of inputs, vestibular, is available to support postural control (conditions 5 and 6). Healthy adults maintain adequate balance under all conditions, demonstrating that the CNS has the ability to effectively weight sensory inputs even when conditions change very rapidly (Nashner, 1982, Peterka and Black, 1990).



Fig. 1.2 The 6 sensory conditions used to test the ability to adapt sensory information for postural control (Shumway-Cook, 2012). Vest = vestibular, Somato = somatosensory.

Central sensory integration declines with age. Studies which manipulate visual and proprioceptive inputs suggest that an inability to compensate for sensory deficits and/or sensory conflicts increases with age and is related to imbalance and is likely to contribute significantly to falls in older people (Whipple et al., 1993, Wolfson et al., 1992, Woollacott, 1993). When presented with conflicting sensory inputs, young subjects swayed more but did not fall, whereas healthy older subjects often lost their balance, especially on the first trial of a novel condition (Judge et al., 1995, Wolfson et al., 1992, Woollacott et al., 1986). Healthy older adults showed instability when two senses were manipulated simultaneously, while older fallers become unstable when any single sense was altered (Judge et al., 1995, Manchester et al., 1989). Thus, the ability to integrate effectively challenging sensory inputs appears to be slowed with age and severely reduced in older fallers (Camicioli et al., 1997, Mahoney et al., 2011). An expression of ineffective sensory function, and/or its integration may be an inappropriately exaggerated reliance upon visual input.

1.4 Visual dependence

The extent by which an individual utilises visual input for balance and spatial orientation is termed visual dependence. However, visual cues may by inaccurate or unreliable, and thus in the absence of reliable proprioceptive and/or vestibular cues can evoke disorientation/imbalance (Bonan et al., 2004). In fact exaggerated visual dependence can reflect a multi-sensory re-weighting deficit (Bronstein et al., 1990, Talbott and Brookhart, 1980).

1.4.1 Visual dependence measurement

Subjective visual vertical (SVV), the perception of verticality measured by the angle between perceived visual vertical and gravitational vertical (0^o); normal subjects typically have a SVV of ± 2^o from true vertical in the absence of external visual information (Howard, 1982). Visual dependence is commonly distinguished via assessment of change in SVV by the rod and frame test (RFT, Fig. 1.3 a) (Oltman, 1968) or the rod and disc test (RDT, Fig.1.3 b) (Dichgans et al., 1972). Subjects are asked to set a small tilted rod to their perceived vertical while a frame of reference is tilted (RFT) or the entire central visual field comprised of florescent discs rotating around the centre of the field (RDT). Both the RFT and the RDT evoke deviation of the SVV in the direction of tilt, or rotation respectively. It is suggested that people with a higher level of visual dependence show greater errors in both the RFT and the RDT and tend to use visual cues for SVV, while individuals who are relatively visually independent rely more upon gravitational or egocentric cues (Luyat et al., 1997).

Increased visual dependence is typically thought to be a response to pathology of the vestibular or proprioceptive systems. For instance, patients with vestibular disorders e.g. vestibular schwannoma (Hafstrom *et al*, 2004), Meniere's disease (Lopez et al., 2006) proprioceptive impairments e.g. Parkinson's disease (Bronstein et al., 1990) and following stroke (Slaboda et al., 2009), have all been reported to have an exaggerated degree of visual dependence for both spatial orientation and postural control compared with healthy controls.



Fig. 1.3 Visual dependence measurements with a displaced (tilted) rod . a) Rod and Frame Test (RFT) with rotated frame and b) Rod and Disc Test (RDT) where dots rotate around the centre.

1.4.2 Visual dependence for patients with vestibular disorders

Exaggerated visual dependence in vestibular deficient patients can be measured by a greater than normal deviation of SVV induced by static (RFT) or dynamic (RDT) visual stimulation. Patients with vestibular schwannoma (Hafstrom et al., 2004) and Meniere's disease (Lopez et al., 2006) showed significant SVV deviations towards the lesion side before and after unilateral vestibular neurotomy. They also had increased visual dependence for postural control. Furthermore, in a moving room, patients with visual vertigo (most of whom are considered to have peripheral vestibular disorder) showed abnormally large postural responses, but not when standing with eyes closed or in an immobile room (Bronstein, 1995). Increased lateral sway and COP and head displacement when facing a titled frame or a rotated disc are also observed in patients with visual vertigo and labyrinthine deficits (Guerraz et al., 2001).

1.4.3 Visual dependence and proprioceptive impairments

Patients with a reduction in proprioception are thought to place a greater reliance on visual cues to maintain balance (Overstall, 2004, Redfern et al., 2001a). Those with Parkinson's diseases had normal SVV tilt with a rotating background (Bronstein et al., 1996, Barnett-Cowan et al., 2010) but showed greater sway responses to visual motion with postural deviation toward the direction of visual stimuli (Bronstein et al., 1990, Barnett-Cowan et al., 2010, Vaugoyeau et al., 2011), suggesting that visual perturbation may affect postural control to a greater extent than measures of spatial orientation. Some studies report that stroke patients with hemibody proprioceptive impairment had significant dynamic SVV deviation in the direction of visual stimuli in respect to the RFT (Slaboda et al., 2009), and RDT (Anastasopoulos and Bronstein, 1999) indicative of exaggerated visual dependence. However, others have argued that this effect was only evident in stroke patients with an infarction of the thalamus (some nuclei in this area are sensitive to vestibular stimulation) and with lesions of the central vestibular system in the brainstem and cortex (Karnath et al., 2000). Increased visual dependence on posture was also observed by a more rapid and larger COP displacement when exposed to a rotating visual scene (Yelnik et al., 2006, Slaboda et al., 2009). However, normal RDT dynamic SVV deviation was recorded in a case of proprioceptive loss below the neck (Yardley, 1990). Thus, over-reliance on vision in the maintenance of balance is presented in individuals with either proprioceptive or vestibular impairment, but subjective (orientation) perception of the visual world (SVV) appears preferentially affected by vestibular rather than proprioceptive input.

1.4.4 Visual dependence in older people

Older people often find difficulties in maintaining balance when their eyes are closed, emphasising the importance of vision (Wolfson et al., 1992). A greater influence of vision on spatial orientation and postural control has been also observed by manipulating static and dynamic visual cues. Older people, fallers particularly, had significantly greater errors in dynamic SVV (Lord and Webster, 1990, Kobayashi et al., 2002). Younger people have little sway in response to optic flow whilst older adults, especially fallers, had significantly more and showed continued COP oscillation even following visual disturbance (Wade et al., 1995, Sundermier et al., 1996, Borger et al., 1999). They also adopted hip strategies to restore balance in response to visual perturbation indicating they were extremely unstable (Horak and Nashner, 1986). These results indicate that older people may have higher levels of visual dependence. However, several studies reporting increased visual dependence in older people did not employ careful screening tests for vestibular and proprioceptive sensory impairments (Lord and Webster, 1990, Kobayashi et al., 2002, Wade et al., 1995, Sundermier et al., 1996, Borger et al., 1999). It is possible that the elevated visual dependence may be due to pathological peripheral sensory loss and not related to ageing *per se*. Thus, this thesis shall focus upon the effect of age in 'healthy' older people.

1.5 Sensory disturbance

Successful interaction with the real world demands a continuously updated awareness of the surrounding environment. The role of the vestibular, proprioceptive, and visual systems in spatial orientation and postural control is to detect information from the environment and transmit it to the CNS for subsequent processing. Therefore, if any one of the sensory system is disturbed, the CNS receives inaccurate sensory inputs which affect orientation and balance.

1.5.1 Vestibular disturbance

Galvanic vestibular stimulation (GVS) is a simple, safe and specific way to elicit the vestibular reflex, and has been used to assess the contribution of vestibular input to balance control (Fitzpatrick and Day, 2004). GVS causes a person to sway if they are standing or perceive illusory movements if they are not (Fitzpatrick et al., 1994). The virtual signal of head movement produced by GVS has a potent effect on whole body motor control, evoking reflex electromyographic responses (Britton et al., 1993) and a highly organised balance response involving the entire body in healthy people (Day et al., 2002).

1.5.2 Proprioceptive disturbance

Internal representation of verticality can be changed by vibrating the Achilles tendon when standing (Ceyte et al., 2007, Barbieri et al., 2008), thereby activating muscle spindles, which informs the CNS that the muscle is being stretched. This inaccurate interpretation causes an illusionary forward tilt and a compensatory postural response (Roll et al., 1989) e.g. significantly greater body sway than when quietly standing (Nakagawa et al., 1993), and whole body backward shift (Thompson et al., 2007).

Whole body vibration (WBV) is another form of vibration that is applied to the entire body. The subject stands on a vibrating platform with either rotational (plate rotating around the anterior-posterior axis, Fig 1.4a) or vertical oscillation (Fig 1.4b).



Fig. 1.4 Types of vibrating platforms. a) Rotational vibrating platform and b) vertical vibrating platform (Cardinale and Wakeling, 2005)

WBV has been reported to lead to long term improvements in strength, flexibility, muscle power, movement speed and balance (Merriman and Jackson, 2009), especially in older people (Rittweger, 2010). However, reduced cutaneous sensation (touch and pressure) at the foot and ankle (Pollock et al., 2011, Schlee et al., 2012, Sonza et al., 2013) occurred after an acute bout of WBV,
and low-frequency occupational WBV in the work place i.e. <1 Hz, may cause vestibular disturbances accompanied by symptoms of dizziness, motion sickness and nausea (Seidel et al., 1990). Although there are limited studies on the immediate effect of WBV, it is possible that any negative effects of WBV in this respect might counter and even outweigh the beneficial effects on strength and power output.

1.5.3 Visual disturbance

A static tilted visual frame can affect orientation and the estimation of the visual verticality (Howard and Childerson, 1994). A slight body lean towards a tilted frame was also observed (postural frame effect) (Isableu et al., 1997b). Disorientation can be also induced by means of a large circular visual display of rotating dots i.e. motion-induced self-tilt effect (Dichgans et al., 1972). A moving room (Lee & Aronson, 1974), rotating discs (Wade, 1990) or horizontally moving dots (Kitamura and Matsunaga, 1990) are popular methods to evoke visually-induced postural sway and to investigate the effect of vision on postural control.

After linear or rotational displacements of the visual scene, SVV can be changed in 1 - 2 s (Dichgans et al., 1972) and electromyographic activity of leg muscles in 0.5 - 2 s (Lestienne et al., 1977). Compared with a static visual input, dynamic input has a greater influence on balance and governs the stabilisation of the whole body (Amblard et al., 1985). Visually dependent individuals were reported to show greater postural effects when watching a titled frame or a moving scene (Isableu et al., 2010, Isableu et al., 1998, Isableu et al., 1997a, Kitamura and Matsunaga, 1990). Such people also exhibited different body segmental stabilisation strategies (*en bloc* strategy) (Isableu et al., 2003). More difficult balancing tasks may require higher reliance on visual cues (Lee and Lishman, 1975, Isableu et al., 2010).

Different presentations of visual stimulation may affect balance. Postural sway is increased by viewing visual scenes that rotate or create a tunnel effect (Lestienne et al., 1976, van Asten et al., 1988), with the amplitude of sway dependent upon velocity and frequency of visual stimulus (Borger et al., 1999, Wang et al., 2008). Exposure to a linear or rotational movement of the visual field can induce postural sway in the direction of visual motion (Dichgans et al., 1972, Lestienne et al., 1976). Although very small room oscillations are used, subjects begin to sway with the oscillations (Lee and Lishman, 1975).

1.5.4 Divided attention

Normally, balance is automatic without requirement for conscious attention unless the situation is especially challenging. These requirements depend on the postural task, the age of the individual, and on their balance ability (Woollacott and Shumway-Cook, 2002). The influence of cognition on postural control has been investigated using dual-task paradigms which require performance of a secondary task (e.g. visual, memory, verbal or fine motor) whilst engaged in a 'primary' postural task (Teasdale et al., 1993, Yardley et al., 1999, Maylor et al., 2001, Ebersbach et al., 1995).

Kerr et al.'s study (1985) was the first to investigate the attentional demands on standing balance by measuring the number of errors in a visual-spatial memory task during standing and suggested postural control in younger adults may require more cognitive (attentional) resources than previously thought. Lajoie et al. (1993) reported that the amount of attention was increased (slower auditory reaction-time) when the challenge of maintaining balance was increased i.e. progressing from sitting, to standing with wide base of support, standing with feet together and then to walking in younger people. Furthermore, the attentional demand was greater in the single *vs.* double support phase of the gait cycle. Greater attentional demand (slower auditory reaction time) was also found in environments with reduced sensory inputs i.e. no vision or impaired proprioception or combination of both (Lajoie et al., 1996). The greater the attentional load i.e. the more complex secondary tasks, had the greater influence on postural control e.g. listening to a conversation had greater postural sway than listening to the white noise (Maki and McIlroy, 1996).

It appears that older people require more attention than younger people even in common daily activities, such as sitting and standing (Lajoie et al., 1996). "Stops walking while talking" is a clinical sign in older people, especially older fallers (Lundin-Olsson et al., 1997), which demonstrates that additional attention is needed. In more complicated sensory situations (visual and/or proprioceptive disturbances) the postural task becomes more difficult for older people and thus needs more attentional capacity (Shumway-Cook and Woollacott, 2000). Older adults with balance problems require more attention to balance than healthy older people without a history of falling, even under relatively simple conditions such as two legged stance with eyes open on stable surface (Shumway-Cook and Woollacott, 2000). It was suggested that balanceimpaired older adults are unable to effectively allocate attention to balance when performing two tasks simultaneously, and therefore have a higher risk of falling than healthy older people under dual task conditions.

1.6 Summary

Effective spatial orientation and postural control requires the integration of proprioceptive, vestibular and visual inputs. People who have exaggerated reliance upon visual input for orientation and balance i.e. are visually dependent, may experience difficulty in resolving situations where visual information is complex or inaccurate, including crowded, noisy or busy environments. Increased visual dependence has been widely reported in older adults, and might be due to proprioceptive or/and vestibular impairments or sensory integration deficits but the underlying mechanisms of increased visual dependence with age remain unknown. Impairments in any one of the systems could affect orientation and postural control and thus sensory disturbances e.g. visual stimulation, proprioceptive perturbation and cognitive distraction can be expected to impact upon the degree of visual dependence.

38

Therefore, this thesis describes a number of studies on visual dependence in two age groups of healthy adults. These initially address methodological issues relevant to assessment of visual dependence in older and younger subjects (Chapters 2 and three). Subsequent chapters investigate the effects of sensory manipulation (vibratory and auditory) on visual dependence and also postural control. Healthy adults were studied in order to investigate the effects of ageing *per* se, rather than the effects of pathology.

The first study (Chapter 2) investigated the effect of pixellation and/or visual field shape upon static and dynamic SVV values in young and older healthy subjects as visual dependence is commonly assessed by the RDT but in varying configurations. However it is not known whether pixellation and/or visual field shape influences SVV values

The second study (Chapter 3) assessed visual dependence with different rest intervals between tests in younger and older subjects as there is evidence of adaptation to repetitive visual stimulation on balance, but whether this is the case with subjective visual vertical is unknown.

The third and fourth studies investigated visual dependence (Chapter 4) and postural control (Chapter 5) before and for 30' after postural disturbance provided by WBV in younger and older healthy subjects. It has been observed that older people find balance control more difficult after being in a moving environment such as in a bus. Whole body vibration (WBV) provides a potential model of low amplitude motion (albeit repetitive). Furthermore, it is commonly used in falls risk rehabilitation in order to improve muscle power and thereby balance, but little is known regarding its effect upon sensory integration.

The final experimental study (Chapter 6) provided auditory distraction by playing a background of traffic noise with intermittent sudden sounds i.e. car horns, sirens and shouting, to examine the effect of divided attention on visual dependence and balance including static and dynamic balance in healthy younger and older subjects. Divided attention may also possibly disturb balance control and make visual input more important (increased visual dependence) which might present problems in complex visual (and sound) environments such as metropolitan areas and transport hubs, both of which high falls risk areas.

CHAPTER TWO EFFECT OF PIXELLATION AND SHAPE OF VISUAL FIELD ON VISUAL DEPENDENCE IN HEALTHY YOUNGER AND OLDER SUBJECTS

2.1 Introduction

Testing for visual dependence is commonly performed via a perceptual test conducted in darkness whereby subjects align a tilted rod to their perceived vertical (subjective visual vertical; SVV). In the Rod and Frame Test (RFT) (Oltman, 1968, Witkin et al., 1972) a rod is presented in a static tilted frame and in the Rod and Disc Test (RDT) (Dichgans et al., 1972, Isableu et al., 1997) the rod is centred on a background covered with irregular dots which may remain static or rotate. In healthy subjects, the difference between SVV (rod) and gravitational vertical (0⁰) without any visual disturbance is ~1° (Guerraz et al., 2001, Pavlou et al., 2011) and the errors become larger with a moving visual background (Lord and Webster, 1990, Guerraz et al., 2001). The RDT is considered more challenging to spatial orientation and postural balance (Amblard et al., 1985) and has been suggested to be more sensitive in identifying visual dependence (Lord and Webster, 1990).

Different screen shapes have been used to display the RDT image i.e. rectangular (Bagust, 2005), circular (Kobayashi et al., 2002, Goto et al., 2003, Lopez et al., 2007) and hemispherical (Kobayashi et al., 2002, Goto et al., 2003), although the effect of display shape on visual dependence is unknown. The presence of vertical or horizontal features within the visual field provide spatial information that may be used to judge orientation (Isableu et al., 2011, Takasaki

et al., 2012) and affect the accuracy of tests of visual dependence. Therefore some RDTs were performed with subjects wearing a pair of video glasses or looking at the screen through an optic tunnel to remove peripheral cues of verticality from their visual field (Isableu et al., 2008, Isableu et al., 2011, Takasaki et al., 2012). Testing can be conducted in a totally darkened room in order to exclude all the vertical and horizontal cues for the participants (Bagust, 2005, Bonan et al., 2006, Lopez et al., 2008). Many factors i.e. the frame of TV monitor to the buildings in the street, could become a visual reference of verticality for the orientation and maintenance of upright body relative to its surroundings (Lord, 2006). A tilted or moving visual frame can induce an illusion of self-tilt and affect the estimation of the subjective visual vertical (Howard and Childerson, 1994).

Originally a motorised circular board was used to generate the RDT, however more recently computerised simulation of the task is commonly used, necessitating the shielding of light emitted by the monitors used to generate the image (Bonan et al., 2006, Lopez et al., 2008, Pavlou et al., 2011). Digitisation brings the potential for providing orientation cues, particularly with lower resolution images (Takasaki et al., 2012). Indeed some subjects in a recent computerised RDT study in our laboratory spontaneously reported using pixellation to aid task performance. However, only one study from Docherty and Bagust (2010) raised the issue of pixellation and revealed that presentation of dots (two dots as two ends of a rod), rather than an entire rod for RFT, exposed greater errors in judging visual horizontal. It is a possibility that the pixellation would provide similar orientation cues for SVV in the RDT.

42

Therefore, either pixellation or vertical and horizontal features could become a visual frame of reference for spatial orientation and affect the estimation of visual dependence. The aims of this study were twofold. Study 1 compared dynamic SVV measured by a computerised RDT using pixellated (round and rectangular) and non-pixellated (round) images in young healthy adults. The results informed the protocol of Study 2, which examined the effect of pixellation and visual field on dynamic SVV in healthy young and older adults.

2.2 Methods

2.2.1 Subjects

Study 1

Eleven young subjects (aged 30 ± 5 (mean \pm sem), range 23 - 39 yrs, 2 male) participated in this study.

Study 2

Ten younger $(30 \pm 5 (22 - 39) \text{ yrs}, 2 \text{ male})$ and 10 older subjects $(75 \pm 7 (63-78) \text{ yrs}, 3 \text{ male})$ were included. Four of younger subjects had participated in Study 1.

Healthy younger and older subjects were recruited from students and staff of the university. Exclusion criteria were a history of neurological disease including epilepsy, migraine or fainting, falls history, vertigo, head injury, known peripheral sensory loss or uncorrected visual. All subjects provided informed consent and local ethics committee approval was obtained (Appendix 1).

2.2.2 Protocol

Subjects sat upright on a padded armless chair with their eyes 80 cm from the screen whilst their chin was supported to minimise head movement (Fig. 2.1). Knees were partially flexed and the feet dorsiflexed so that only the heels were in contact with the floor in order to diminish possible proprioceptive cues from the plantar surface (Isableu et al., 2008). A custom built computerised RDT test provided the dynamic visual disturbance and SVV assessment in the three

setups which were presented in a randomised order. The image and subject were surrounded by blackout material ensuring complete darkness to minimise any external vertical and horizontal visual reference cues (Bonan et al., 2006, Lopez et al., 2008, Pavlou et al., 2011).



Fig. 2.1 Schematic experimental setup of the RDT with back projected image

For rectangular (TV_{rec}) and round (TV_{round}) setups the RDT was displayed on a LCD TV monitor (Model RZ-42PX11, LG, Korea; 92 by 53 cm; resolution 852 x 480 pixels with a refresh rate of 60 Hz; viewing angle of 40^o in the vertical plane and 60^o in the horizontal). In the TV_{rec} setup the entire screen was visible (Fig. 2.2a), whereas in TV_{round} the peripheral visual field was partially obscured by blackout material with a central round cut out (53 cm diameter) through which the RDT was viewed (Fig. 2.2b). Participants viewed the screen having placed their face (without contact) into the narrow end (8.5 cm diameter) of a conical

viewing tunnel (larger end 11cm; length 45cm) composed of non-reflective black card. In PROJ the image was back projected (Model PJL7211, ViewSonic, USA) onto a 117x 84 cm screen (roller blind) enclosed within a black-out tent preventing light emission. The RDT image was made circular in the same manner as for TV_{round} (53 cm diameter, viewing angle of 40°).



Fig. 2.2 The image seen by the subjects for a) TV_{rec} and b) TV_{round} and PROJ setups. In the darkened room, everything seen by the subjects was black except for the rod and discs

The centre of the rod (18 x 0.5 cm) was aligned to each subjects' eye level via adjustment of the projector and/or chair height. Subjects closed their eyes whilst the rod was deviated either 20° clockwise (CW) or counter-clockwise (CCW) from the earth vertical in randomised order. They were then instructed to open their eyes and align the rod to their perceived vertical in their own time (static test), using the wheel of a wireless computer mouse and confirm completion verbally before re-closing their eyes. Thus, subjects over a period of less than 1 minute were exposed and responded to four randomised presentations of the deviated rod ($+20^\circ$ or -20° to the earth vertical). Each

subject re-aligned rod to their perceived vertical and the angle between that and true earth vertical was recorded.

This process was then repeated (8 trials) with the computerised disc rotating at 30°.s⁻¹ in the CW (4 trials) and CCW (4 trials) directions (dynamic test) in a randomised order. All subjects had one practice trial with both static and rotating disc in CW direction with the room illuminated before recording. At the end of testing, subjects were asked whether they were aware of/used pixellation for orientation to vertical.

2.2.3 Statistical Analysis

SPSS (v17.0) was used for all statistical analysis. All data are presented as mean ± standard deviation (SD). Significance was assumed at p<0.05.

The RDT software automatically recorded angular deviations from true gravitational vertical (0°) measured in degrees during both the static and dynamic testing. Deviations of the top of the rod to the subject's right or left were indicated by positive or negative values respectively e.g. values of +10 and -10 would have a mean of 10.

The mean of the 4 signed angles were then computed as the SVV for each subject. Dynamic SVV values were calculated as the absolute deviations of the top of the rod (i.e. unsigned) minus the value calculated for SVV as no significant SVV differences were found between CW and CCW disk rotation

Study 1

Static SVV values were normally distributed and a one-way ANOVA was used to analyse the effect of setup with post-hoc Bonferroni corrected paired T-tests performed when significance was indicated. As dynamic SVV values were not normally distributed, Friedman's ANOVA with post-hoc Wilcoxon signed-rank test was used for between setup analysis.

Study 2

Static SVV data was normally distributed but dynamic SVV was not and so was ordered according to rank to permit use of a two-way ANOVA to determine the effect of setup (TV_{rec} & PROJ) and age. Post-hoc independent and paired T-tests used to examine between groups and setup as appropriate. The Wilcoxon rank test was used to compare subjects' static and dynamic SVV ranking between TV_{rec} and PROJ.

To examine whether there was similar variance between the two age groups in a particular condition, the F-Test Two-Sample for Variance was performed. Spearman's rank correlation test examined the relationship between age and static or dynamic SVV values in both TV_{rec} and PROJ for all subjects and each age group independently.

2.3 Results

Study 1

Static SVV values were similar [F(2,27) = 0.51; p = 0.60] for all setups (TV_{rec} $0.13^{\circ} \pm 0.43$, TV_{round} -0.16° ± 0.72 and PROJ -0.35° ± 0.95), and deviated little from true gravitational vertical. Dynamic SVV values differed between setups [X²(2) = 16.91; p = 0.001], being significantly greater in PROJ vs. TV_{rec} (p = 0.003) and TV_{round} (p = 0.003) (Fig. 2.3). No significant differences between TV_{rec} and TV_{round} were observed.



Fig. 2.3 (Mean ± SD) Dynamic SVV values assessed with TV_{rec} , TV_{round} and PROJ in healthy young subjects. The PROJ setup gave significantly higher values than both TV_{rec} and TV_{round} . ** denotes a statistically significant difference between setups at p<0.05

Study 2

Static SVV values were close to gravitational vertical for both TV_{rec} and PROJ in both younger (TV_{rec} : 0.28° ± 0.42; PROJ: -0.16° ± 1.81) and older subjects (TV_{rec} : -0.22° ± 1.19; PROJ: 0.38° ± 2.93) with no significant effect of age or setup. Variance was also similar in both age groups in TV (p=0.06) and PROJ (p=0.25).

Dynamic SVV was affected by setup [F(1,9) = 19.37; p = 0.002] with significantly greater error noted for PROJ vs. TV_{rec} in both younger (p = 0.01) and older (p = 0.015) subjects (Fig. 2.4). No significant age effect was noted although older people had a greater variance for TV (p<0.001) but not PROJ (p=0.07).

There was no significant difference in the ranking of individual subject's static or dynamic SVV values between TV_{rec} and PROJ.



Fig. 2.4 (Mean ± SD) Dynamic SVV values assessed with TV_{rec} , and PROJ in healthy younger and older subjects. These were significant greater for the PROJ setup compared with TV_{rec} in both young and older subjects. * denotes a statistically significant difference between setups at p<0.05.

A moderate positive correlation was identified only between age and dynamic values in both TV_{rec} (Rho=0.484, p=0.030, Fig. 2.5a) and PROJ (Rho=0.524, p=0.018, Fig. 2.5b) across both groups but not within either of the two age groups. Static SVV did not correlate with age.

In both studies \sim 50% of subjects in each of the two age groups reported a conscious awareness and use of pixellation cues to judge verticality. However this was not formally documented and so the effect of this on SVV values remains unclear.



Fig. 2.5 Correlation between age (closed symbol: younger subjects; open symbol: older subjects) and dynamic SVV in a) TV_{rec} (Rho=0.484, p=0.030) and b) PROJ (Rho=0.524, p=0.018). There was a significant correlation between the two with a) TV_{rec} and b) PROJ.

2.4 Discussion

Study 1 compared dynamic SVV tilt measured by a computerised RDT using pixellated (round and rectangular) and non-pixellated (round) images in young healthy adults. The main finding was that when the RDT was presented with the non-pixellated projected image, dynamic SVV values were significantly greater than with the TV – irrespective of visual field shape, which had no independent effect.

Those results informed the protocol of Study 2 which examined the effect of pixellation and visual field on dynamic SVV tilt in healthy young and older adults. We found that healthy younger and older people both had higher dynamic SVV values when the round RDT was projected compared to when presented on a TV, and there was no difference in the rank order of subjects with respect to SVV values suggesting that all the subjects consistently increased errors in estimation of SVV from testing on TV to on PROJ. A trend towards increased SVV values was noted with increasing age but this was non-significant. Static SVV remained close to true gravitational vertical (0°) with no differences between setup or age group.

In both studies static SVV was close to gravitational vertical (<1°) and similar for TV_{rec} and PROJ and similar in both age groups consistent with previous work in normal subjects aged 21 - 63 (Kobayashi et al., 2002) and 26 - 76 yrs (Bronstein et al., 1996).

Static SVV values were similar to those noted in previous studies (Dichgans et al., 1972, Guerraz et al., 2001, Pavlou et al., 2011) and were unaffected by setup. In contrast, dynamic SVV values were significantly greater when the RDT was back-projected (PROJ) as a non-pixellated image, compared to when presented on either a circular or rectangular TV monitor. The failure to observe an effect of shape suggests that dynamic SVV data with rectangular (Bagust, 2005) and circular (Lopez et al., 2007) screen presentations may be comparable across studies. This is despite the fact the circular screen was smaller (4876 vs. 2206 cm²), as it has been suggested that a smaller image could decrease SVV values (Held et al., 1975) and also postural sway (Streepey et al., 2007, Dichgans et al., 1972).

Visual vertigo symptoms, which have been associated with increased visual dependency (Guerraz et al., 2001), also show a similar pattern whereby symptom improvement is similar regardless of the field size of the visual motion stimuli used for treatment (Pavlou et al., 2012). Presumably the screen size could be reduced to the point where the visual stimuli become ineffective e.g. a mobile phone, but that above that critical value the screen size is not important.

Increasing use of computerised RDT stimulation introduces the issue that light emission from the monitor and its reflection onto the non-screen structure of the monitor could act as a frame of reference, thereby providing spatial orientation cues (Bonan et al., 2006, Lopez et al., 2008, Pavlou et al., 2011). In the PROJ setup great care was taken to prevent light emission and black, nonreflective curtains surrounded the subject, therefore presumably the greater dynamic SVV in PROJ relates to the absence of perceptible pixellation. However, rod pixellation even with high-fidelity screens could give cues of verticality and error (Takasaki et al., 2012) used subconsciously or consciously. Spontaneous reporting of pixellation use for judging verticality in our previous studies was supported in this study by asking the subjects about pixel use at the end of the tests and half reported that they had done so.

Since RDT projection caused a significant increase in dynamic SVV values in Study 1, the aim of Study 2 was to investigate the visual effect of display on SVV values for young and older subjects by comparing the TV_{round} and PROJ (round) setup. As in Study 1, SVV values were small (<1°) and similar for both setups and age groups, consistent with previous work in healthy normal subjects aged ~20-75 (Kobayashi et al., 2002, Bronstein et al., 1996). When subjects were ranked by SVV values the order with TV_{rec} and PROJ was similar. Dynamic SVV values tended to be higher i.e. worse, for older subjects with both setups, but this was not significant, in contrast to previous work (Bronstein et al., 1996, Kobayashi et al., 2002), despite the fact our subjects tended to be older (mean 75 years compared with 50 for Bronstein et al., 1996 and up to 60 for Kobayashi et al., 2002). When the two age groups were combined there was a correlation between SVV and age, but not within each group, although the range was small for both.

Several studies have reported higher visual dependence in older adults for both perceived orientation and postural control (Wade et al., 1995, Bronstein et al.,

1996, Sundermier et al., 1996, Borger et al., 1999, Kobayashi et al., 2002). The favoured explanation is age- or disease- related peripheral sensory impairments in the proprioceptive and/or vestibular systems (Guerraz et al., 2001, Slaboda et al., 2009). If these inputs are inaccurate or unreliable, there may be an over dependence on vision and patients with vestibular dysfunction (Hafstrom et al., 2004) and stroke (Slaboda et al., 2009) have been reported to have increased visual dependence. However, the older subjects in this study did not show significantly increased visual dependence. This is perhaps because subjects with known peripheral sensory loss were excluded from this study and also the sample size was small. Another possibility could be that of individual variation since the older subjects had significantly greater variance with the TV screen for untransformed data only. However this was not the case for transformed data from the TV screen or PROJ and the latter was used in all subsequent studies. If proprioception and vestibular systems and processing are normal, no compensatory increase in the reliance on visual input is necessary.

An age-related decline in the function of sensory (vision, vestibular, proprioception) (Skinner et al., 1984, Baloh et al., 2001, Lord, 2006), motor (muscle strength, range of motion) (Skelton et al., 1994) and neuromuscular (balance strategy, coordination) (Lord and Ward, 1994) systems is widely accepted. It is associated with a decrement in balance. However, a number of studies report that balance degeneration with age is not necessarily linear, suggesting impairments are more important than chronological age (Kinsella-Shaw et al., 2006, Jeka et al., 2006, Lazarus and Harridge, 2010). This could

56

explain no ageing effect on visual dependence in this study. In fact some older subjects had similar or even lower dynamic SVV values than younger ones and similar results have also been observed in other studies (Borger et al., 1999, Sundermier et al., 1996, Teasdale et al., 1991).

Additionally, our older subjects were all healthy with high function in physical and cognitive terms; most were currently in professional occupations or had recently retired from such and had relatively high socio-economic status. They were not selected on the basis of physical activity levels, but all were physically active although not engaged in competitive sport. As a result they may not have been representative of their age group in which an increased visual dependence with age has been reported (Bronstein et al., 1996, Kobayashi et al., 2002) but instead represent a group with particularly successful functional ageing (Rowe and Kahn, 1987). As such the small elevation in their dynamic SVV values might reflect 'true' age-related changes but could also result from central sensory integration (Allison et al., 2006) or sub-clinical (or undiagnosed) peripheral sensory organ impairment (Bronstein et al., 1996, Peterka, 2002, Kobayashi et al., 2002) or it could simply be that some individuals rely more on vision and others on vestibulo-proprioceptive cues (Isableu et al., 1997). Comprehensive testing of individuals is required to exclude such asymptomatic factors. Whether successfully aged people also have lower optic flow induced sway is unknown (Wade et al., 1995, Sundermier et al., 1996, Borger et al., 1999). However, a couple of studies have found larger postural responses to dynamic visual stimulation in older people despite the employment of thorough screening tests for proprioception and vestibular functions and the exclusion of subjects with such sensory impairments (Borger et al., 1999, Simoneau et al., 1999). Their findings argue against proprioception or vestibular loss as the sole or primary causative factor of visual dependence in healthy older adults.

Dynamic SVV values showed a moderate positive correlation with age for both TV_{rec} and PROJ across both groups, but the relationships had shallow slopes. Interestingly, visual dependence (as indicated by optic flow induced sway) might not increase linearly with age beyond 65-69 yrs (Lord and Ward, 1994, Kobayashi et al., 2002), and most of our older subjects were in this age range. Furthermore, the two groups were discontinuous in age with a gap of over 20 years rendering much of the relationship between the groups difficult to interpret. Future studies should recruit subjects over wider age ranges to investigate the effect of age on visual dependence throughout the life course, particularly the oldest old.

Factors that might affect the utilisation of pixellation may include knowledge of the TV grid structure and thereby the resultant spatial cues or visual acuity limiting the resolving power. All these may differ with age. For instance, a lack of pixel structure knowledge and straight line pixel alignment might be expected in individuals who have low technical literacy which is more likely in older people but can be excluded from our study as all were habitual computer users. Presentation of dots, rather than an entire rod for RFT, exposed greater errors in judging visual horizontal (Docherty and Bagust, 2010) and thus if applied to the RDT it may become more sensitive to change, including that related to ageing (Bronstein et al., 1996, Kobayashi et al., 2002). It would also

58

help to understand whether pixellation or other factors explain the increased error in our study. Visual tests are influenced by visual acuity and contrast sensitivity, both of which tend to fall with age (Lord, 2006) and are associated with elevated falls risk (Lord and Webster, 1990). All our participants wore glasses or contact lenses if they wished. Some used bi- or vari- focal glasses and were asked if the projected images were clear and in focus or not. All stated that this was the case.

In conclusion, the effect of pixellation appears stronger than peripheral field characteristics in younger and older healthy individuals. As such non-pixellated (projected) presentation of the RDT appears to be advantageous when investigating visual dependence and may offer a more robust reproduction of the traditional mechanically produced RDT. However, the sensitivity of such testing highlights the value of each laboratory obtaining their own dynamic SVV normative values for validity and reliability. Such RDT testing in high functioning, normal vision individuals shows little effect of age, which suggests that specific sensory decrements or changes in central integration are likely drivers for the increments in visual dependence seen with age, rather than ageing *per se.* It is possible that previous studies have overestimated the effect of ageing in visual dependence as our healthy and highly functioning older people had relatively low visual dependence.

CHAPTER THREE EFFECT OF REPETITIVE VISUAL STIMULATION ON VISUAL DEPENDENCE IN HEALTHY YOUNGER AND OLDER SUBJECTS

3.1 Introduction

Vision plays an important role in spatial orientation in terms of the position and movements of body segments in relation to each other and to the environment (Lopez et al., 2006). Accurate perception of visual inputs can provide a reference frame in the maintenance of the upright position (Lord, 2006). However, moving visual fields can induce a powerful sense of self- motion, tilt observers' visual verticality toward the direction of a rotating display and provoke imbalance, spatial disorientation, vertigo and dizziness (Dichgans et al., 1972, Lee and Lishman, 1975).

Visually-induced disorientation and associated postural sway can be resolved by the presence of accurate proprioceptive and/or vestibular feedback (Redfern et al., 2001). People with elevated visual dependence are more likely to be disorientated or destabilised by rich or repetitive visual surroundings (Agarwal et al., 2012). Normally there are two adaptive processes in response to the same repetitive stimulation (Gilden et al., 1995). Habituation refers to a decrease in responses by repeated presentation of a stimulus (Dobie et al., 1990). The opposite is sensitisation, which refers to an increase in the elicited behaviour from repeated presentation of a stimulus (Gilden et al., 1995). The rate of habituation can be increased by greater repetition of the same visual stimuli or by providing shorter inter-stimulus intervals with a weaker stimulus (Codispoti et al., 2007). Sensitisation could result from a strengthening of synaptic transmission decreasing of the activation threshold (Collingridge et al., 2004) or may occur if insufficient recovery of the response to the eliciting stimulus is allowed before another stimulus is presented (Dobie et al., 1990).

Optokinetic stimulation training has been used in in both normal (Pavlou et al., 2011) and vestibular subjects (Vitte et al., 1994, Pavlou et al., 2012, 2013) to decrease dizziness, increase visual motion tolerance, and improve postural stability and gait. The training programmes are based on the principle of habituation to repeated exposure inducing adaptive changes, thereby decreasing the degree of visual dependence. The training duration has varied from 1 hour a day for 5 days (Pavlou et al., 2011) to 45 min weekly for 4 or 8 weeks (Pavlou et al., 2012, 2013). Generally the sessions lasted 2 min with 1 min break, with the stimulation stopped if a patient felt unable to continue due to dizziness or nausea and restarted if symptoms allowed (Vitte et al., 1994, Pavlou et al., 2012, 2013).

A few studies have investigated the effect of repeated exposure to visual stimuli within or between trials in a single session. After an initial exposure to visual stimulation older people had a greater increase in postural sway compared with younger people (Borger et al., 1999). A gradual reduction in postural sway was observed during continuous 30 - 60 s visual perturbation in healthy adults, irrespective of age (Loughlin et al., 1996, Loughlin and Redfern, 2001). However, within-trial habituation was slow and continuous in older group whilst it was more rapid in younger individuals and plateaued in <45 s (O'Connor et al., 2008).

A progressive attenuation of postural sway in response to visual stimulation over 5 trials was noted in both healthy younger and older adults, as well as older fallers, whether exposure was short (3.5 s with 20 – 45 s rest intervals, Sundermier et al., 1996) between trials or more prolonged (3 min with 2 min rest intervals, Jeka et al., 2006). Visual motion mediated postural effects significantly decreased and in some cases disappeared completely after 9 x 12 s exposures with 8 – 16 s rest intervals (Bronstein, 1986). Older adults and fallers in particular, showed slower habituation (Jeka et al., 2006).

Older adults, especially those with a history of falls, have greater difficulty adapting to different sensory environments including repeated stance perturbations or when potentially conflicting information is arriving from different sensory systems (Camicioli et al., 1997; Lin et al., 2005; Wrisley et al., 2007). This might be due to slower central processing of sensory information (Teasdale et al., 1991) and slower adaptive multi-sensory reweighting (Peterka and Loughlin, 2004). Older adults may be able to reweight sensory information but require more repetitions to achieve maximal habituation than younger adults (Woollacott et al., 1986, Woollacott et al., 1988). However, fall-prone older adults often lose their balance on the first exposure to conditions where both visual and proprioceptive inputs are altered, and may fail to adapt on subsequent exposures (Horak et al., 1989, Masdeu et al., 1989). Fall-prone older adults who are more visually dependent fail to use alternative proprioceptive cues in environments where visual inputs are unstable and may have less adaptive capability to sensory-changing situations (Brady et al., 2013).

The mechanisms underlying habituation to repetitive visual stimulation have been investigated (Fischer et al., 2000, Noguchi et al., 2004) with neural adaption in the visual ventral stream identified by magnetoencephalograph (MEG). A significantly reduced amplitude and shorter peak latency, but not duration of electrical currents in the brain, occurred after repetitive stimulation (Noguchi et al., 2004). Regional cerebral blood flow (rCBF) measured by Positron Emission Tomography revealed a decrease in the medial temporal cortex and the secondary occipital cortex indicating reduced neural input from visual areas with repeated exposures to visual stimulus (Fischer et al., 2000). Habituation can be observed in human behaviour (postural control), subjective feeling (symptoms), and cellular mechanisms (cerebral cortex).

Rather than habituation (attenuated response), visually induced sensitisation (amplified response) to motion on repeated stimulation has been noted (Dobie et al., 1990). Increased ratings of dizziness and velocity of self-motion (vection) across 10 x 30 s trials with undefined rest intervals (apparently \sim 10 s) were observed in healthy young subjects with normal sensitivity to visual stimulation when sitting inside a visually simulated rotating drum lined with alternating black and white vertical stripes (Dobie et al., 1990). Increased dizziness and disorientation after repetitive visual stimulation may affect visual orientation and tilt the subjective visual vertical (Dichgans et al., 1972, Lee and Lishman,

1975) however, the visual dependence was not measured and needs to be investigated.

Whilst there is clear evidence of habituation to visual stimulation in terms of postural control in both younger and older healthy adults (Borger et al., 1999; Loughlin et al., 1996; Sundermier et al., 1996; Loughlin and Redfern, 2001; Jeka et al., 2006; O'Connor et al., 2008), is unclear whether the same applies to perceived orientation i.e. subjective visual vertical. Postural habituation might result in motor learning from more efficient postural strategies to maintain balance or through reweighting of sensory information (Fransson et al., 2004). The Rod and Disk Test (RDT) (Dichgans et al., 1972), which estimates visual dependence at the perceptual level, may help to determine whether any changes in response to dynamic rotation visual stimulation are due to perceptual or postural mechanism, or a combination of both.

When examining the effect and duration of an intervention it is common practice to test at fixed time points following exposure but the time taken to complete the RDT varies considerably e.g. 1.5 - 5 min in our studies. Therefore, testing at fixed time points after an intervention means that the recovery period between repetitions varies, with those performing the test slowly having shorter recovery periods. The RDT represents a visual disturbance which in itself may affect visual dependence and the results may be due to summation of stimulation without sufficient recovery periods (Dobie et al., 1990). A 15 min rest interval between tests was suggested by Pavlou et al., (2011), however 2 - 2

64

3 min rests period have been used in previous studies (Sundermier et al., 1996, Jeka et al., 2006) and may be insufficient for complete recovery.

For an outcome measure to be useful in determining clinical progression or therapeutic effectiveness good repeatability on a particular day and also testretest reliability is essential (Rankin and Stokes, 1998). Previous studies have used the RDT to measure the level of visual dependence before and after vestibular surgery (Lopez et al., 2007) as well as before and after treatment with optokinetic stimulation (Pavlou et al., 2011). However, its test-retest reliability appears not to have been assessed.

Therefore the purposes of this study were to investigate the effect of repeated exposures to optokinetic stimulation with the RDT on visual dependence in healthy younger and older adults. The test was performed at fixed 10 min intervals after the RDT, irrespective of the time taken for completion, and also with a 10 min rest interval between repeated tests, irrespective of the time taken for testing, on two days (Study 1). The first result of each day was used to determine the test-retest reliability of the RDT (Study 2).

3.2 Methods

3.2.1 Subjects

Study 1

Ten healthy young (aged 29 ±2 (mean ± sem), range 23 – 39 yrs, 1 male) and 10 healthy older (65 ± 2 (60 - 76) yrs, 5 male) subjects who were students or staff at King's College London gave written informed consent to participate in the study, which was approved by the local ethics committee (Appendix 1). Inclusion criteria were aged between 18 and 40 yrs for younger subjects and greater than 60 yrs for older subjects. Exclusion criteria were known neurological disorders, a history of peripheral or central vestibular disorders, clinically detectable peripheral proprioception loss, uncorrected visual impairments and a history of epilepsy, migraine, fainting or falling. One younger and two older subjects had participated in the previous RDT studies using the projected image.

Study 2

Twenty-three healthy subjects (45 ± 17 (23-76) yrs, 7 male) were recruited with the same exclusion criteria as in Study 1, in which 20 of them had also participated. An additional 3 subjects were also recruited (aged 27, 31 and 34 years).

3.2.2 Protocol

Study 1

Visual dependence was assessed by the RDT with back projection (Chapter 2.2.2, page 44). Subjects were invited to the laboratory on two occasions at least one day apart (79 \pm 18 days, range 2 - 170 days). On each occasion the subjects performed 5 RDTs with different recovery periods between them. They were tested once with the 4 repeat tests with a 10 min rest intervals between tests after the initial RDT (T_{fixed}), and also at 10 min intervals irrespective of the time taken for completion (T_{variable}). Testing order was counter-balanced between subjects. The time taken to complete the RDT was measured by a stop watch.

Study 2

All subjects came to the laboratory on two occasions at least one day apart (79 ± 18 days, range 2 - 170 days).

3.2.3 Statistical analysis

Study 1

Group data are presented as mean ± sem. The Kolmogorov-Smirnov test was used to determine distribution. As no significant differences were noted in subjective visual vertical (SVV) between CW and CCW directions (Wilcoxon signed-rank test), they were averaged to obtain a mean dynamic SVV as in Chapter 2. Static SVV was normally distributed and dynamic SVV was ordered according to rank (as not normally distributed) to permit use of a two-way ANOVA to determine the effect of groups, repetitions, and their interaction in the two protocols respectively. To examine whether there was similar variance between the two age groups in a particular condition, the F-Test Two-Sample for Variance was performed.

Since no effect of group was found in either protocol, all data was pooled. A subsequent two-way ANOVA was used to examine the effect of protocol, repetition, and their interaction on static and dynamic SVV. Statistical significance was assumed at $p \le 0.05$ (IBM SPSS v19.0).

Study 2

Static and dynamic SVV were assessed by intraclass correlation coefficients (ICCs) (Shrout and Fleiss, 1979) and Bland and Altman analyses (Bland and Altman, 1986). ICCs were determined using SPSS (IBM v19.0) with one-way random model average measurements (Rankin and Stokes, 1998). An ICC value of 1 indicates perfect reliability with no measurement error while 0 indicates no reliability (Streiner and Norman, 2008). It was assumed that ICCs <0.4 are poor; 0.4 - 0.75 moderate; 0.75 - 0.9 good and >0.9 excellent (Shrout and Fleiss, 1979). Pearson's r correlation test examined the relationship between the first and second tests on static and dynamic SVV values in younger, older groups and pooled data of younger and older subjects respectively. Bland and Altman plots were constructed to examine the difference (bias) between tests against the average of the two tests. The mean difference between the first and second tests with 95 % limits of agreement was calculated. Younger and older groups were initially assessed separately to see the age difference and then all data were pooled and re-treated as a single group.

68

3.3 Results

Study 1

The mean time taken to complete an RDT trial did not differ between age groups (3.0 ± 0.2 min and 3.1 ± 0.2 min in the younger and older groups respectively). Subjects were exposed to an average 3.0 ± 0.1 min of visual stimulation in both protocols. Rest intervals between repeated tests were 7.0 ± 0.1 and 10.0 ± 0.0 min in T_{variable} and T_{fixed} respectively. All static SVV values were close to gravitational vertical in younger ($0.0^{\circ} \pm 0.3 - 0.5^{\circ} \pm 0.3$) and older subjects ($0.0^{\circ} \pm 0.3 - 0.5^{\circ} \pm 0.6$) in 5 RDT tests irrespective of protocols or repetitions. There was no effect of age and repetition for static and dynamic SVV in either protocol (Table 3.1, Figs. 3.1 and 3.2). Variance was similar in both age groups at each of the time points on static (p=0.06 – 0.46) and dynamic SVV (p=0.06 – 0.49).

		T _{variable}				
		0'	10'	20'	30'	40'
Younger	Static SVV (⁰)	-0.3±0.3	-0.2±0.3	-0.1±0.3	-0.5±0.3	-0.2±0.3
	Dynamic SVV (⁰)	2.3±0.5	1.8 ± 0.4	1.7 ± 0.5	1.7 ± 0.3	1.6±0.3
Older	Static SVV (⁰)	0.5±0.4	0.2±0.5	0.2±0.5	0.5±0.6	0.5±0.5
	Dynamic SVV (⁰)	1.5 ± 0.3	1.8±0.3	1.5 ± 0.3	1.6±0.3	1.5 ± 0.4
				T _{fixed}		
		1 st	2 nd	3 rd	4 th	5 th
Younger	Static SVV (⁰)	0.1±0.3	0.0±0.3	-0.1±0.3	0.2±0.2	0.4±0.3
	Dynamic SVV (⁰)	2.1±0.5	2.0±0.5	2.3±0.5	1.7 ± 0.4	1.8 ± 0.4
Older	Static SVV (⁰)	0.0±0.3	0.0±0.3	0.1±0.3	0.2±0.4	0.4±0.3
	Dynamic SVV (⁰)	1.6±0.3	1.3±0.3	1.5 ± 0.2	1.3±0.2	1.4±0.3

Table 3.1 (Mean \pm sem) Static and dynamic SVV values with repetitive testing in $T_{variable}$ and T_{fixed} in younger and older groups. There were no significant differences between repetitions or age groups in either protocol.



Fig. 3.1 (Mean \pm sem) Static SVV with repetitive testing in a) $T_{variable}$ and b) T_{fixed} in younger and older groups. There was no significant effect of repetitions or age.


Fig. 3.2 (Mean \pm sem) Dynamic SVV with repetitive testing in a) $T_{variable}$ and b) T_{fixed} in younger and older groups. There were no significant effect of repetitions or age.

Since data from the two age groups were not significantly different they were pooled. No significant differences between protocols for static and dynamic SVV emerged (Table. 3.2 and Fig. 3.3 and 3.4).

	Tvariable								
-	0'	10'	20'	30'	40'				
Static SVV (⁰)	0.1±0.3	0.0±0.3	0.1±0.3	0.0 ± 0.4	0.1±0.3				
Dynamic SVV (log ⁰)	1.9±0.3	1.8±0.2	1.6±0.3	1.7 ± 0.2	1.5 ± 0.2				
Tfixed									
	1 st	2 nd	3 rd	4 th	5^{th}				
Static SVV (⁰)	0.0±0.2	0.0±0.2	-0.1±0.2	0.2±0.2	0.3±0.2				
Dynamic SVV (log ⁰)	1.9±0.3	1.9 ± 0.4	2.1±0.3	1.8±0.3	1.9 ± 0.4				

Table 3.2 (Mean ± sem) Static and dynamic SVV values with repetitive testing in both protocols in all subjects.



Fig. 3.3 (Mean \pm sem) Static SVV with repetitive testing in a) $T_{variable}$ and B) T_{fixed} in all subjects. There were no significant differences between protocols and between repetitions.



Fig. 3.4 (Mean \pm sem) Dynamic SVV with repetitive testing in a) $T_{variable}$ and b) T_{fixed} in all subjects. There were no significant differences between protocols for dynamic SVV.

Study 2

Static SVV

ICC was 0.64 (moderate reliability) in older and 0.17 (poor reliability) in younger groups. The mean bias between the two tests was -0.49° (SD 1.10°) with $-2.68^{\circ} - 1.70^{\circ}$ limits of agreement in younger subjects and 0.58° (SD 1.02°) with $-1.45^{\circ} - 2.62^{\circ}$ limits of agreement in the older group (Fig. 3.5). However, there was no significant correlation between the first and second tests in either younger (r=0.11, p=0.73) or older (r=0.57, p=0.09) groups.

Dynamic SVV

ICC was 0.90 and 0.75 in younger and older groups respectively with both showing good reliability. The mean bias between tests was 0.27° (SD 0.83°) with $-1.38^{\circ} - 1.92^{\circ}$ limits of agreement in younger subjects compared with bias of -0.21° (SD 1.08°) with $-2.37^{\circ} - 1.96^{\circ}$ limits of agreement in the older group (Fig. 3.6). A good correlation was identified between the two tests in the younger group (r=0.80, p=0.001) but not in the older one (r=0.59, p=0.07).



Fig. 3.5 Bland-Altman plot of average and difference of static SVV with mean and 95% Confidence Intervals indicating the limits of agreement in younger a) and older b) groups. Bias was -0.49 in younger and 0.58 in older subjects.



Fig. 3.6 Bland-Altman plot of average and difference of dynamic SVV with mean and 95% Confidence Intervals indicating the limits of agreement in younger a) and older b) groups. Bias was 0.27 in younger and -0.21 in older subjects.

SVV for pooled data

Static SVV ICC was 0.42 (moderate reliability) and the mean difference (bias) between tests was -0.02° (SD 1.17°). Limits of agreement $-2.32^{\circ} - 2.27^{\circ}$ (Fig. 3.7a) were acceptable. Dynamic SVV ICC was 0.85 (good reliability) and the mean bias between tests was 0.06° (SD 0.95°) with $-1.81^{\circ} - 1.93^{\circ}$ limits of agreement (Fig. 3.7 b). Bland and Altman plots showed that lower values (<2°) were tightly grouped around the difference line, but there was a trend toward increased scatter around the bias line as mean value increased. There was a good correlation between the two tests for dynamic SVV (r=0.73, p<0.001) but not for static SVV (r=0.25, p=0.24).



Fig. 3.7 Bland-Altman plot of average and difference of static SVV a) and b) dynamic SVV with mean and 95% Confidence Intervals indicating the limits of agreement in all subjects. Bias was -0.02 in static SVV and 0.06 in dynamic SVV.

3.4 Discussion

The aims of these studies were to investigate the effect of repetitive RDT visual stimulation performed with different rest periods between tests on subjective visual verticality in healthy younger and older adults as well as the test-retest reliability of the RDT. The main finding was that there was no effect of repeated testing on either static or dynamic SVV, irrespective of the duration of the rest period and also age. The RDT seems a reliable assessment of visual dependence in healthy subjects as good test-retest reliability of the dynamic SVV and moderate test-retest reliability of static SVV.

We found a lack of habituation to repeated visual stimulation with 7-10 minutes between exposure and previously Pavlou et al., (2011) have recommended >15 minutes. Previous stduies c reported a progressively reduced response i.e. habituation, with shorter recovery intervals in healthy younger and older adults (Jeka et al., 2006) as well as in older fallers (Sundermier et al., 1996). However, those studies used postural sway, and not perception of verticality, as the outcome measure and anticipation of a visual perturbation may lead to postural adjustments (Horak et al., 1989, Woollacott, 1993). Numerous studies have reported that repeated exposure to a postural perturbation allows learning more efficient strategies to maintain balance, both within a session and over time (Fransson et al., 2002, 2003a, b). Even in simple quiet stance with eyes closed, a progressive reduction in sway area and path occurred with repetition (Tarantola et al., 1997) but greater learning effects occurred during more complex tasks (Wrisley et al., 2007). The current study suggests that

80

repetitive visual stimulation may have less influence on the perception of vertical than postural orientation.

Jeka and colleagues (2008) reported that the response to visual stimulation is proportional to its intensity because visual flow is greater and can destabilise upright stance. Therefore, the response i.e. adaptive change to repeated visual stimulation, possibly does not to occur when performing seated tests of visual dependence. Future studies need to compare both SVV and postural sway in the same subjects.

Both age groups in this study had levels of visual dependence that were similar and lower than those reported previously (Lord and Webster, 1990, Borger et al., 1999). Therefore they may rely on vestibulo-proprioceptive cues rather than visual ones i.e. visually independent, and thus would not be significantly influenced by this level of visual stimulation (Isableu et al., 1997). Some subjects in both age groups had mild dizziness or disorientation but these were experienced only during the first trial. This is in contrast to some healthy community-dwelling older subjects in some of other studies in our laboratory who reported substantial disorientation during the RDT and refused to continue, suggesting that our protocol and laboratory set up does not explain the lack of symptoms in the older people studied in this chapter.

The rest periods between exposures to bouts of visual stimulation used here (7 and 10 min for $T_{variable}$ and T_{fixed} respectively) were longer than in some previous studies (Sundermier et al., 1996, Jeka et al., 2006). The absence of any

adaptation of the subjective visual vertical and lack of persistent symptoms suggested in both protocols that the rest interval between repeated tests was sufficient for any effect of previous exposure to have fully dissipated. However, a longer interval might be required for those have higher level of visual dependence (Pavlou et al., 2011) and a 2 – 3 min rest period used in previous studies (Sundermier et al., 1996, Jeka et al., 2006) may be too short, but 7 – 10 minutes of recovery is sufficient in adults who do not have higher than normal levels of visual dependence.

No effect of age was observed in the response to repetitive visual stimuli in this study although older people have been reported previously to have higher levels of perceptual visual dependence (Bronstein et al., 1996; Kobayashi et al., 2002). The reasons for elevated visual dependence in older people are unclear but might be due to an age-related declines in vestibular (Sloane et al., 1989) and/or proprioception (Kaplan et al., 1985) systems. The older subjects in this study were university staff, mentally and physically active, and had no relevant medical history. Variable levels of visual dependence have been found in groups of healthy adults of all ages and also in older fallers and some young adults have similar or even higher visual dependence than older ones (Sundermier et al., 1996). Therefore ageing *per se* may not affect visual dependence and these results are consistent with our findings in Chapter 2. Future studies could consider analysing subjects by the level of visual dependence, rather than just by chronological age.

This study provided consistent results over 5 RDT trials with both fixed and variable intervals between consecutive trials in both age groups. Therefore 7 min of recovery between tests can be used in future studies visual dependence in healthy people who are not visually dependent. However these results may not be extrapolated to people with pathological conditions that affect visual dependence. Previous studies reported that vestibular patients became less visually dependent between trials of visual stimulation (Agarwal et al., 2012) but retained similar degrees within a single trial (60 s) compared to healthy people (Loughlin et al., 1996), however the latter was measured based on changes in postural control and any change in judging the SVV is unknown.

Good levels of reliability are essential for a measurement to be useful to determine values at a given time and also over time (Rankin and Stokes, 1998). To the author's knowledge this is the first study to examine the test-retest reliability of static and dynamic SVV as assessed by the RDT. Lord and Webster (1990) investigated the reliability of visual dependence in healthy adults aged 59 – 97 years using the roll vection test, in which subjects align a central tilted rod in a motorised circular board with alternating black and white stripes over a 6 month period. Very good reliability of dynamic SVV (ICC 0.93) was obtained, but static SVV was not reported. In the current study test-retest reliability of static SVV was only moderate but the Bland and Altman analysis did not show any specific pattern, such as wide dispersion of data in a horizontal or vertical direction. Surprisingly, younger people had lower static SVV reliability than older ones based on the ICC values. These are commonly used to represent reliability, as it is a ratio of variability between and within subjects (Rankin and

Stokes, 1998). However, these subjects had very small static SVV values and greater variability might be found amongst these with higher values.

Bland-Altman analysis showed a trend for better reliability with the low dynamic SVV values (<2⁰), which was consistent with Lord and Webster's study (1990), than with higher ones in both younger and older subjects. This may suggest the possibility that people with greater visual dependence show poorer test-retest reliability. Future studies could consider examining the test-retest reliability in healthy subjects of all ages and also people with higher degrees of visual dependence e.g. older fallers or patients with vestibular dysfunctions. If the reliability of the RDT is less in those who are visually dependent then results obtained before and after optokinetic treatment (Pavlou et al., 2011) or surgery (Lopez et al., 2007) need to be cautiously interpreted.

In conclusion, this study found no effect of repetitive visual stimulation by the RDT on SVV whether exposures were repeated at fixed times after the last test or with fixed rest intervals (~7 and 10 min rest periods respectively). It seems that repetitive visual stimulation may have less influence on perceived orientation than postural control. There were no significant differences between the two age groups of healthy adults. Good test-retest reliability of the dynamic SVV and moderate test-retest reliability of static SVV was found. A rest period of \geq 7 min appears sufficient to avoid any effects of adaptation. The work presented in this Chapter informed the protocol of subsequent studies in this thesis.

84

CHAPTER FOUR EFFECT OF WHOLE BODY VIBRATION ON VISUAL DEPENDENCE FOR SPATIAL ORIENTATION IN HEALTHY YOUNGER AND OLDER SUBJECTS

4.1 Introduction

Many older people report that they find balance control more difficult during or after being in a moving environment such as a car or bus (Broome et al., 2009), indicating that balance can be perturbed by externally generated movement (vibration). Maintenance of balance is based on the integration of the visual, vestibular and proprioceptive systems (Maurer et al., 2000) and a disturbance in any one of them could result in postural instability (Isableu et al., 1997, Nakagawa et al., 1993, Britton et al., 1993) and perhaps higher visual dependence (Slaboda et al., 2009, Bronstein, 1995). Both postural instability and visual dependence have an increased incidence in older people (Kobayashi et al., 2002). Whole body vibration (WBV) is a form of vibration that is applied to the entire body through the feet by standing on a vibrating platform with either rotational or vertical oscillation (Cardinale and Wakeling, 2005). It has been reported to have long term improvements in strength and balance (Merriman and Jackson, 2009); however, the acute effect remains unclear. WBV intervention may have a similar effect to a moving vehicle that might disturb postural control and impair sensory systems. There is a large literature on local vibration to individual muscles and tendons, but the effects of whole body vibration have been little studied, although the technique is becoming popular.

Tendon vibration

This technique has been widely used (Ceyte et al., 2007). It activates the Ia, Ib and II afferent fibres from muscle spindles which inform the central nervous system that the muscle is being stretched and then elicits an illusion of movement (Courtine et al., 2007). Increased joint position error during repositioning may result from illusory movements during vibration, leading to the suggestion that tendon vibration has a detrimental effect on proprioception (Ishihara et al., 2004, Wierzbicka et al., 1998). Cutaneous mechanoreceptors including Merkel's cells (pressure), Ruffini endings (skin stretch), Meissner (vibration, touch) and Pacinian corpuscles (vibration) (Schmidt and Altner, 1986) were also reported to be influenced by vibration through the sole of the feet (Ribot-Ciscar et al., 1989, Vedel and Roll, 1982). Tendon vibration applied to the mastoid bone or the sternocleidomastoid muscles can excite not only cervical proprioceptors but also vestibular receptor cells (Magnusson et al., 2006, Karlberg et al., 2002). Effects include nystagmus (Hamann and Schuster, 1999) and tilted visual orientation (Karlberg et al., 2002) in patients with unilateral vestibular deficits. Therefore, tendon vibration has deleterious effects on proprioceptive and vestibular systems (Ishihara et al., 2004, Wierzbicka et al., 1998, Magnusson et al., 2006, Karlberg et al., 2002) that could be associated with increased visual dependence in accordance with the sensory reweighting hypothesis (Oie et al., 2002).

When tendon vibration was applied to the biceps brachii of subjects with closed eyes, greater errors were observed in the acuity of joint position sense in the upper limb (Cordo et al., 1995). Postural sway during tendon vibration became larger when subjects' eyes were closed (Patel et al., 2009, Gomez et al., 2009, Bove et al., 2009, Nakagawa et al., 1993, Hazime et al., 2012) or when they were looking at a moving image (Adamcova and Hlavacka, 2007). The responses to tendon vibration have been reported to be greater in older people (Abrahamova et al., 2009) and especially in those with impaired vibration sensation (Kristinsdottir et al., 2001). Proprioceptive impairments caused by tendon vibration may lead to elevated visual dependence with greater effects in older people and similar or greater effects may result from WBV.

Whole body vibration (WBV)

WBV is performed with a subject standing on a vibrating platform with either rotational (where the plate rotates around the anterior-posterior axis) or vertical oscillation (Cardinale and Wakeling, 2005). It has been reported to lead to long term improvements in strength, flexibility, muscle power, movement speed and balance (Merriman and Jackson, 2009), especially in older people (Rittweger, 2010), and is becoming increasingly popular as a form of exercise training (Cochrane and Stannard, 2005) and rehabilitation (van Nes et al., 2004, Lau et al., 2011). The long term (4 wks to 1yr) effects of WBV have been investigated with the majority of studies focusing on muscle performance, balance and functional mobility (Jordan et al., 2005). However, the immediate effects of WBV, especially on sensory systems e.g. visual dependence, are limited although they are an essential part of postural control.

Joint position sense at the ankle and knee joints did not change after WBV in young people (Pollock et al., 2011) but trunk repositioning has been found to

improve after single and repeated bouts of WBV in people with low back pain (Fontana et al., 2005). Reduced cutaneous sensation at the foot and ankle (touch and pressure) occurred immediately after WBV (Pollock et al., 2011, Schlee et al., 2012) and can last for 2 hours (Sonza et al., 2013). The effect of WBV on vestibular function has not been investigated but there is a study reporting that low-frequency WBV (<1 Hz) may cause vestibular disturbances resulting in symptoms of dizziness, motion sickness and nausea (Seidel et al., 1990). These frequencies are similar to those in occupational WBV, although they conducted laboratory and not occupational studies. WBV was also reported to result in blurred vision by making images oscillate on the retina (Griffin, 1976). Visual blurring can impair visual acuity that worsens with higher frequencies of vibration (>7 Hz) and shorter distance (<1 meter) between subjects and objects (Griffin, 1975). However, to our knowledge there have been no studies investigating the effect of WBV on visual dependence although WBV is commonly used in older people (Rittweger, 2010) who have been reported to have higher levels of visual dependence (Kobayashi et al., 2002).

Visual dependence can result from impairments in the proprioceptive or vestibular systems (Slaboda et al., 2009, Bronstein, 1995). Both of these would be expected to be affected by WBV (Fontana et al., 2005; Sonza et al., 2013). It is possible that any negative effects of WBV in this respect might counter and even outweigh the beneficial effects on strength and power output. The aim of the study presented in this chapter was to investigate the effect of WBV on perceived visual dependence as measured by the RDT in healthy younger and older subjects.

4.2 Methods

4.2.1 Subjects

Ten healthy young (aged 29 ± 1 (mean \pm sem), range 22 - 34 yrs, height 162 ± 2 (148 - 173) cm, mass 61 ± 4 (47 - 82) kg, 2 male) and 10 healthy older (aged 65 ± 1 (61-73) yrs, height 172 ± 4 (155 - 188) cm, mass 71 ± 4 (53 - 89) kg, 5 male) subjects participated in the study. They were university students or staff or residents from neighbouring community centres. Inclusion criteria were aged 18 - 40 yrs for younger subjects and >60 yrs for older subjects. They did not have any known neurological disorders, history of peripheral or central vestibular disorders, clinically detectable peripheral somatosensory loss, uncorrected visual impairments or a medical history of epilepsy or migraine or fainting. As WBV was used subjects were excluded if they had any joint replacements, recent injuries to bones, joints or muscles. All subjects gave their informed consent to agree to participate in the study, which was approved by the local ethics committee (Appendix 1).

4.2.2 Protocol

WBV intervention (Fig. 4.1)

Five one min bouts of WBV (5 mm peak-to-peak amplitude and frequency of 20 Hz) with 30 s rest between bouts were performed on a rotating vibrating platform (Galileo 2000, Novotec Medical GmBH, Germany). Subjects were asked to stand barefoot on the platform with arms at their sides but were allowed to use the hand rail if they felt this was necessary. They were asked to stand straight legged without locking their knees in order to transmit less vibration to

the head which may cause discomfort, visual problems or motion sickness (Rubin et al., 2003) whilst maintaining an even weight distribution bilaterally and between the forefoot and hindfoot while looking forwards and were 2 meters away from a blank wall.



Fig. 4.1 The WBV machine. a) Quiet standing on the platform with straight knees, flat feet, arms at the sides while looking directly ahead. b) The subjects stood barefoot over marked foot positions (midline of foot is aligned to line 2.5) corresponding to 5mm peak-to-peak amplitude. c) Rotating vibrating platform. d) A frequency of 20 Hz was set using the control unit by a researcher.

The protocol of 5 repeated RDT tests at 10 min intervals has been described in Chapter 3. Reliability of visual dependence assessed by the RDT was found to be good and moderate for dynamic and static SVV respectively in healthy population of older and younger adults. Ten min test intervals between subsequent RDTs can prevent any habituation in that same population. Therefore, these data informed the protocol used in this study in which visual dependence was assessed by the RDT (Chapter 2.2.2, page 44) before (BASELINE) and after WBV. To assess the time course of any changes, repeat RDTs were performed within 1 min after the end of WBV (T0) and then at 10 (T10), 20 (T20), and 30 minutes afterwards (T30). All the subjects had one practice attempt with both stationary and rotating discs in an illuminated condition for familiarisation. One more practice was allowed if they were still not clear or wrongly performed the first practice. Once they clearly understood the procedure testing began approximately one min afterwards. Subjects were asked whether any symptoms of nystagmus, dizziness and disorientation occurred during or after WBV,

4.2.3 Data analysis

SPSS v19.0 was used for all statistical analysis. All data are presented as mean \pm standard error of mean (SEM). The Kolmogorov-Smirnov test was used to determine whether data were normally distributed. Significance was assumed at p<0.05.

As no significant differences were noted in subjective visual vertical (SVV) between CW and CCW directions (Wilcoxon signed-rank test), they were averaged to obtain a mean dynamic SVV as in Chapter 2. Static and dynamic SVV values were compared between and within the two age groups before and after vibration. Static SVV values were normally distributed but dynamic SVV values were not and were ordered according to rank before parametric testing was applied.

Static and dynamic SVV were examined by a two-way ANOVA (2 age groups (younger vs. older) X 5 time points (BASELINE, T0, T10, T20, and T30)) test to determine the effect of groups, time, and interaction between groups and time. Post-hoc one way ANOVA with least significant difference (LSD) was used to investigate the time effect within group.

To examine whether there was similar variance between the two age groups in a particular condition, the F-Test Two-Sample for Variance was performed.

4.3 Results

4.3.1 Static SVV

There was no effect of time or group on static SVV (Table 4.1and Fig. 4.2). All static SVV values were close to gravitational vertical in younger ($-0.9^{0}\pm0.3 - 0.5^{0}\pm0.4$) and older subjects ($-0.4^{0}\pm0.5 - -0.1^{0}\pm0.4$). Variance was similar in both age groups at T0 (p=0.15) and T10 (p=0.14) except a greater variance in the older people at baseline (p=0.004), T20 (p=0.002) and T30 (p=0.03).

Time (min) after vibration Т0 BASELINE T10 T20 T30 Static SVV Younger -0.7±0.2 -0.9±0.3 -0.9±0.3 -0.6±0.2 -0.5±0.4 (0) Older 0.2±0.6 -0.1±0.4 -0.4±0.5 -0.1±0.7 -0.3±0.7

Table 4.1 (Mean ± sem) Static SVV values in both age groups before and after WBV. Nosignificant differences were found between groups or time points on static SVV.



Fig. 4.2 (Mean ± sem) Static SVV before and after WBV in both age groups. There were no significant differences between groups or time points on static SVV.

4.3.2 Dynamic SVV

There was a significant time effect on dynamic SVV [F(4,36)=3.46, p=0.02] but no effect of groups or interaction between time and groups. One way ANOVA showed that dynamic SVV was improved after WBV in the younger group [F(4,36)=3.31, p=0.04] but was unchanged in the older subjects. Dynamic SVV immediately after WBV showed a nonsignificant trend for improvement (p=0.057) and this became significant after 10 (p=0.05) and 20 (p=0.03) min (Table 4.2 and Fig. 4.3). Variance was similar between age groups at each of time points (p=0.06 - 0.38).

		Time (min) after vibration							
		BASELINE	Т0	T10	T20	T30			
Dynamic SVV (º)	Younger	2.9±0.5	2.4±0.5 [¥]	2.1±0.3*	2.1±0.4*	2.2±0.3			
	Older	3.9±1.0	3.5±1.1	3.1±0.6	3.1±0.6	3.3±0.8			

Table 4.2 (Mean \pm sem) Dynamic SVV values in both age groups before and after WBV. Dynamic SVV was decreased (improved) at T10 and T20 compared to BASELINE in younger group only. * Statistically significant greater sway than BASELINE at p<0.05 (¥ nearly significant difference p=0.057).



Fig. 4.3 (Mean \pm sem) Dynamic SVV before and after WBV in both age groups. There was no effect of group on dynamic SVV. Values at T10, and T20 were significantly lower than BASELINE in younger group but unchanged in older group. * Statistically significant difference between time points at p<0.05 (¥trend toward significant difference p=0.057).

4.4 Discussion

The aim of this study was to investigate perceived visual dependence before and for 30 min after WBV in younger and older healthy subjects. Static and dynamic SVV were similar between age groups. Static SVV was unaffected by WBV but dynamic SVV decreased (improved) for 20 min after vibration in the younger group but was unchanged in the older one. Dynamic SVV values 30 min after WBV in both groups were lower than at baseline, although not significantly so.

This is the first study to investigate the effect of WBV on visual dependence which is often thought a compensatory response to inaccurate proprioceptive and/or vestibular inputs (Slaboda et al., 2009, Bronstein, 1995). It showed decreased visual dependence after vibration in the younger group only, suggesting that WBV may provide more afferent sensory stimulation, presumably proprioceptive and/or vestibular inputs, than visual and therefore reduce the reliance on vision. However, neither proprioceptive nor vestibular function was measured in the present study.

The acute effect of WBV on proprioception is still unclear. Previous studies reported that joint position sense at the ankle and knee joints did not show any difference after WBV in young people (Pollock et al., 2011). However trunk repositioning showed improvement after single and repeated bouts of WBV in people with low back pain (Fontana et al., 2005), suggesting that proprioception could be improved by WBV in subjects with musculoskeletal pathology, but not in healthy adults. Improved proprioception after long term WBV training has

been also reported (Trans et al., 2009, Moezy et al., 2008) with knee movement proprioception improving after 8 weeks of WBV in women with knee osteoarthritis (Trans et al., 2009). Twelve weeks of WBV training improved knee joint position sense in patients who have had anterior cruciate ligament surgery (Moezy et al., 2008). It is possible that both an acute bout and also long term WBV training could improve proprioception, but this warrants further investigation.

Proprioception is affected by tendon vibration (Ishihara et al., 2004, Wierzbicka et al., 1998) but the effect is dependent of the frequency of vibration, as 100 Hz had a greater effect than 30 and 40 Hz (Kasai et al., 1992); the frequency of 20 Hz used in the study reported in this chapter were below this. Therefore, low WBV frequencies may be insufficient to impair sensory systems. In contrast, there is the possibility that WBV may improve proprioception due to a more efficient use of the proprioceptive feedback loop (Delecluse et al., 2005, Trans et al., 2009). It is known that the production of isometric force is controlled by many factors including the proprioceptive pathway i.e. Ia, Ib, and II afferents (Delecluse et al., 2005, Gandevia, 2001). Immediate improvements in muscle strength reported after WBV (Bedient et al., 2009, Da Silva-Grigoletto et al., 2009) are partly attributed to enhancements of the proprioceptive feedback loop resulting from excitatory stimulation of the afferent pathways. If this is so, then there may be an effect on proprioception. Thus, decreased levels of visual dependence in the younger group in the current study could be explained by possible increased inputs from proprioceptive systems.

Compared with the effects of WBV on proprioception, there is little known about its effect on the vestibular system. Previous studies found that local vibration on the mastoid bone or neck muscles may cause vestibular disturbances characterised by visual and postural illusion, symptoms of nystagmus, dizziness, and tilted visual orientation in healthy people and also patients with vestibular deficits (Hamann and Schuster, 1999, Magnusson et al., 2006, Karlberg et al., 2002). However, the vibration in those studies was directly applied near the vestibular organ and the frequencies used (55–85 Hz) were much higher (Hamann and Schuster, 1999, Magnusson et al., 2006, Karlberg et al., 2002) than the 20 Hz of WBV used here. The effects on vestibular function were also observed with very low frequency (<1 Hz) vibration, but the exposure was in an occupational setting and the duration substantially longer (Seidel et al., 1990).

Rotational WBV has less transmission to the head than vertical (Abercromby et al., 2007) and standing with flexed knees can decrease vibration magnitude in the upper body (Rubin et al., 2003) with very rare reports of discomfort (Cardinale and Rittweger, 2006). Both of these were used in the current study and also none of the subjects reported any of these symptoms of nystagmus, dizziness and disorientation during or after WBV, suggesting that the vestibular system was not disturbed by the acute bout of WBV at the frequency used here. Therefore, unlike local vibration, WBV may provide more afferent sensory stimulation *via* the proprioceptive and/or vestibular systems and thereby decrease reliance on vision.

99

Another possibility for the decreased visual dependence after WBV could be associated with blurred vision during vibration (Griffin, 1976). There is clear evidence of habituation to repetitive visual stimulation in neural (Fischer et al., 2000, Noguchi et al., 2004) and postural levels (Loughlin and Redfern, 2001, O'Connor et al., 2008). Visual judder for 5 min during WBV may cause the central nervous system to down-weight inaccurate visual inputs based on the sensory reweighting hypothesis (Oie et al., 2002) and this might explain the decreased dynamic SVV values after vibration. However, amount of change in younger people was small and unlikely to have a clinical or functional effect.

No such change in visual dependence during dynamic RDT testing occurred in the older people. They may have less flexibility in reweighting the sensory systems and thus lack effective adjustment to respond to an external influence (Horak et al., 1989). Indeed, older adults can have greater difficulty adapting to different sensory environments than young ones (Camicioli et al., 1997; Lin et al., 2005; Wrisley et al., 2007). This may be due to slower central processing of sensory information (Teasdale et al., 1991) and adaptive multi-sensory reweighting in older population (Peterka and Loughlin, 2004). Furthermore, previous studies reported that the magnitude of the vibration-induced reflex contraction e.g. inhibition of stretch reflexes (Burke et al., 1996) and of the Hreflex (Butchart et al., 1993), seems to be much less pronounced in the older adults and may be also associated with their lower response to acute of WBV. This could be hazardous for older people and potentially could lead to an increased incidence of falling in rapidly and continuously sensory changing environments. However, there was a trend for decreased dynamic visual dependence in older group although it did not reach statistical significance. This supports the suggestion that older adults may be able to reweight sensory information but require more time than younger adults (Woollacott et al., 1986, Woollacott et al., 1988). Nevertheless, no effect was seen in the 30 min following WBV and this period would be expected to include the time needed even with slow central processing

The effect of WBV on visual dependence in young people lasted for 20 min. Decreased postural sway induced by local vibration at the ankle and neck also lasted for 20 min (Wierzbicka et al., 1998) and the reduced cutaneous sensation caused by WBV lasted even longer (2 hours) (Sonza et al., 2013). It is suggested that the residual effect of vibration can be caused by either sensory (cutaneous sensation, visual dependence) or motor (balance) mechanisms, irrespective of which mode of vibration (local vibration at high frequencies and WBV at low frequencies) is used (Wierzbicka et al., 1998, Sonza et al., 2013).

Older people have been widely reported to have greater visual dependence for spatial orientation (Kobayashi et al., 2002, Bronstein et al., 1996). Previous work found that the dynamic, but not static, SVV increased with age in healthy adults aged 20-75 yrs (Kobayashi et al., 2002, Bronstein et al., 1996). However, the current study found that neither static nor dynamic SVV was affected by age, in line with the findings in Chapters 2 and 3, although the dynamic SVV in older group was still slightly higher than in the younger group, but not significantly so. Furthermore, some studies have reported greater variability in older people when performing the RDT and also in postural responses to visual motion stimulation (Borger et al., 1999, Sundermier et al., 1996, Teasdale et al., 1991). This was also indicated in this study by the larger SEM values in the older group. 'Older people' are a heterogeneous group since individuals of the same chronological age clearly have different levels of deterioration in various systems, leading to greater individual variability. There is progressively more interest in the suggestion that the age related functional decline may be more related to specific impairments rather than age *per se* (Kinsella-Shaw et al., 2006, Jeka et al., 2006, Lazarus and Harridge, 2010).

In most studies the sensory motor systems were tested after, but not during, WBV as in the present study. WBV was reported to result in blurred vision by making images oscillate on the retina and causing severe problems with reading (Griffin, 1976). Normal vision is required to execute the RDT and blurred vision during WBV may affect the accuracy of judging visual verticality. Recent work from our laboratory showed that static SVV values in the 5th bout of WBV were significantly higher (p=0.02) than the baseline (without vibration) in younger subjects who stood on a vibrating platform with concurrent RDT assessment (static background only). This supports the suggestion that the RDT should not be measured during WBV because of vision being blurred.

In conclusion, the only effect of WBV in these two age groups was a decrease in visual dependence for 20 min which occurred only during dynamic RDT testing in the younger age group. This may be due to the increased afferent sensory stimulation, presumably proprioceptive and/or vestibular inputs which are provided by WBV, or the adaptation to blurred vision and might result in

sensory reweighting and reducing reliance on the visual system. However, the significant change was small and may be insufficient for a clinical or functional effect, but greater exposure could have a larger effect. No such compensation occurred in older people. They may have less reweighting ability between the sensory systems and this lack a comparable adjustment to reliance on different sensory systems than younger people in response to an external influence.

There is a relationship between visual dependence and the visual contribution to postural control (Luyat et al., 1997) and it is known that WBV can affect balance. Therefore, the aim of Chapter 5 was to investigate the immediate effect of WBV on postural control in healthy younger and older subjects.

CHAPTER FIVE EFFECT OF WHOLE BODY VIBRATION ON POSTURAL CONTROL IN HEALTHY YOUNGER AND OLDER SUBJECTS

5.1 Introduction

WBV training has been reported to have improved strength, flexibility, muscle power, movement speed and balance (Merriman and Jackson, 2009), especially in older people (Rittweger, 2010). However, there are relatively few studies investigating the acute effects of WBV on balance although it is an essential part of every day activities. The majority of acute studies (repeated bouts in a single session) focus on muscle strength and power (Cochrane and Stannard, 2005, Bosco et al., 1999, Bedient et al., 2009) but the sensory stimulation may also have a profound influence upon spatial orientation and postural control. As previously described in Chapter 4, local vibration can impair proprioceptive (Ishihara et al., 2004, Wierzbicka et al., 1998) and vestibular systems (Hamann and Schuster, 1999, Magnusson et al., 2006, Karlberg et al., 2002), which both provide important information for the maintenance of balance (Roll and Roll, 1988, Maurer et al., 2000). It is possible that WBV may have negative side effects such as a temporary reduction in postural control and thereby represent a risk of falling during or shortly after WBV.

The effects of vibration of a single muscle or tendon have been widely studied. Provocation of illusionary movement results in a compensatory postural response with a body tilt in the direction of the vibrated muscles (Roll et al., 1989) i.e. vibration of the Achilles tendon induces body backward tilt whereas forward tilt is provoked by vibrating the tendon of the tibias anterior muscle (Gomez et al., 2009).

This response is not a local one limited to a single joint, but a complex whole body postural synergy (Talis and Solopova, 2000). Kinematic and electromyographic data showed that bilateral Achilles tendon vibration induced increased postural sway, a backward displacement of the centre of gravity, trunk extension, flexion of the hips and knees, as well as changes in the muscle activity at the ankle and knee joints and in back muscles when subjects stood with eyes open (Patel et al., 2009, Thompson et al., 2011, Thompson et al., 2007, Gomez et al., 2009). Postural sway in response to vibration became larger when the eyes were closed (Patel et al., 2009, Gomez et al., 2009, Bove et al., 2009, Nakagawa et al., 1993) or when subjects viewed a moving image (Adamcova and Hlavacka, 2007). Balance was more affected by vibration when standing on one leg than two, especially when the eyes were closed (Hazime et al., 2012).

Older people demonstrated more rapid responses which have a higher frequency and more complex motion pattern of postural sway to Achilles tendon vibration (Fransson et al., 2004), and this was even more profound in older people with impaired vibration sensation (Kristinsdottir et al., 2001). The effects on balance persist for some time after the vibration is discontinued. For instance, 30s of bilateral Achilles tendon vibration increased body sway for >20 s (Thompson et al., 2007) whereas postural sway evoked by 30 s bilateral vibration of the ankle or cervical area did not return to baseline values until 19 min after cessation of vibration (Wierzbicka et al., 1998).

Local vibration affects balance (Nakagawa et al., 1993) and so may WBV, however, the immediate effects of WBV on balance are inconsistent in the literature. Some studies found no significant changes in postural sway in two legged standing after a single WBV session in either older women (Carlucci et al., 2010) or younger adults (Torvinen et al., 2002b) while other studies reported less postural sway in both one (Schlee et al., 2012) and two legged (Torvinen et al., 2002a) stance in young adults. WBV may cause an improvement in balance when it is moderately challenged such as in one legged stance (Schlee et al., 2012), but excessively difficult balance tasks i.e. standing on a movable surface with eyes closed, resulted in worsened balance immediately after vibration (Dickin et al., 2012).

Dynamic balance assessed by a tandem walk test and a shuttle run test did not change after vibration (Torvinen et al., 2002b, Torvinen et al., 2002a). An advantage of functional performance tests is their practicality for assessment in a variety of settings because of their low cost, lack of complex equipment and time efficiency. However, the tasks include many components i.e. running, turning, and squatting in a shuttle run test, so a slight change among the individual components may be masked by an overall performance scoring system. Laboratory measures, such as force plate data, can provide more detailed kinematic information and accurate measurements of postural sway.

It is difficult to draw a conclusion about the effect of WBV on balance from previous studies because of a limited number of studies which had different protocols i.e. frequencies of 10 - 60 Hz and peak to peak amplitude <1 - 10 mm,
type of platform (rotational or vertical), balance tasks, outcome measures and populations (with respect to age and clinical history).

The majority of studies using local vibration indicate a negative effect on balance, especially in older people and during more challenging sensory situations. However, the effect of WBV on static and dynamic balance is unclear, particularly in more challenging sensory situations i.e. one leg standing and when vision is removed or distorted.

The study reported in Chapter 4 found that a single bout of WBV can affect visual dependence and therefore it may also affect postural control. Thus the aim of this study was to investigate the acute effect of WBV on postural control (sway) in healthy younger and older subjects. This was assessed during balance tasks with varying levels of visual complexity.

5.2 Methods

5.2.1 Subjects

Twelve healthy young (mean age $26 \pm 1 (23 - 35)$ yrs; 6 male; height $170 \pm 2 (161 - 178)$ cm; body mass $66 \pm 3 (54 - 84)$ kg) and 12 healthy older (aged $68 \pm 2 (60-79)$ yrs; 5 male; height $169 \pm 3 (152 - 182)$ cm; mass $73 \pm 5 (43 - 98)$ kg) subjects were recruited from the university and neighbouring community centres. They did not have any known neurological disorders, uncorrected visual impairments or a history of epilepsy, migraine or fainting. As WBV was used, subjects were excluded if they had any joint replacements, recent injuries to bones, joints or muscles. All subjects gave their informed consent to agree to participate in the study, which was approved by the local ethics committee (Appendix 1).

5.2.2 Protocol

Five one *min* bouts of WBV (5 mm peak-to-peak amplitude and frequency of 20 Hz) with 30 s rest between bouts were performed on a rotating vibrating platform (Galileo 2000, Novotec Medical GmBH, Germany). The WBV protocol is described in Chapter 4 (page 86).

It was not considered necessary to involve a control group in this study as force plate measurements have shown good reproducibility for measurements of postural sway by a number of groups in healthy adults aged 20-83 years. Thyssen et al., (1982) reported no significant differences in balance with eyes open and closed in one and two legged standing, measured both twice in one day and also over 5 consequtive days. Takala et al., (1997) also found no significant differences in two legged standing balance with eyes open and closed on two separate days. Du Pasquier et al., (2003) studied relaibility on three ocassions over a 6 month period and reported 79% reliability.

Static and dynamic balance was assessed by recording postural sway on a force plate and recorded by MatLab (R2010a, MathWorks Inc., USA) before (BASELINE), immediately (within 1 min) after WBV (T0) and 20 min later (T20).

Postural sway was assessed during static and dynamic balance conditions by calculating the trajectories of centre of pressure (COP), a representation of body motion in space detected at the interface of the feet ad the support surface, derived from a force plate (BP6001200, AMTI, Watertown, MA). Sampling frequency for static balance was 50 Hz and 200 Hz for dynamic balance.

Static balance

In two and one legged standing (2LS, 1LS) subjects were asked to stand barefoot on the force plate, 80 cm from the centre of the RDT screen (Chapter 2) at eye level, with their arms at their sides and to stand as still as possible. Subjects stood with their feet parallel, facing forward and shoulder width apart for 2LS while looking straight ahead (Fig. 5.1). The foot position was marked on the forceplate in order to ensure a constant foot placement throughout. Subjects chose their preferred leg for 1LS and used the same leg for all 1LS testings.



Fig. 5.1 Balance testing position. Standing barefoot on a forceplate 80 cm from the centre of the screen at eye level, with their arms at their sides.

Four visual conditions were used to test postural sway in both 1LS and 2LS. Each condition was repeated once: (1) Eyes open (EO): subjects stood looking at the static RDT screen; (2) Eyes closed (EC): subjects stood quietly with both eyes closed; (3) Visual disturbance – clockwise (CW): subjects stood while looking at the screen on which discs rotated at 30°.s⁻¹ in a CW direction; (4) Visual disturbance – counter-clockwise (CCW): the same as (3), but with discs rotating in a CCW direction. EO was carried out in a fully illuminated room while other conditions were in a darkened room. EO and EC were conducted in a counterbalanced order prior to CW and CCW, which were also conducted in a counterbalanced order. Subjects were required to close their eyes while standing on both legs for 5 s rest periods between visual conditions and trials. Force plate data in 2LS in each condition was collected for 30 s and the middle 10 s was analysed in order to avoid postural adjustments at the beginning of the task. During 1LS the trial was stopped if the non-stance foot touched the ground and up to 3 further attempts were made as required until 5 s was achieved. Where possible postural sway in 1LS was recorded and analysed over 5 s but if subjects failed to stand on one leg for 5 s, then the first 2 s was analysed.

Measures of postural sway velocity (m.s⁻¹) under all conditions were calculated by dividing the total length of the trajectory of the COP (meters; m) by the recording period length (seconds; s). Sway velocity was defined as the average travel speed of the COP in the horizontal plane and reflects postural sway. Two quotients were computed from the sway velocity data: a) Romberg Quotient (RQ); the ratio of sway velocity in EC and EO which reflects influence of vision and b) Kinetic Quotient (KQ); the ratio of sway velocity with rotating (average of CW and CCW) and static disks, which reflects the influence of dynamic visual stimulation.

Dynamic balance

Subjects stepped onto the force plate leading with their preferred leg while looking at the RDT screen under three visual conditions: 1) stationary discs (EO); 2) discs rotating at 30°.s⁻¹ in a CW direction and 3) discs rotating in a CCW direction. EO was presented first and the other two were in randomised order. Three trials for each visual condition were performed. COP was recorded from heel strike to toe off of the preferred leg i.e. a complete step. Medial-lateral (ML)

deviation from 5 to 95 % of a step was analysed in all 3 conditions before, immediately after WBV and then at 20 min.

Mean ML deviation (m) was calculated as mean COP change in the lateral direction. From this KQ was calculated as described above. To examine any effect of direction of disk rotation the mean differences in ML deviation between both CW and CCW with EO was calculated at before, immediately and 20 min after WBV.

Static and dynamic testing was carried out in a randomised order. In rest periods the subjects were seated and the room lights were on. All the data were exported from Matlab to Excel for analysis.

5.2.3 Data analysis

SPSS v19.0 was used for all statistical analysis. All data are presented as mean \pm standard error of mean (SEM). The Kolmogorov-Smirnov test was used to determine whether data were normally distributed. Significance was assumed at p<0.05.

Static balance

As no significant differences were noted in sway velocity between CW and CCW directions (Wilcoxon signed-rank test) in any of the standing positions, the pooled data were averaged to obtain mean rotation values (ROT). Postural sway velocity under all postural and visual conditions, as well as RQ and KQ in both

age groups were ordered according to rank due to non-normal distribution and a two-way ANOVA with post hoc independent t-test was applied to determine the effect of groups (age), time, and interaction between groups and time on postural velocity in EO, EC, ROT as well as RQ and KQ.

Dynamic balance

There were no differences between CW and CCW disk rotation (Wilcoxon signed-rank test) in ML deviation and therefore the data was averaged to obtain a ROT value. ML deviation in EO was normally distributed but ROT and KQ were ordered according to rank due to non-normal distribution and then a two-way ANOVA with post hoc independent t-test determined the effect of groups (age), time and interaction between groups and time on ML deviation in EO, ROT, and KQ.

COP trajectory on ML direction during the dynamic balance task was illustrated by an XY plot in Excel. Time was represented as percentage of a complete step along the X axis. COP deviation towards right or left from central point was indicated as a positive or negative value in Y-axis. To measure whether the direction of rotating discs affect on direction of ML deviation in both age groups with and without WBV, a 3-way ANOVA (direction x group x WBV) with post hoc multiple comparisons test was used.

To examine whether there was similar variance between the two age groups in a particular condition, the F-Test Two-Sample for Variance was performed.

5.3 Results

5.3.1 Static balance

One subject in each age group chose their left leg for 1LS. All healthy younger (n=12) and 7 out of 12 older subjects were able to achieve 1LS for 5 s. However, 5 older subjects were unable to do so, but were able to achieve at least 2 s. Two of them could not stand for 5 s before vibration but could after; another 2 had an opposite response; another could not maintain 1LS for 5 s either before or after vibration. Therefore, 1LS with 5 s for all younger and 7 older subjects and 1LS with 2 s for all younger and older subjects were analysed.

There were no significant differences in sway velocity after vibration with 2LS, 1LS for 2 and 5 s under all visual conditions (Table 5.1). However, older subjects had a greater sway velocity with all conditions at all times (p < 0.001 - 0.04). Variance was similar between age groups in all conditions (p=0.08 - 0.51).

The RQ and KQ did not change after vibration and was similar in both age groups in 2LS (Fig. 5.2), 1LS (5s) (Fig. 5.3) and 1LS (2s) as shown in Table 5.2 and Fig. 5.4. Variance was similar between age groups in all conditions (p=0.08 - 0.51).

		EO			EC			ROT		
		BASELINE	Т0	T20	BASELINE	Т0	T20	BASELINE	Т0	T20
2LS	YOUNGER	0.01 (0.00)	0.02 (0.00)	0.01 (0.00)	0.02 (0.00)	0.02 (0.00)	0.02 (0.00)	0.02 (0.00)	0.02 (0.00)	0.02 (0.00)
	OLDER	0.03* (0.01)	0.03* (0.01)	0.03* (0.01)	0.04* (0.01)	0.04* (0.01)	0.04* (0.01)	0.03* (0.01)	0.03* (0.01)	0.04* (0.01)
s (5s)	YOUNGER	0.07 (0.01)	0.07 (0.01)	0.07 (0.01)	0.12 (0.02)	0.13 (0.02)	0.11 (0.01)	0.09 (0.01)	0.10 (0.02)	0.10 (0.02)
1L	OLDER	0.17* (0.03)	0.19* (0.05)	0.20* (0.05)	0.28* (0.06)	0.33* (0.08)	0.31* (0.08)	0.31* (0.08)	0.28* (0.06)	0.26* (0.06)
5 (2s)	YOUNGER	0.09 (0.01)	0.09 (0.02)	0.09 (0.01)	0.13 (0.02)	0.13 (0.02)	0.12 (0.02)	0.11 (0.01)	0.10 (0.01)	0.10 (0.02)
1L.	OLDER	0.25* (0.05)	0.27* (0.05)	0.27* (0.05)	0.38* (0.08)	0.35* (0.07)	0.29* (0.05)	0.40* (0.09)	0.34* (0.07)	0.36* (0.08)

Table 5.1 Postural sway velocity (m.s⁻¹) in EO, EC and ROT (mean (sem)). There were no significant differences in sway velocity during one and two legged stance under all visual conditions after vibration in both age groups. Older people had greater postural sway velocity with 2LS, 1LS (5s) and 2LS (2s) than younger people at BASELINE, T0, and T20. *denotes a significantly greater sway in older than younger group at p<0.05.

		RQ			KQ			
		BASELINE	Т0	T20	BASELINE	Т0	T20	
2LS	YOUNGER	1.09	1.05	1.06	1.09	1.04	1.06	
		(0.04)	(0.06)	(0.06)	(0.10)	(0.05)	(0.06)	
	OLDER	1.33	1.16	1.12	1.11	1.00	1.13	
		(0.14)	(0.06)	(0.10)	(0.06)	(0.03)	(0.09)	
1LS	YOUNGER	2.06	1.87	1.73	1.70	1.35	1.41	
(5s)		(0.39)	(0.16)	(0.12)	(0.39)	(0.10)	(0.11)	
	OLDER	1.57	1.77	1.55	1.69	1.51	1.40	
		(0.22)	(0.17)	(0.18)	(0.25)	(0.14)	(0.11)	
1LS	YOUNGER	1.82	1.54	1.43	1.55	1.15	1.20	
(2s)		(0.48)	(0.12)	(0.11)	(0.41)	(0.08)	(0.07)	
	OLDER	1.44	1.28	1.16	1.54	1.21	1.34	
		(0.14)	(0.12)	(0.08)	(0.15)	(0.06)	(0.11)	

Table 5.2 RQ and KQ with 2LS, 1LS (5s) and 1LS (2s) (mean (sem)). No significant differences in either value were found after vibration or between age groups in 2LS, 1LS (5s) and 1LS (2s). Romberg Quotient (RQ); the ratio of sway velocity in EC and EO. Kinetic Quotient (KQ); the ratio of sway velocity with rotating and static disks.



Fig. 5.2 (Mean ± sem) a) RQ and b) KQ with 2LS. Both values in 2LS did not change after vibration and between age groups. Romberg Quotient (RQ); the ratio of sway velocity in EC and EO. Kinetic Quotient (KQ); the ratio of sway velocity with rotating and static disks.



Fig. 5.3 (Mean \pm sem) a) RQ and b) KQ with 1LS (5s). There were no significant differences in either value for 1LS (5s) after vibration or between age groups. Romberg Quotient (RQ); the ratio of sway velocity in EC and EO. Kinetic Quotient (KQ); the ratio of sway velocity with rotating and static disks.



Fig. 5.4 (Mean ± sem) a) RQ and b) KQ with 1LS (2s). No significant differences in either value for 1LS (2s) were found after vibration or between age groups. Romberg Quotient (RQ); the ratio of sway

5.3.2 Dynamic balance

One subject in each age group used their left leg to step on to the force plate. There were no significant differences in ML deviation after vibration for EO and ROT in either group (Table 5.3). However, older subjects had greater sway in all conditions (p=0.02 - 0.04). Variance was similar between age groups at each of the conditions (p=0.07 - 0.50).

	EO			ROT			
	BASELINE	Т0	T20	BASELINE	Τ0	T20	
YOUNGER	0.01	0.01	0.01	0.01	0.01	0.01	
	(0.00)	(0.00)	(0.00)	(0.00)	(0.00)	(0.00)	
OLDER	0.02*	0.02*	0.02*	0.02*	0.02*	0.02*	
	(0.01)	(0.00)	(0.00)	(0.01)	(0.01)	(0.01)	

Table 5.3 ML postural deviation (m) in EO and ROT (mean (sem)). ML postural deviation was not different after vibration for EO and ROT but was significantly greater in older than younger subjects with EO and ROT. *denotes a significantly greater sway in older than younger group at p<0.05.

KQ did not change after vibration and was similar in both groups (Table 5.4 and Fig. 5.5). Variance was similar between age groups at each of time points (p=0.50).

The direction of postural sway followed that of the disk rotation (F(1,11)=26.12),

p<0.001) in all subjects before and after vibration (p=0.003 - 0.02) (Fig. 5.6).

	BASELINE	Т0	T20	
YOUNGER	1.03	1.12	1.05	
	(0.11)	(0.06)	(0.07)	
OLDER	1.17	1.23	1.25	
	(0.22)	(0.17)	(0.23)	

Table 5.4 KQ (%) at BASELINE, T0, and T20 (mean (sem)). No significant differences in KQ between groups and after vibration. Kinetic Quotient (KQ); the ratio of sway velocity with rotating and static disks.



Fig. 5.5 (Mean ± sem) KQ at BASELINE, T0, and T20 in younger and older groups. There were no significant differences in KQ after vibration or between age groups.



Fig. 5.6 (Mean ± sem) Medial-lateral deviation with EO (blue), CW (red) and CCW (green) in younger (left) and older (right) groups at BASELINE (upper), TO (middle) and T20 (lower). A positive or negative value in Y-axis indicates postural deviation towards right or left respectively from centre (zero) of forceplate. There was an effect of direction of rotated image on direction of ML postural deviation at BASELINE, T0 and T20 in both age groups.

5.4 Discussion

The aim of this study was to investigate both static and dynamic balance before and for 20 min after WBV in younger and older healthy subjects. There were no significant differences in either static or dynamic balance after vibration in any visual conditions in either age group. Older subjects had greater sway velocity in both static and dynamic balance under all visual conditions throughout the study, but the RQ and KQ did not change after vibration and was similar in both age groups.

The present study covered different aspects of balance, involving dynamic components from two to one legged standing with intact, removed or distorted vision. However, none of sensory conditions significantly changed after WBV although there was a trend for postural sway to decrease after vibration in both age groups and this was more profound in 1LS. The current study partly supports the findings of previous studies in which unchallenging balance tasks, such as 2LS, WBV has little or no effect (Carlucci et al., 2010, Dickin et al., 2012), but it may have a greater effect when balance is more challenged, such as in 1LS (Schlee et al., 2012). This could also explain why acute WBV has been found to reduce postural sway in people with balance problems e.g. after stroke (van Nes et al., 2004), Parkinson's disease (Turbanski et al., 2005), and multiple sclerosis (Schuhfried et al., 2005).

Both RQ and KQ were >1 in both age groups, indicating that postural stability was affected by a lack of vision and also a rotating image. However, both values were unchanged after vibration although there was a trend of a decrease in

both groups during 1LS, which suggested a decreased level of visual dependence on postural control. These results may support the findings that WBV may decrease visual dependence for orientation as reported previously (Chapter 4). There is a relationship between the level of perceptive visual dependence and the visual contribution to postural control (Luyat et al., 1997). The acute effect of WBV could possibly be to decrease the level of visual dependence on spatial orientation as well as postural control. If that is the case, WBV could be an intervention for the modulation of visual dependence.

Individual variation could possibly be the reason for the non-significant change in static balance after WBV. Each individual may be sensitive to a particular vibration frequency (Di Giminiani et al., 2009) and they may also have different balance abilities, both of which may cause varied responses of balance to WBV. This could be supported by the current study in that two older subjects were unable to stand for 5 s on one leg before WBV but were able to after i.e. improved balance after vibration, while another two had the opposite response (diminished balance after vibration).

Local vibration can impair balance but WBV may not. This may be related to the frequency of vibration. Local vibration is commonly applied at high frequencies (30 - 100 Hz) and 100 Hz had a greater effect than 30 and 40 Hz (Kasai et al., 1992). The lower frequencies of WBV ($\leq 30 \text{ Hz}$) may therefore not have the same effect on balance. It is also unlikely to be related to the mode of WBV application. There are a limited number of studies, although they have consistent findings, that neither amplitude (2 - 8 mm peak to peak) or

frequency (10 - 30 Hz) have an effect on balance (Dickin et al., 2012, Pollock et al., 2011).

Although no effect of WBV was observed on static balance in either group, there was a trend for postural sway to decrease after vibration. The possibility of WBV improving balance stemmed from the idea that the majority of acute studies i.e. a single session, found that it increased muscle strength (Cochrane and Stannard, 2005, Bosco et al., 1999, Bedient et al., 2009) and this is highly related to balance performance (Wolfson et al., 1995). WBV in those studies was performed in different positions e.g. squatting, or with additional exercise in athletic populations, so the immediate effect on balance may not be seen in the current study in which subjects quietly stood on a platform. Another possibility is that increased balance ability was the result of the repeated exposure to WBV leading to an adaptive adjustment of postural control (Fransson et al., 2004, Gomez et al., 2009, Patel et al., 2009). An adaptive process that gradually decreases vibration induced postural sway occurred during the first 30 – 40 s of local vibration in a study by Fransson et al. (2004). This develops over time and by gained experience from repeated exposures to the balance disturbances. The current study provided 5 one min bouts of WBV which could possibly cause postural adaptation resulting in the improved balance. However, tendon vibration with higher frequencies was used in those studies and therefore the effect after WBV was not observed.

Improvement in balance after WBV may be related to the tonic vibration reflex (TVR) (Seidel, 1988; Pollock et al., 2012). The mechanical vibration that

activates the sensory receptors of the skin, tendon and muscle spindles elicits an excitatory effect upon α -motoneurons causing a temporary increase in the recruitment of motor units. This could increase muscle strength and thereby may improve balance performance (Wolfson et al., 1995).

Improved balance may also be due to a learning effect induced by the requirement to maintain a stable position on the vibrating platform (Rees et al., 2009, Schuhfried et al., 2005). The practice of a movement can affect motor control and coordination (Connelly et al., 2000) and therefore the effort required to control movement on the platform may improve subsequent balance.

Tendon vibration is interpreted by the CNS as an elongation of that muscle and a illusionary movement is evoked (Roll et al., 1989), which impairs not only position sense at the sensory level but also alters the internal representation of verticality resulting in postural deviation from upright (Ceyte et al., 2007, Barbieri et al., 2008). However, WBV is transmitted throughout the body and affects both agonist and antagonist muscles and therefore the illusionary movement is unlikely (Merriman and Jackson, 2009).

This study indicated that the response to WBV may be not affected by age. However, previous studies reported that older people had greater postural responses to tendon vibration (Abrahamova et al., 2009, Fransson et al., 2004, Kristinsdottir et al., 2001), and a greater decrease in postural sway when vibration was applied to the feet (Priplata et al., 2003). Greater improvements in balance after chronic WBV have been reported in older people (Bautmans et al., 2005, Cheung et al., 2007, Rees et al., 2009). These findings have led to speculation that older people may be more sensitive to vibration in the longer term but there was no indication of this in the current study. Only older people with impaired vibration sensation were reported to have increased highfrequency sway while younger and older people with intact sensation had similar postural control during vibration (Kristinsdottir et al., 2001), suggesting that age *per se* may have little effect on vibration sensitivity. The older subjects in the present study were all healthy with high physical and cognitive functioning and had no relevant medical history. This may be the reason for lack of an age effect in responses to WBV on balance.

In dynamic balance testing postural deviation tended to follow the direction of the disc rotation in both age groups and was not affected by WBV. Step variability during walking has been found to be increased by visual disturbance (O'Connor and Kuo, 2009), in agreement with the present study. Visual information influences both stance and walking and possibly has an even stronger effect during walking (Logan et al., 2010). Vision plays a role in navigation (Warren et al., 2001) and thereby visual disturbance could affect walking patterns e.g. speed (Konczak, 1994) or stride length (Prokop et al., 1997). In the current study, KQ was >1 in both age groups, indicating that ML sway during walking was affected by a rotating image, and a deviation of walking patt tended to follow the direction of the disc rotation revealed the role of vision on navigation. It has also been reported that the effect of visual disturbance on postural sway could be enhanced by tendon vibration

(Adamcova and Hlavacka, 2007) and the present study showed a nonsignificant trend for the deviation in both dynamic conditions to become larger after WBV in older people so WBV may have similar effect to tendon vibration in that respect.

There were no acute effects of WBV on dynamic balance in either age group, in line with previous studies. Torvinen et al. (2002a, b) reported no improvements in dynamic balance after WBV in healthy young people in functional performance tests e.g. tandem walk and shuttle run tests. Dynamic balance, controlling the position of the COP over the base of support, is critical to the successful performance of various functional tasks associated with activities of daily living (Topp et al., 1998). This study found that the ML direction of postural deviation under EO or ROT was not affected by WBV in either age group. Similarly KQ did not change after vibration in either group suggesting the level of visual contribution to dynamic balance was not affected by WBV. A review article reported that chronic WBV has a beneficial effect on dynamic balance (Rogan et al., 2011), so it is possible that a single acute bout would be insufficient.

Older people have been widely reported to have greater visual dependence for postural control (Sundermier et al., 1996, Borger et al., 1999). However, similar RQ and KQ values were found between age groups in the current study, suggesting the sway of the older people was not affected by visual disturbance to a greater degree than that of the younger people. However, all healthy younger subjects were able to maintain one legged standing balance over 5 s in all conditions whilst 5 of the 12 older subjects were not. The older people included for analysis had relatively better balance abilities. The findings of no effect of age on visual dependence for postural control may be overestimated.

It has been noted that the sensory motor systems have mainly been tested during local tendon vibration but not after WBV. Balance is commonly assessed by a forceplate and it would be very difficult to perform WBV on a force plate and also to analyse such data.

The use of WBV with older and clinical populations is growing and therefore safety is important. None of younger or older subjects lost their balance during or after 5 one min bouts of WBV in the current study, which is a well tolerated intervention by healthy people. The result is in line with a review by Rittweger (2010) that there have been no reports of falls in either healthy subjects of all ages or by patient groups.

In conclusion, neither static (one and two legged stance) or dynamic balance was significantly affected after WBV under all visual conditions in either age group, although there was a trend for improved static balance after vibration in both age groups and particularly in one legged stance. Postural sway of the older people was not changed by visual deprivation or disturbance more than that of the younger people. This study partly supports the findings reported in Chapter 4 and suggests that the immediate effect of WBV could possibly cause positive effects that decrease the level of visual dependence on both spatial orientation and postural control in both younger and older adults.

CHAPTER SIX EFFECT OF AUDITORY DISTRACTION ON VISUAL DEPENDENCE FOR SPATIAL ORIENTATION AND POSTURAL CONTROL IN HEALTHY YOUNGER AND OLDER SUBJECTS

6.1 Introduction

People use bilateral hearing for three dimensional spatial orientation, location and navigation (Nelson et al., 1998, Dozza et al., 2005). Sound can also be used as artificial auditory feedback to correct body sway (Easton et al., 1998), however auditory processing is slow compared with that in the visual, proprioceptive, and vestibular systems (Naatanen and Winkler, 1999). When visual and/or proprioceptive information is lost, the use of auditory information can assist in maintaining balance, as occurs in blind people (Ray et al., 2008). However, sound can be a noise which is loud, unpleasant, and an auditory disturbance. When exposed to a noisy background e.g. drilling sound from road construction, people have more body sway (Era and Heikkinen, 1985).

The direction of induced postural sway depends on the relative direction of the stationary and moving auditory stimulus. Lateral sway is significantly greater than anterior posterior when a pair of speakers are placed on the right and left sides of a subject when played simultaneously (stationary auditory stimulus) and when a sound is played from the right to left or *vice versa* (moving auditory stimulus) (Easton et al., 1998, Raper and Soames, 1991, Soames and Raper, 1992). A rotating sound can also induce an illusionary experience of self-rotation like a rotating visual field, but the effect is diminished if a stable visual

environment is present (Lackner, 1977). Interestingly, the louder the sound the greater is the destabilising effect on posture (Pyykko et al., 1982). 'Real' background noise e.g. conversation or traffic, provokes postural instability more than white noise (Raper and Soames, 1991). Postural sway responses are greater when the eyes are closed (Soames and Raper, 1992, Tanaka et al., 2001) and in some older people (Pyykko et al., 1982, Tanaka et al., 2001, Raper and Soames, 1991, Soames and Raper, 1992, Easton et al., 1998).

Deleterious effects of noise on balance may be due to division of attention from a single pool of attentional resources (Kahneman, 1973). If two tasks are performed simultaneously and share the same attentional resources, then performance deteriorates (Wickens, 1989). Despite being in the main automatic, it has been suggested that there are significant attentional requirements for postural control (Teasdale et al., 1993, Lajoie et al., 1993, 1996, Shumway-Cook and Woollacott, 2000).

Kerr and colleagues' study (1985) was the first to show the attentional demands of postural control during standing in younger adults. They reported increased error in a spatial memory task (consisting of placing numbers in imagined matrices and remembering their position of the numbers) when performing the concurrent tandem Romberg balance task (Kerr et al., 1985). Lajoie et al. (1993) observed that the amount of attention progressively increased (indicated by slower auditory reaction time) when being in sitting, two legged stance with the shoulder width apart, with feet together, to walking in young people. Furthermore, the attentional demand was greater in the single

than the double support phase of the gait cycle (Lajoie et al., 1993). Attentional demand was also greater when sensory inputs were disturbed e.g. no vision, impaired proprioception or a combination of both (Lajoie et al., 1996).

Typically, older people require more attention to maintain balance during dual tasking (Teasdale et al., 1993, Lajoie et al., 1996, Shumway-Cook and Woollacott, 2000). Their auditory reaction time was delayed to a greater extent than in young adults by the deprivation of vision during quiet standing, suggesting that greater attentional resources are required (Teasdale et al., 1993). Where both visual and proprioceptive were disturbed by an optokinetic stimulator and a moving platform, an auditory reaction task had a greater negative effect on postural sway in older people (Shumway-Cook and Woollacott, 2000). This might be because disturbed sensory information makes postural task more difficult for older adults and therefore they need more attentional demand to maintain balance.

Interestingly, balance-impaired older people i.e. older fallers, required more attention on balance than healthy older people without a history of falling, even under relatively simple conditions such as two legged stance with eyes open on flat surface (Shumway-Cook and Woollacott, 2000). Therefore some falls may be not due to balance deficits, but related to difficulty in effectively allocating attention to balance in multi-task situations. Greater attentional demands for postural control have also been reported in individuals with Parkinson's disease (Brown and Marsden, 1991, Camicioli et al., 1998) and vestibular dysfunction (Andersson et al., 2003, Redfern et al., 2004, Yardley et al., 2001). It

is interesting that both groups have been shown to have the higher levels of visual dependence for orientation and balance (Bronstein et al. 1996, Guerraz et al. 2001). However, it is unknown whether any relationship exists between attentional resources and visual dependence.

Divided attention may also influence perception of orientation. Yardley et al. (2002) found that both healthy adults and vestibular patients produced greater errors in detecting subjective visual vertical with concurrent arithmetic cognitive tasks, suggesting that monitoring spatial orientation requires a degree of mental effort or attention. Postural instability is increased more when performing concurrent cognitive tasks involving a spatial component than non-spatial component e.g. verbal memory task (Kerr et al., 1985; Lajoie et al., 1996). This suggests that those tasks require a stable spatial framework and thus have an effect on postural control and possibly spatial orientation (Hanes and McCollum, 2006).

The majority of studies have investigated the attentional requirements for postural control by examining the extent of changes in secondary tasks (Kerr et al., 1985, Lajoie et al., 1993, 1996). However, the effect of performing an attentionally demanding task on postural control has received relatively little attention. Decrements in postural stability are greater than those in cognitive measures when performed simultaneously and more prominent in older people (Shumway-Cook et al., 1997). The postural task is usually considered as the primary one and an additional activity is the secondary task to deflect attention from postural control (Kerr et al., 1985).

There are a number of ways of performing a secondary task e.g. pressing a button (motor task, O'Shea et al., 2002), visual memory tasks (visual task, Kerr et al., 1985) and answering questions (verbal task, Yardley et al., 2002). However, motor responses could slightly perturb postural stability or induce anticipatory postural adjustments (Teasdale et al., 1993, Marsh and Geel, 2000, Redfern et al., 2001). The ocular demands of visual fixation could also increase postural stability (Maylor et al., 2001, Stoffregen et al., 1999). Counting aloud significantly increases postural sway but silent counting does not, presumably due to the effects of articulation rather than mental activity *per se* (Yardley et al., 1999).

Some secondary tasks e.g. visual memory (Kerr et al., 1985) or arithmetic (Yardley et al., 2002), are not closely related to everyday tasks known to increase falls risk. Streets are a very common site of falls in older people (Ghodsi, 2003) and they can be caused by multiple factors e.g. pavement cracks, steps, construction work, uneven ground and slippery surfaces (Campbell et al., 1990). One of the factors may be exposure to a noisy background such as traffic or and intermittent sudden auditory distraction e.g. car horn, both of which can induce instability. In addition, being in busy visual environment (vehicles and pedestrians passing by) has also been reported to result in spatial disorientation and imbalance.

Therefore, divided attention may have a negative effect on orientation (Yardley et al., 1998, 1999, 2002) and balance, especially when vision is deprived or

disturbed (Teasdale et al., 1993, Lajoie et al., 1996, Tanaka et al., 2001, Shumway-Cook and Woollacott, 2000). There seems to be a greater effect in the older population who also have been reported to have higher visual dependence (Kobayashi et al., 2002, Slaboda et al., 2009, Bronstein, 1995). Therefore, it is plausible that divided attention may increase visual dependence. The aim of this study was to investigate the effect of auditory distraction on visual dependence for spatial orientation and postural control in both younger and older people.

6.2 Methods

6.2.1 Subjects

Fifteen healthy young (aged 30 ± 1 (mean \pm sem), range 22 - 39 yrs, 11 male; height 170 ± 2 (159 - 182) cm; body mass 64 ± 3 (49 - 82) kg)) and 15 healthy older (aged 70 ± 2 (61 - 83) yrs; 6 male; height 165 ± 2 (147 - 178) cm; mass 72 ± 5 (38 - 119) kg) drawn from university staff or residents from neighbouring community centres gave written informed consent (Appendix 1) to participate in the study, which was approved by the local ethics committee. Inclusion criteria were aged 18 - 40 yrs for younger subjects and >60 yrs for the older ones. The exclusion criteria were any known neurological disorders, a history of peripheral or central vestibular disorders, peripheral somatosensory loss, uncorrected visual impairments and a medical history of epilepsy or migraine or fainting. In addition, because of the balance test, subjects were excluded if they had a recent injury to bone, joint or muscle.

6.2.2 Protocol

Visual dependence was assessed by the RDT (Chapter 2.2.2, page 44) and postural control including static (single and double legged stance; 1LS and 2LS) and dynamic balance measured by a force plate (Chapter 5.2.2, page 108) were conducted with and without auditory distraction (SOUND and NO SOUND respectively). Distraction and condition order were counterbalanced (Fig. 6.1).



Fig. 6.1 The Rod and Disk (RDT) and balance test were conducted with and without sound in counterbalanced order. ^ denotes counterbalanced order.

During a 15 min rest period between visual dependence and balance testing, subjects sat quietly and relaxed with the projected image turned off and the room lights on.

Auditory distraction was provided via stereo speakers (MS16, Behringer, Germany) which played a background of constant traffic noise with intermittent sudden sounds such as car horns, sirens and shouting. The speakers were delivered at 70 - 80 dB, typical of daily traffic noise levels in a noisy urban area (Beranek, 1988). Two pairs of speakers carrying identical sounds were placed 50 cm from the centre of a force plate on which the subjects stood (Fig. 6.2).



Fig. 6.2 The position of speakers. Two-pairs of speakers (A, C and B, D) were placed 50 cm from the middle of a forceplate. Speakers A and B were in front of the subject who stood in the centre of the forceplate while C and D were behind them.

In order to avoid habituation, each sound file was played once only with 6 files (90 s) randomly assigned to the 6 balance tasks (2LS, 1LS, and dynamic balance with and without auditory distraction) and two files to RDT testing (3 min) with and without auditory distraction. Approximately 30 s elapsed between files. Subjects were asked to silently count the number of sudden car horns, sirens and shouting in each trial in order to encourage attention to the sound. The number of intermittent sudden sounds was <6 in 90 s for balance tasks and <10 in 3 min for RDT testing to minimise counting errors.

Subjects completed the Situational Vertigo Questionnaire (SVQ) (Guerraz et al., 2001, Jacob et al., 1989) which consists of 19 questions, with a score from 0 (not at all), 1 (very slightly), 2 (somewhat), 3 (quite a lot) to 4 (very much). It

measures how frequently symptoms (unusual disorientation, dizziness, giddiness, light-headedness or unsteadiness) are provoked or exacerbated in environments with visual-vestibular conflict or intense visual motion e.g. busy supermarket aisles. A score was obtained by dividing the total sum for activities experienced by the number of activities (Appendix 2).

Older subjects only were asked to complete the Falls Efficacy Scale-International (FES-I) (Yardley et al., 2005), which assesses subjects' concerns about falling. It consists of 16 questions related to everyday activities and subjects are asked to rate whether they were "not at all" (a score of 1), "somewhat" (2), "fairly" (3) or "very" (4) concerned about falling when doing that particular activity. The sum scores ranged 16 – 64 with higher scores indicating a greater fear of falling. FES-I scores of \leq 22 are interpreted as a low to moderate level of concern, and scores of \geq 23 as a high level of concern (Delbaere et al., 2010) (Appendix 3).

6.2.3 Data analysis

All data are presented as mean ± standard error of mean (SEM). SPSS (v19.0) was used for all statistical analysis with significance assumed at p<0.05. The Kolmogorov-Smirnov test was used to determine whether data were normally distributed.

Visual dependence

As no significant differences were found in dynamic SVV between clockwise (CW) and counter-clockwise (CCW) directions (Wilcoxon signed-rank test), they were averaged to obtain a mean dynamic SVV as in Chapter 2.

Static and dynamic SVV values were compared with and without sound between and within the two age groups. Static SVV data was normally distributed but dynamic SVV not and so was ranked before parametric testing was performed. Static and dynamic SVV were examined by a two-way ANOVA (group (younger vs. older) X sound (with vs. without)) to determine the effect of group, sound, and interaction between group and sound. A post hoc independent and a paired t-test were used to compare between age groups and between sound with and without respectively.

Static balance

Data from static and dynamic balance was analysed and evaluated in MatLab (R2010a, MathWorks Inc., USA). As no significant differences were noted in sway path length (m) between exposure to rotating discs in the CW and CCW directions (Wilcoxon signed-rank test) in 2LS, 1LS (5s) (sway in 1LS over 5 s) and 1LS (2s) (sway in 1LS for the first 2 s), they were averaged to obtain a mean rotation values (ROT). Sway path length with eyes open (EO), closed (EC) and ROT for 2LS, 1LS (5s) and 1LS (2s) in both age groups were ordered according to rank due to being non-normally distributed. A three-way ANOVA with post hoc multiple comparisons test was used to determine the effect of group

(younger, older), sound (with, without), vision (EO, EC, ROT) and their interaction on path length in 2LS, 1LS (5s) and 1LS (2s) respectively.

The Romberg Quotient (RQ, a ratio of sway path length in EC and EO) and Kinetic Quotient (KQ, a ratio of sway path length in ROT and EO) were calculated to reflect postural stability as affected by lack of vision and a moving visual stimulus respectively. Both parameters were rank ordered due to not normal distribution. To determine the effect of group, sound, and interaction between groups and sound, a two-way ANOVA was applied on RQ and KQ with 2LS, 1LS (5s) and 1LS (2s). A post hoc independent and a paired t-test were used to compare between age groups and between sound with and without respectively.

Dynamic balance

No differences between CW and CCW directions (Wilcoxon signed-rank test) in ML postural deviation were noted, therefore they were averaged to obtain a mean ROT. ML deviation in EO and ROT was normally distributed and a threeway ANOVA with post hoc multiple comparisons test was used to determine the effect of group, sound and vision (EO, ROT), and their interaction on ML deviation.

KQ in dynamic balance (a ratio of ML deviation in EO and ROT) shows the effect of a moving visual stimulus. Because of non-normality it was rank ordered to permit use of a two-way ANOVA to determine the effect of group, sound, and

interaction between group and sound. A post hoc independent and a paired ttest were applied to compare between and within age groups.

COP trajectory on ML direction during the dynamic balance task was illustrated by an XY plot in Excel. Time was represented as percentage of a complete step along the X axis. COP deviation towards right or left from central point was indicated as a positive or negative value in Y-axis. To measure whether the direction of rotating discs affected the direction of ML deviation in both age groups with and without sound, a 3-way ANOVA (direction x group x sound) with post hoc multiple comparisons test was used. To examine whether there was similar variance between the two age groups in a particular condition, the F-Test Two-Sample for Variance was performed.

<u>Questionnaires</u>

SVQ scores were normally distributed in the younger group only, therefore the Mann-Whitney test was used to compare between groups. FES-I data was presented with descriptive statistics only.
6.3 Results

6.3.1 Visual dependence

There was no significant effect of sound or group on static SVV (Fig. 6.3), however the variance was greater in the older group with (p=0.002) and without sound (p=0.02). All static SVV values deviated little from true gravitational vertical. However there was a trend for the deviation to be less with sound, although the individual variation was greater.



Fig. 6.3 (Mean \pm sem) Static SVV with and without sound in younger and older groups. There were no significant differences between groups with or without sound.

However, there was a significant effect of group on dynamic SVV [F(1,14)=8.22, p=0.01] but no effect of sound or interaction (Fig. 6.4). Post-hoc analysis showed that dynamic SVV was significantly higher in the older group with

(p=0.02) and without (p=0.001) sound. Variance was similar between age groups with (p=0.48) and without sound (P=0.42).



Fig. 6.4 (Mean \pm sem) Dynamic SVV with and without sound in younger and older groups. Dynamic SVV was significantly higher in the older group with and without sound. No effect of sound was observed. * Statistically significant difference between groups at p<0.05.

6.3.2 Static balance

Fifteen younger and 15 older subjects were recruited but data from only 14 older subjects were analysed because of missing data. Nine younger (60 %) and 8 older (57 %) subjects chose the right leg for 1LS. All younger but only 7 older subjects were able to perform 1LS for 5 s. Five of the 7 were able to stand on one leg for 5 s without sound but not with. One had the opposite response whilst another could not maintain 1LS for >2 s either with or without sound. Therefore, 1LS for 5 s for all younger and 7 older subjects was analysed and 1LS for 2 s for all younger and 12 older subjects.

<u>2LS</u>

There was an effect of vision (F(2,54)=34.61, p<0.001) and age (F(1,27)=17.12, p<0.001) on sway path length with 2LS (Table 6.1). No significant effect of sound was found under any visual conditions in either group. Older people had greater sway path length than younger group in all conditions (p<0.001). Both age groups had a greater sway path length during EC and ROT than during EO with and without sound (p<0.05), but the postural sway with EC and ROT was not affected by sound in either age group. Variance was similar between age groups in all conditions (p=0.06 – 0.47).

	Younger			Older		
	EO	EC	ROT	EO	EC	ROT
NO SOUND	0.27±0.14	0.35±0.20¥	0.30±0.15¥	0.40±0.07*	0.46±0.08*¥	0.41±0.08*
SOUND	0.26±0.12	$0.28 \pm 0.12^{\text{F}}$	0.28±0.14	0.35±0.07*	0.41±0.08*¥	$0.40 \pm 0.08^{*}$

Table 6.1 (Mean \pm sem) Sway path length (m) with 2LS in EO, EC and ROT with and without sound in younger and older groups. Greater sway path length was found in the older than younger group under all conditions. Younger people had greater sway path length in EC and ROT than EO without sound and in EC than EO with sound whilst older people had greater sway path length in EC than EO without sound and in EC and ROT than EO with sound. * and * denote statistically significant greater sway than younger group and greater sway than EO respectively at p<0.05.

There was no effect of sound or group on RQ with 2LS, however, an effect of group was found on KQ [F(1,27)=20.06, p=0.03] in that older people had a significantly greater KQ with sound (p=0.03) (Fig. 6.5). Also, there was an interaction between group and sound on KQ [F(1,27)=6.23, p=0.02] as in younger people decreased KQ while in older people it increased with sound. Variance was similar between age groups for RQ and KQ with and without sound (p=0.27 – 0.46).



Fig. 6.5 (Mean \pm sem) The a) RQ and b) KQ in 2LS with and without sound in younger and older groups. No effect of sound or group on RQ. There was no effect of sound on KQ but older people had greater KQ than younger people when added sound. * Statistically significant difference between groups at p<0.05.

<u>1LS(5s)</u>

There was a significant effect of vision (F(2,40)=29.66, p<0.001) and group (F(1,20)=13.07, p=0.002) on sway path length with 1LS (5s) (Table 6.2). No significant effect of sound was found under any visual conditions in either group. Older people had a greater sway path length in all conditions (<0.01) except EC with sound. Both age groups had a longer sway path length during EC and ROT than during EO under both sound conditions (p<0.01). Sway path length did not differ between EC and ROT with or without sound in either age group. Variance was similar between age groups in all conditions (p=0.13 – 0.33).

	Younger			Older		
	EO	EC	ROT	EO	EC	ROT
NO SOUND	0.65±0.31	0.96±0.46 [¥]	0.89±0.47¥	1.38±0.32*	3.08±0.95*¥	2.48±0.78*¥
SOUND	0.57±0.24	$1.29 \pm 0.70^{\circ}$	1.46±0.96¥	$1.24 \pm 0.44^*$	2.02±0.75¥	2.39±0.89*¥

Table 6.2 (Mean \pm sem) Sway path length (m) with 1LS (5s) in EO, EC and ROT with and without sound in younger and older groups. Greater sway path length was found in older than younger group in all conditions except the condition of EC with sound. Both younger and older people had greater sway path length in EC and ROT than in EO with and without sound. * and * denote statistically significant greater sway than younger group and greater sway than EO respectively at p<0.05.

For 1LS (5s), no effect of sound or group on RQ was found. There was no effect of group on KQ but there was for sound [F(1,20)=20, p=0.03] in the younger group who had a significantly higher KQ with sound (p=0.048). There was a trend for this in the older people but it did not reach significance (p=0.07) (Fig. 6.6). Variance was similar between age groups for RQ and KQ with and without sound (p=0.08 – 0.13).



Fig. 6.6 (Mean ± sem) The a) RQ and b) KQ in 1LS (5s) with and without sound in younger and older groups. No effect of sound or group was observed on RQ. There was no effect of group but sound on KQ that both age groups had significantly higher KQ with sound than without. * Statistically significant difference between sound conditions at p<0.05. *Nearly significant difference p=0.07

<u>1LS(2s)</u>

There was a significant effect of vision (F(2,50)=25.09, p<0.001) and group (F(1,25)=15.99, p<0.001) on sway path length with 1LS (2s) (Table 6.3). No significant effect of sound was found under any visual conditions in either group. Older people had significantly longer sway path length in each visual and sound condition (p<0.05). Both groups had greater sway path length during EC and ROT than during EO in both sound conditions (p<0.01) except that the sway path was similar between ROT and EO when there was no auditory disturbance in the older group. In contrast, the postural sway did not differ between EC and ROT with or without sound in either age group. Variance was similar between age groups in all conditions (p=0.09 – 0.42).

	Younger			Older		
	EO	EC	ROT	EO	EC	ROT
NO SOUND	0.31±0.15	0.40±0.19¥	0.37±0.19¥	0.50±0.08*	0.83±0.16*¥	0.82±0.16*
SOUND	0.32±0.15	$0.45 \pm 0.20^{\text{F}}$	$0.64 \pm 0.44^{\text{F}}$	0.42±0.09*	0.86±0.26*¥	0.70±0.18*¥

Table 6.3 (Mean \pm sem) Sway path length (m) with 1LS (2s) in EO, EC and ROT with and without sound in younger and older groups. Greater sway path length was found in older than younger group in all conditions. Both younger and older people had greater sway path length in EC and ROT than in EO with sound and no sound but did not occur between ROT and EO without sound in older group. * and * denote statistically significant greater sway than younger group and greater sway than EO respectively at p<0.05.

For 1LS(2s), there was no effect of sound or group on RQ. No effect of sound was observed for KQ but older people had a significantly higher value (F(1,25)=5.49, p=0.03) with sound (p=0.03) (Fig. 6.7). Variance was similar between age groups for KQ and RQ with and without sound (p=0.06 - 0.43).



Fig. 6.7 (Mean \pm sem) RQ and KQ in 1LS (2s) with and without sound in younger and older groups. No effect of sound or group on RQ was found. There was no effect of sound but older people had greater KQ than younger groups with sound but not without. * Statistically significant difference between groups at p<0.05.

6.3.3 Dynamic balance

One young and one older participant failed to complete the dynamic testing and therefore 14 subjects in each group were analysed.

There was no effect of sound but older people had greater ML deviation (F(1,26)=8.49, p=0.007) with (p=0.01) and without (p=0.002) sound (Table 6.4). ML deviation did not differ between EO and ROT in either age group or sound condition. Variance was similar in all conditions (p=0.12 - 0.26).

	You	nger	Older		
	EO	ROT	EO	ROT	
NO SOUND	0.008±0.001	0.009±0.001	0.021±0.005*	0.024±0.005*	
SOUND	0.008 ± 0.001	0.008 ± 0.001	0.018±0.003*	0.021±0.006*	

Table 6.4 (Mean \pm sem) Dynamic balance ML deviation (m) during EO and ROT with and without in both younger and older groups. Older people had a significantly greater ML deviation than younger people in all visual and sound conditions but it did not differ between EO and ROT in either group with and without sound. * Statistically significant greater sway in older than younger group at p<0.05

There was no significant effect of sound or group on KQ (Fig. 6.8). Variance was

similar between age groups for KQ without (p=0.34) and with sound (p=0.44).



Fig. 6.8 (Mean ± sem) KQ dynamic ML balance with and without sound in younger and older groups. No effect of sound or group and interaction was observed.

The direction of postural sway followed that of the disk rotation (F(1,26)=41.12, p<0.001) in both groups and conditions (p<0.001 - 0.009) (Fig. 6.9).



Fig. 6.9 (Mean ± sem) ML deviation with EO (blue), CW (red) and CCW (green) in younger (upper) and older (lower) groups with (right) and without sound (left). A positive and a negative value in the Y-axis indicate postural deviation towards right or left respectively from centre (zero) of forceplate. There was an effect of direction of rotated discs on direction of ML postural deviation with and without sound in both age groups.

6.3.4 Questionnaires

There was no difference in SVQ scores between groups (younger 0.21 ± 0.04 ,

range 0 – 0.47 and older 0.43 \pm 0.11, 0 – 1.26). Older people had a relatively

lower FES-I score of 20.27 ± 0.66 (range 16 – 25) with only 2 of them having

scores >23, indicating a low level of concern about falling.

6.4 Discussion

The aim of this study was to investigate the effect of auditory distraction on visual dependence for both spatial orientation and balance in healthy younger and older people. The findings showed 1) no effect of auditory distraction on either static or dynamic SVV in both age groups. However, dynamic SVV but not static SVV, was significantly higher in the older group; 2) RQ with 1LS and 2LS did not differ with age or distraction; (3) auditory distraction affected KQ with 1LS only in both age groups; older group had greater KQ with 2LS and 1LS than the younger group with added auditory distraction; 3) there was an interaction between group and distraction on KQ with 2LS indicating that younger people decreased KQ when added auditory distraction whilst older people increased it during 2LS; 4) KQ dynamic ML balance did not differ between age groups or with distraction.

Previous studies have found changes in visual dependency with distraction. Yardley et al. (2002) found that healthy younger adults produced greater errors in judging visual vertical when exposed to a visual field rotating with varying angular velocities and with the concurrent performance of a cognitive arithmetic task. However, the present study RDT had a very different protocol with respect to the nature of the distraction and the performance of the RDT. Distraction induced by traffic noise with intermittent sudden sounds which needed to be counted might be relatively easier for subjects and the RDT was certainly easier to perform than in the study of Yardley et al. and these discrepancies might explain the different findings between two studies. Even so, older people have been reported to have a higher dynamic, but not static, SVV than younger people irrespective of auditory distraction, indicating greater visual dependence on vision for spatial orientation (Kobayashi et al., 2002, Bronstein et al., 1996).

However, the results presented in Chapters 2, 3, and 4 found similar levels of visual dependence in the two age groups. The older subjects in this study were older (61 - 83 yrs) than other studies (60 - 79 yrs) in this thesis and it could be possible that the often reported age related increase in visual dependence occurs more in the "older old".

No effect of auditory distraction on RQ during one and two legged standing, irrespective of age, was found in the current study. These findings differed from previous studies that have reported a greater effect of auditory disturbance on balance in absence of visual information (Soames and Raper, 1992, Tanaka et al., 2001). However, KQ was increased (i.e. worsened) during 1LS but not with 2LS with auditory distraction in both age groups. The one legged stance balance was not affected by auditory distraction when the eyes were closed but was when viewing rotating disks, suggesting that auditory distraction may increase postural visual dependence in a visually busy environment. A rotating visual field was reported to have a greater destabilising effect on balance than standing with eyes closed, particularly in older people (Sundermier et al., 1996). This could explain the higher incident of falls by older people when walking in streets (Ghodsi, 2003) that involves both auditory from traffic and visual distraction from vehicles and pedestrians passing by.

155

An effect of auditory distraction was only found in a more challenging situation i.e. standing on one leg exposed to a rotating visual field. Previous studies support the finding that attentional demands increase with the difficulty of the balance task (Lajoie et al., 1993, Shumway-Cook and Woollacott, 2000). The secondary task (auditory distraction) may have been insufficient to have an effect on the control of stance or gait during simple balance tasks, especially for people without balance problems (Lajoie et al., 1996).

There was no effect of age on RQ in contrast to previous studies that have found a greater effect of auditory disturbance on balance with visual deprivation (Soames and Raper, 1992, Tanaka et al., 2001), particularly in older people (Teasdale et al., 1993). However KQ with added auditory distraction was greater in the older group during both single and double legged standing.

Previous studies have reported that older people have greater attentional demands in both simple and challenging tasks (Teasdale et al., 1993, Lajoie et al., 1996, Shumway-Cook et al., 1997, Shumway-Cook and Woollacott, 2000). The older subjects in the present study also showed greater postural imbalance than younger subjects during auditory distraction when standing on one and two legs. An age-related increase in attentional demand may be due to an inability to divide attention between tasks, a reduction in attentional capacity, or associated with impairments in the postural control systems (Melzer et al., 2001, Huxhold et al., 2006, Jamet et al., 2007, Olivier et al., 2010). However, age-differences were only observed when looking at a rotating image but not when eyes were closed with added auditory distraction. This suggests increased

attentional demands for re-weighting at a higher sensory integration level i.e. recognising the discrepancy, selecting and prioritising sensory inputs with conflicting sensory information (Shumway-Cook et al., 2000; Redfern et al., 2001, 2004; Teasdale et al., 2001).

Responses to auditory distraction on balance could be different in younger and older people. The results from the current study showed an interaction effect between group and distraction on KQ during two legged standing, such that balance improved in the younger group but decline in the older one when exposed to both visual and auditory distraction. The improvement in younger people may be associated with increasing cognitive load (Riley et al., 2005). The postural tasks could be easier for younger people and thus the secondary task might provide increased awareness of postural control rather being a distraction. In contrast, older people may find the same postural task more challenging and the secondary task was interpreted as a distraction and the need to share attention. Previous studies have reported the similar results that balance being affected in older people (Shumway-Cook and Woollacott, 2000) but not in younger ones (Palm et al., 2009) when preforming a concurrent cognitive task.

The older subjects in the current study did not have a history of falls and had low level of anxiety and fear of falling. Pervious studies reported that similar older people had slightly higher anxiety levels (Ersoy et al., 2009, Kempen et al., 2007) than those reported here. They did not report any balance problems and the auditory distraction had little effect on them. All subjects were able to correctly count the number of sudden sounds, indicating the secondary task might be relatively easy and not involve substantially greater cognitive processing and therefore not affecting an easy postural task e.g. 2LS (Lemaire, 1996). Both age groups had only very slight symptoms of disorientation, or none at all, suggesting that both younger and older people did not experience difficulty in resolving situations where visual information is complex or inaccurate, and thus their level of visual dependence for orientation and balance were not easily affected by divided attention.

No differences were observed in dynamic ML deviation irrespective of distraction or age. This was assessed by stepping on to a forceplate i.e. a complete step in the walking cycle. Previous studies reported that subjects tended to decrease their walking speed (Ebersbach et al., 1995, Faulkner et al., 2006, Cho et al., 2008) or even stop when performing a secondary task (Lundin-Olsson et al., 1998), but this was not the case in this study. The postural demands of walking are different and more challenging than those for standing (Lajoie et al., 1993). However, digit recall was not affected by walking (Ebersbach et al., 1995) and ML deviation during walking has even decreased when answering math questions (Cho et al., 2008). This may suggest that subjects adopt a "motor degrees of freedom-freezing" strategy to maintain their balance so that the attentional demand associated with controlling multi-joint postural activity can be reduced and thus free up attentional resource to support the cognitive task (Riley et al., 2005). No significant change in dynamic balance ML deviation during auditory distraction was found in the current

158

study but there was a trend of a decrease, suggesting that subjects could have adopted this conservative strategy although that is beyond the scope of this thesis.

Auditory distraction was provided through two pairs of spaced equal-distant from the subjects so that the sound had no obvious directional source (Easton et al., 1998). In order to mimic everyday life as far as possible speakers were used in this study instead of wearing a headphone and the intensity of the sound was 70 - 80 dB (Beranek, 1988).

In conclusion, auditory distraction did not affect visual dependence on spatial orientation in either group. There was also no effect on two legged balance with visual or auditory disturbance in either group. However, it did affect one legged stance balance when looking at a rotating image in both age groups. Dynamic balance was unaffected by auditory distraction or age in either group. These findings indicate that simultaneous auditory and visual disturbance are more likely to affect people with balance problems or less confidence in balance. Daily activities in real life are even more complicated and challenging. Multi-tasking could be engaged in addition to the primary motor task e.g. carry a heavy shopping bag or interacting with someone, that could consume more cognitive load and distract more attention from postural control and therefore increase imbalance and fall risks.

CHAPTER SEVEN SUMMARY AND CONCLUSIONS

7.1 Summary

This thesis presents a series of studies designed to investigate the effect of age on visual dependence for spatial orientation and postural control. Visual dependence is commonly assessed by the RDT (Isableu et al., 1997) presented on a TV monitor. This has pixellation and also vertical frames, both of which may provide orientation cues to influence the estimate of visual verticality (Isableu et al., 2011, Takasaki et al., 2012). Therefore, the work described in Chapter 2 examined the effect of pixellation and visual field shape on static and dynamic SVV values in younger and older healthy subjects. The findings showed visual field shape had no effect on SVV, but pixellation underestimated dynamic visual dependence in younger and older healthy individuals. No effect of age was observed in either static or dynamic SVV. Pixellation produced by digital devices with high fidelity screens could be used subconsciously or consciously to provide cues of verticality. Non-pixellated (projected) presentation of the RDT appears to be preferable for testing visual dependence. The sensitivity of such testing highlights the value of each laboratory obtaining their own dynamic SVV normative values.

There is clear evidence of an adaptation to repetitive visual stimulation on balance, but not on the perceived orientation. Chapter 3 investigated the effect of repetitive visual stimulation by measuring the SVV 5 times with different rest intervals between tests in younger and older subjects. The findings indicated neither an effect of age or repetitive visual RDT stimulation on both static and dynamic SVV, irrespective of whether exposures were at short variable rest intervals (~7 min) or at long fixed rest intervals (fixed 10 min). There are reports of a progressive reduction in postural sway in healthy younger and older adults (Pavlou et al., 2011), as well as older fallers (Sundermier et al., 1996, Jeka et al., 2006) after repeated visual stimulation, possibly due to activation of anticipatory postural adjustments (Horak et al., 1989). The results presented here indicate that repetitive visual stimulation has less influence on the perception of vertical than postural orientation. The data shows that a rest period of 7 min between bouts of visual stimulation was sufficient for any effect of previous exposure to have fully dissipated in people with normal levels of visual dependence, but this might not be the case for those who are visually dependent.

Older people often find balance control more difficult after being in a moving environment such as in a bus (Broome et al., 2009). WBV is commonly used in rehabilitation for its effect on muscle power and balance (Merriman and Jackson, 2009), but few studies have examined the immediate effect, especially on sensory systems. Chapters 4 and 5 investigated visual dependence and postural control respectively before and after postural disturbance provided by WBV in younger and older healthy subjects. The study presented in Chapter 4 was the first to investigate the effect of WBV on visual dependence. The findings showed decreased visual dependence after WBV in the younger group only, suggesting that the increased sensory stimulation generated, presumably proprioceptive and vestibular inputs, or adaptation to repetitive stimulation of visual judder can reduce the reliance on vision (Slaboda et al., 2009, Bronstein,

161

1995). This effect in young people lasted for 20 min, in agreement with previous studies (Wierzbicka et al., 1998, Sonza et al., 2013) on the duration of either sensory or motor changes resulting from vibration caused by any type of vibration lasted from 20 min (Wierzbicka et al., 1998) to 2 hours (Sonza et al., 2013). No such compensation occurred in older people. They may have less flexible and slower adaptive multi-sensory reweighting abilities and lack such an effective adjustment to response an external influence (Horak et al., 1989).

The study presented in Chapter 5 found no significant effect of WBV on static or dynamic balance under all visual conditions in both age groups. However there was a trend for postural sway to decrease after vibration in both age groups which was more obvious in one legged stance. This partly supports previous studies which reported that during relatively unchallenging balance tasks, such as two legged stance, WBV may have no effect (Carlucci et al., 2010, Dickin et al., 2012), although it may have a greater effect when balance is more challenged, such as with one legged stance (Schlee et al., 2012). This study partly supports the findings reported in Chapter 4 suggesting that an acute effect of WBV may be positive effects that decrease the level of visual dependence on both spatial orientation and postural control in both age groups. The use of WBV with older and clinical populations is growing and therefore safety is crucial. None of the younger or older subjects lost their balance during or after WBV which was well tolerated, in line with a review by Rittweger (2010) considering healthy subjects of all ages and various clinical groups. Therefore these results suggest that WBV could be a new exercise modality for the rehabilitation of visual dependence and postural control.

Divided attention could also possibly disturb balance control systems and make visual control more important. Chapter 6 provided auditory distractions by playing a background of traffic noise with intermittent sounds common in outside environments i.e. car horns, sirens and shouting. Auditory distraction did not affect the judgment of spatial orientation during static or dynamic RDT testing in either age group. There was also no effect on static two legged balance with visual deprivation or auditory disturbance in either group. However one legged stance balance was adversely affected, but only when looking at a rotating image, in both younger and older groups. Dynamic balance was unaffected by auditory distraction or age in either group. This leads to speculation that auditory and visual distraction is more likely to affect people with balance problems or less confidence in balance. Normal daily activities are even more complicated and challenging and could distract more attention from postural control and therefore increase instability and fall risks. Balancing tasks with added auditory distraction in visually busy environment could be used clinically as a form of exercise programme to improve postural control in challenging environments. It could help those who have a fear of falling, especially when walking outdoors, to regain a sense of confidence.

7.2 Healthy ageing and visual dependence

Several studies have reported higher visual dependence in older adults for both perceived orientation and postural control (Wade et al., 1995, Bronstein et al., 1996, Sundermier et al., 1996, Borger et al., 1999, Kobayashi et al., 2002). This is often thought to be due to either age- or disease- related peripheral sensory impairments in the proprioceptive and/or vestibular systems (Guerraz et al., 2001, Slaboda et al., 2009). However, the older subjects in Chapters 2, 3, and 4 did not show significantly increased visual dependence. Also, similar RQ and KQ values between age groups in Chapters 5 and 6 suggested that the sway of the older people was not affected by visual disturbance to a greater degree than that of the younger people. This could be because subjects with known peripheral sensory loss were excluded from these studies. Visual dependence may be more related to sensory impairments rather than chronological age. In fact some older subjects had similar or even lower dynamic visual dependence than younger ones and similar results have also been observed in other studies (Borger et al., 1999, Sundermier et al., 1996, Teasdale et al., 1991).

The older subjects studied in this thesis were all healthy with high function in physical and cognitive terms. As a result they may not have been representative of their age group in which an increased visual dependence with age has been reported (Bronstein et al., 1996, Kobayashi et al., 2002) but instead represent a group with particularly successful functional ageing (Rowe and Kahn, 1987). It is possible that previous studies may have overestimated the effect of age in visual dependence as our healthy and highly functioning older people had relatively low visual dependence. Visual dependence might be more related to age-declined sensory impairments rather than ageing *per se* and this would be another reason to encourage older people to stay physically and mentally active.

7.3 Future recommendations

The RDT is influenced by visual acuity and contrast sensitivity – which both decline with age. Therefore, it would be interesting to investigate their impact on visual dependence.

There was an absence of adaptation on the perception of visual vertical when the rest periods between bouts of visual stimulation were \sim 7 min. However the effect of shorter rest intervals between repeated RDT tests on both visual dependence and balance needs to be evaluated.

A rotating WBV platform was used in these studies, but many WBV machines vibrate vertically. The sensation is very different, even when the same amplitudes and frequencies are used, so these results cannot be extrapolated to vertically rotating machines. An acute effect of WBV could decrease the level of visual dependence and improve postural control. If that is the case, it is worth to investigate in future studies whether WBV could be a new intervention to decrease the level of visual dependence. However, whether the effects were a direct result of WBV itself or due to practice and learning are unclear.

7.4 Limitations

The older subjects studied in this thesis were all healthy as well as physically and mentally active and lived independently in the community. Thus they may not be representative of their age group and certainly were not representative of similarly aged people in sheltered or residential accommodation. Therefore, the results presented here may only apply to this particular older population.

No effects of age on visual dependence were observed except for those presented in Chapter 6. Those subjects were older than in other studies and it is possible that visual dependence is more affected by age in 'older old' (75 - 84 yrs) or 'oldest old' group (>85 yrs) rather than young old (65 - 74 yrs). Future research should investigate visual dependence in healthy older people in different age bands over the age spectrum.

The sample size of subjects in these studies was relatively small and this might result in a type II error due to the studies being underpowered. For instance, from the baseline data of the subjects studied in Chapter 2, power calculations estimate that 25 subjects in each age group are required to detect a change in the dynamic SVV between age groups with a power of 80% and *alpha* of 0.05. Future studies need to determine the appropriate numbers of participants beforehand in order to achieve the desired level of power and the results will be more robust.

7.5 Conclusion

The work presented in this thesis represents a series of novel studies of visual dependence and age. Although the subject number in these studies was relatively small, they have generated new and sometimes unexpected findings, often challenging conventional beliefs. They have also identified some

166

directions for future research in this field. The key finding that was repeated in different studies was that ageing *per se* may not lead to increased visual dependence in healthy people. Thus study populations should be homogenous with respect to age, health and both physical and mental capacity.

References

ABERCROMBY, A. F., AMONETTE, W. E., LAYNE, C. S., MCFARLIN, B. K., HINMAN, M. R. & PALOSKI, W. H. 2007. Vibration exposure and biodynamic responses during whole-body vibration training. Med Sci Sports Exerc, 39, 1794-800.

ABRAHAMOVA, D., MANCINI, M., HLAVACKA, F. & CHIARI, L. 2009. The agerelated changes of trunk responses to Achilles tendon vibration. Neurosci Lett, 467, 220-4.

ADAMCOVA, N. & HLAVACKA, F. 2007. Modification of human postural responses to soleus muscle vibration by rotation of visual scene. Gait Posture, 25, 99-105.

AGARWAL, K., BRONSTEIN, A. M., FALDON, M. E., MANDALA, M., MURRAY, K. & SILOVE, Y. 2012. Visual dependence and BPPV. J Neurol, 259, 1117-24.

ALLISON, L. K., KIEMEL, T. & JEKA, J. J. 2006. Multisensory reweighting of vision and touch is intact in healthy and fall-prone older adults. Experimental brain research, 175, 342-352.

ALLUM, J. H., BLOEM, B. R., CARPENTER, M. G., HULLIGER, M. & HADDERS-ALGRA, M. 1998. Proprioceptive control of posture: a review of new concepts. Gait Posture, 8, 214-242.

AMBLARD, B., CREMIEUX, J., MARCHAND, A. & CARBLANC, A. 1985. Lateral orientation and stabilization of human stance: static versus dynamic visual cues. Experimental brain research, 61, 21-37.

ANASTASOPOULOS, D., HASLWANTER, T., BRONSTEIN, A., FETTER, M. & DICHGANS, J. 1997. Dissociation between the perception of body verticality and the visual vertical in acute peripheral vestibular disorder in humans. Neurosci Lett, 233, 151-3.

ANDERSSON, G., HAGMAN, J., TALIANZADEH, R., SVEDBERG, A. & LARSEN, H. C. 2003. Dual-task study of cognitive and postural interference in patients with vestibular disorders. Otol Neurotol, 24, 289-93.

ANIANSSON, A., HEDBERG, M., HENNING, G. B. & GRIMBY, G. 1986. Muscle morphology, enzymatic activity, and muscle strength in elderly men: a follow-up study. Muscle Nerve, 9, 585-91.

ASAI, H., FUJIWARA, K. & TACHINO, K. 1994. Limiting factor for movable range of the center of foot pressure in backward direction. Vestibular and Neural Front. Elsevier, Amsterdam, 525-528.

BAGUST, J. 2005. Assessment of verticality perception by a rod-and-frame test: preliminary observations on the use of a computer monitor and video eye glasses. Archives of physical medicine and rehabilitation, 86, 1062-1064.

BALOH, R. & HALMAGYI, G. 1996. Disorders of the vestibular system, New York, Oxford University Press.

BARBIERI, G., GISSOT, A. S., FOUQUE, F., CASILLAS, J. M., POZZO, T. & PERENNOU, D. 2008. Does proprioception contribute to the sense of verticality? Exp Brain Res, 185, 545-52.

BARNETT-COWAN, M., DYDE, R. T., FOX, S. H., MORO, E., HUTCHISON, W. D. & HARRIS, L. R. 2010. Multisensory determinants of orientation perception in Parkinson's disease. Neuroscience, 167, 1138-50.

BASMAJIAN, J. 1962. Muscles alive. Their functions revealed by electromyography. Academic Medicine, 37, 802.

BAUTMANS, I., VAN HEES, E., LEMPER, J. C. & METS, T. 2005. The feasibility of Whole Body Vibration in institutionalised elderly persons and its influence on muscle performance, balance and mobility: a randomised controlled trial [ISRCTN62535013]. BMC Geriatr, 5, 17.

BEDIENT, A. M., ADAMS, J. B., EDWARDS, D. A., SERRAVITE, D. H., HUNTSMAN, E., MOW, S. E., ROOS, B. A. & SIGNORILE, J. F. 2009. Displacement and frequency for maximizing power output resulting from a bout of whole-body vibration. J Strength Cond Res, 23, 1683-7.

BERGIN, P. S., BRONSTEIN, A. M., MURRAY, N. M., SANCOVIC, S. & ZEPPENFELD, D. K. 1995. Body sway and vibration perception thresholds in normal aging and in patients with polyneuropathy. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry, 58, 335-40.

BISDORFF, A. R., WOLSLEY, C. J., ANASTASOPOULOS, D., BRONSTEIN, A. M. & GRESTY, M. A. 1996. The perception of body verticality (subjective postural vertical) in peripheral and central vestibular disorders. Brain, 119 (Pt 5), 1523-34.

BLACK, F. & NASHNER, L. 1985. Postural control in four classes of vestibular abnormalities. IN: Igarashi M., Black FO, eds. Vestibular and visual control of posture and locomotor equilibrium,. Basel: Karger.

BLAND, M. J. & ALTMAN, D. G. 1986. Statistical Methods for Assessing Agreement between two methods of clinical measurement. The Lancet, 327, 307-310.

BLOEM, B. R., VALKENBURG, V. V., SLABBEKOORN, M. & WILLEMSEN, M. D. 2001. The Multiple Tasks Test: development and normal strategies. Gait Posture, 14, 191-202.

BONAN, I. V., GUETTARD, E., LEMAN, M. C., COLLE, F. M. & YELNIK, A. P. 2006. Subjective visual vertical perception relates to balance in acute stroke. Archives of physical medicine and rehabilitation, 87, 642-646.

BORGER, L. L., WHITNEY, S. L., REDFERN, M. S. & FURMAN, J. M. 1999. The influence of dynamic visual environments on postural sway in the elderly. J Vestib Res, 9, 197-205.

BOSCO, C., COLLI, R., INTROINI, E., CARDINALE, M., TSARPELA, O., MADELLA, A., TIHANYI, J. & VIRU, A. 1999. Adaptive responses of human skeletal muscle to vibration exposure. Clin Physiol, 19, 183-7.

BOVE, M., FENOGGIO, C., TACCHINO, A., PELOSIN, E. & SCHIEPPATI, M. 2009. Interaction between vision and neck proprioception in the control of stance. Neuroscience, 164, 1601-8.

BRADY, R. A., PETERS, B. T., BATSON, C. D., PLOUTZ-SNYDER, R., MULAVARA, A. P. & BLOOMBERG, J. J. 2012. Gait adaptability training is affected by visual dependency. Exp Brain Res, 220, 1-9.

BRITTON, T. C., DAY, B. L., BROWN, P., ROTHWELL, J. C., THOMPSON, P. D. & MARSDEN, C. D. 1993. Postural electromyographic responses in the arm and leg following galvanic vestibular stimulation in man. Exp Brain Res, 94, 143-51.

BRONSTEIN, A. M. & HOOD, J. D. 1986. The cervico-ocular reflex in normal subjects and patients with absent vestibular function. Brain Res, 373, 399-408.

BRONSTEIN, A. M. 1986. Suppression of visually evoked postural responses. Exp Brain Res, 63, 655-8.

BRONSTEIN, A. M. 1988. Evidence for a vestibular input contributing to dynamic head stabilization in man. Acta Otolaryngol, 105, 1-6.

BRONSTEIN, A. M. 1995. Visual vertigo syndrome: clinical and posturography findings. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry, 59, 472-6.

BRONSTEIN, A. M. 1999. The interaction of otolith and proprioceptive information in the perception of verticality. The effects of labyrinthine and CNS disease. Ann N Y Acad Sci, 871, 324-33.

BRONSTEIN, A. M., HOOD, J. D., GRESTY, M. A. & PANAGI, C. 1990. Visual control of balance in cerebellar and parkinsonian syndromes. Brain, 113 (Pt 3), 767-79.

BRONSTEIN, A. M., YARDLEY, L., MOORE, A. P. & CLEEVES, L. 1996. Visually and posturally mediated tilt illusion in Parkinson's disease and in labyrinthine defective subjects. Neurology, 47, 651-6.

BRONSTEIN, A., YARDLEY, L., MOORE, A. & CLEEVES, L. 1996. Visually and posturally mediated tilt illusion in Parkinson's disease and in labyrinthine defective subjects. Neurology, 47, 651-656.

BROOME, K., MCKENNA, K., FLEMING, J. & WORRALL, L. 2009. Bus use and older people: a literature review applying the Person-Environment-Occupation model in macro practice. Scand J Occup Ther, 16, 3-12.

BRUCE, M. F. 1980. The relation of tactile thresholds to histology in the fingers of elderly people. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry, 43, 730-4.

BRUCE, V. 2003. Visual perception: Physiology, psychology, and ecology, Psychology Press.

BUATOIS, S., GUEGUEN, R., GAUCHARD, G. C., BENETOS, A. & PERRIN, P. P. 2006. Posturography and risk of recurrent falls in healthy non-institutionalized persons aged over 65. Gerontology, 52, 345-52.

BUCHANAN, J. J. & HORAK, F. B. 2001. Vestibular loss disrupts control of head and trunk on a sinusoidally moving platform. J Vestib Res, 11, 371-89.

BURKE, J. R., SCHUTTEN, M. C., KOCEJA, D. M. & KAMEN, G. 1996. Age-dependent effects of muscle vibration and the Jendrassik maneuver on the patellar tendon reflex response. Arch Phys Med Rehabil, 77, 600-4.

BUTCHART, P., FARQUHAR, R., PART, N. J. & ROBERTS, R. C. 1993. The effect of age and voluntary contraction on presynaptic inhibition of soleus muscle la afferent terminals in man. Exp Physiol, 78, 235-42.

CAMICIOLI, R., PANZER, V. P. & KAYE, J. 1997. Balance in the healthy elderly: posturography and clinical assessment. Arch Neurol, 54, 976-81.

CAMPBELL, A. J., BORRIE, M. J., SPEARS, G. F., JACKSON, S. L., BROWN, J. S. & FITZGERALD, J. L. 1990. Circumstances and consequences of falls experienced by a community population 70 years and over during a prospective study. Age Ageing, 19, 136-41.

CARDINALE, M. & RITTWEGER, J. 2006. Vibration exercise makes your muscles and bones stronger: fact or fiction? J Br Menopause Soc, 12, 12-8.

CARLUCCI, F., MAZZA, C. & CAPPOZZO, A. 2010. Does whole-body vibration training have acute residual effects on postural control ability of elderly women? J Strength Cond Res, 24, 3363-8.

CEYTE, H., CIAN, C., ZORY, R., BARRAUD, P. A., ROUX, A. & GUERRAZ, M. 2007. Effect of Achilles tendon vibration on postural orientation. Neurosci Lett, 416, 71-5.

CHEUNG, W. H., MOK, H. W., QIN, L., SZE, P. C., LEE, K. M. & LEUNG, K. S. 2007. High-frequency whole-body vibration improves balancing ability in elderly women. Arch Phys Med Rehabil, 88, 852-7.

CHO, C. Y., GILCHRIST, L. & WHITE, S. 2008. A Comparison between young and old adults in their ability to rapidly sidestep during gait when attention is divided. Gerontology, 54, 120-7.

COCHRANE, D. J. & STANNARD, S. R. 2005. Acute whole body vibration training increases vertical jump and flexibility performance in elite female field hockey players. Br J Sports Med, 39, 860-5.

CODISPOTI, M., FERRARI, V. & BRADLEY, M. M. 2007. Repetition and eventrelated potentials: distinguishing early and late processes in affective picture perception. Journal of Cognitive Neuroscience, 19, 577-586.

COLLINGRIDGE, G. L., ISAAC, J. T. & WANG, Y. T. 2004. Receptor trafficking and synaptic plasticity. Nat Rev Neurosci, *5*, 952-62.

CONNELLY, D. M., CARNAHAN, H. & VANDERVOORT, A. A. 2000. Motor skill learning of concentric and eccentric isokinetic movements in older adults. Exp Aging Res, 26, 209-28.

CORDO, P., GURFINKEL, V. S., BEVAN, L. & KERR, G. K. 1995. Proprioceptive consequences of tendon vibration during movement. J Neurophysiol, 74, 1675-88.

COURTINE, G., DE NUNZIO, A. M., SCHMID, M., BERETTA, M. V. & SCHIEPPATI, M. 2007. Stance- and locomotion-dependent processing of vibration-induced proprioceptive inflow from multiple muscles in humans. J Neurophysiol, 97, 772-9.

DA SILVA-GRIGOLETTO, M. E., VAAMONDE, D. M., CASTILLO, E., POBLADOR, M. S., GARCIA-MANSO, J. M. & LANCHO, J. L. 2009. Acute and cumulative effects of different times of recovery from whole body vibration exposure on muscle performance. J Strength Cond Res, 23, 2073-82.

DAY, B. L., GUERRAZ, M. & COLE, J. 2002. Sensory interactions for human balance control revealed by galvanic vestibular stimulation. Adv Exp Med Biol, 508, 129-37.

DELBAERE, K., CLOSE, J. C., MIKOLAIZAK, A. S., SACHDEV, P. S., BRODATY, H. & LORD, S. R. 2010. The Falls Efficacy Scale International (FES-I). A comprehensive longitudinal validation study. Age Ageing, 39, 210-6.

DI GIMINIANI, R., TIHANYI, J., SAFAR, S. & SCRIMAGLIO, R. 2009. The effects of vibration on explosive and reactive strength when applying individualized vibration frequencies. J Sports Sci, 27, 169-77.

DICHGANS, J., HELD, R., YOUNG, L. R. & BRANDT, T. 1972. Moving visual scenes influence the apparent direction of gravity. Science, 178, 1217-9.

DICKIN, D. C., MCCLAIN, M. A., HUBBLE, R. P., DOAN, J. B. & SESSFORD, D. 2012. Changes in postural sway frequency and complexity in altered sensory environments following whole body vibrations. Hum Mov Sci, 31, 1238-46.

DIENER, H. C., DICHGANS, J., GUSCHLBAUER, B. & BACHER, M. 1986. Role of visual and static vestibular influences on dynamic posture control. Hum Neurobiol, 5, 105-13.

DIENER, H. C., DICHGANS, J., GUSCHLBAUER, B. & MAU, H. 1984. The significance of proprioception on postural stabilization as assessed by ischemia. Brain Res, 296, 103-9.

DIETZ, V., TRIPPEL, M. & HORSTMANN, G. A. 1991. Significance of Proprioceptive and Vestibulo - Spinal Reflexes in the Control of Stance and Gait. In: AFTAB, E. P. (ed.) Advances in Psychology. North-Holland.

DOBIE, T. G., MAY, J. G., GUTIERREZ, C. & HELLER, S. S. 1990. The transfer of adaptation between actual and simulated rotary stimulation. Aviat Space Environ Med, 61, 1085-91.

DOCHERTY, S. & BAGUST, J. 2010. From line to dots: an improved computerised rod and frame system for testing subjective visual vertical and horizontal. BMC research notes, 3, 9.

DOZZA, M., CHIARI, L., CHAN, B., ROCCHI, L., HORAK, F. B. & CAPPELLO, A. 2005. Influence of a portable audio-biofeedback device on structural properties of postural sway. J Neuroeng Rehabil, 2, 13.

DUNCAN, P. W., CHANDLER, J., STUDENSKI, S., HUGHES, M. & PRESCOTT, B. 1993. How do physiological components of balance affect mobility in elderly men? Arch Phys Med Rehabil, 74, 1343-9.

DU PASQUIER, R. A., BLANC, Y., SINNREICH, M., LANDIS, T., BURKHARD, P. & VINGERHOETS, F. J. 2003. The effect of aging on postural stability: a crosssectional and longitudinal study. *Neurophysiol Clin*, 33, 213-8.

EASTON, R. D., GREENE, A. J., DIZIO, P. & LACKNER, J. R. 1998. Auditory cues for orientation and postural control in sighted and congenitally blind people. Exp Brain Res, 118, 541-50.

EBERSBACH, G., DIMITRIJEVIC, M. R. & POEWE, W. 1995. Influence of concurrent tasks on gait: a dual-task approach. Percept Mot Skills, 81, 107-13.

ERA, P. & HEIKKINEN, E. 1985. Postural sway during standing and unexpected disturbance of balance in random samples of men of different ages. J Gerontol, 40, 287-95.

ERSOY, Y., MACWALTER, R. S., DURMUS, B., ALTAY, Z. E. & BAYSAL, O. 2009. Predictive effects of different clinical balance measures and the fear of falling on falls in postmenopausal women aged 50 years and over. Gerontology, 55, 660-5.

FAULKNER, K. A., REDFERN, M. S., ROSANO, C., LANDSITTEL, D. P., STUDENSKI, S. A., CAULEY, J. A.,

ZMUDA, J. M., SIMONSICK, E. M., KRITCHEVSKY, S. B. & NEWMAN, A. B. 2006. Reciprocal influence of concurrent walking and cognitive testing on performance in older adults. Gait Posture, 24, 182-9.

FETTER, M., DIENER, H. C. & DICHGANS, J. 1990. Recovery of postural control after an acute unilateral vestibular lesion in humans. J Vestib Res, 1, 373-83.

FISCHER, H., FURMARK, T., WIK, G. & FREDRIKSON, M. 2000. Brain representation of habituation to repeated complex visual stimulation studied with PET. Neuroreport, 11, 123-6.

FITZPATRICK, R. C. & DAY, B. L. 2004. Probing the human vestibular system with galvanic stimulation. J Appl Physiol, 96, 2301-16.

FITZPATRICK, R., BURKE, D. & GANDEVIA, S. C. 1994. Task-dependent reflex responses and movement illusions evoked by galvanic vestibular stimulation in standing humans. J Physiol, 478 (Pt 2), 363-72.

FONTANA, T. L., RICHARDSON, C. A. & STANTON, W. R. 2005. The effect of weight-bearing exercise with low frequency, whole body vibration on lumbosacral proprioception: a pilot study on normal subjects. Aust J Physiother, 51, 259-63.

FRANSSON, P. A., HAFSTROM, A., KARLBERG, M., MAGNUSSON, M., TJADER, A. & JOHANSSON, R. 2003a. Postural control adaptation during galvanic vestibular and vibratory proprioceptive stimulation. IEEE Trans Biomed Eng, 50, 1310-9.

FRANSSON, P. A., JOHANSSON, R., TJERNSTROM, F. & MAGNUSSON, M. 2003b. Adaptation to vibratory perturbations in postural control. IEEE Eng Med Biol Mag, 22, 53-7.

FRANSSON, P. A., KRISTINSDOTTIR, E. K., HAFSTROM, A., MAGNUSSON, M. & JOHANSSON, R. 2004. Balance control and adaptation during vibratory perturbations in middle-aged and elderly humans. Eur J Appl Physiol, 91, 595-603.

FRANSSON, P. A., TJERNSTROM, F., HAFSTROM, A., MAGNUSSON, M. & JOHANSSON, R. 2002. Analysis of short- and long-term effects of adaptation in human postural control. Biol Cybern, 86, 355-65.

FUKUDA, T. 1984. Statokinetic reflexes in equilibrium and movement. Auris Nasus Larynx, 11, 118.

GAGEY, P. M. & TOUPET, M. 1991. Orthostatic postural control in vestibular neuritis: a stabilometric analysis. Ann Otol Rhinol Laryngol, 100, 971-5.

GEHLSEN, G. M. & WHALEY, M. H. 1990. Falls in the elderly: Part II, Balance, strength, and flexibility. Arch Phys Med Rehabil, 71, 739-41.

GHODSI, S. M., ROUDSARI, B. S., ABDOLLAHI, M. & SHADMAN, M. 2003. Fall-related injuries in the elderly in Tehran. Injury, 34, 809-814.

GILDEN, D., BLAKE, R. & HURST, G. 1995. Neural adaptation of imaginary visual motion. Cognitive psychology, 28, 1-16.

GOMEZ, S., PATEL, M., MAGNUSSON, M., JOHANSSON, L., EINARSSON, E. J. & FRANSSON, P. A. 2009. Differences between body movement adaptation to calf and neck muscle vibratory proprioceptive stimulation. Gait Posture, 30, 93-9.

GOTO, F., KOBAYASHI, H., SAITO, A., HAYASHI, Y., HIGASHINO, K., KUNIHIRO, T. & KANZAKI, J. 2003. Compensatory changes in static and dynamic subjective visual vertical in patients following vestibular schwanoma surgery. Auris Nasus Larynx, 30, 29-33.

GRIFFIN, M. J. 1975. Levels of whole-body vibration affecting human vision. Aviat Space Environ Med, 46, 1033-40.

GRIFFIN, M. J. 1976. Eye motion during whole-body vertical vibration. Hum Factors, 18, 601-6.

GRILL-SPECTOR, K., HENSON, R. & MARTIN, A. 2006. Repetition and the brain: neural models of stimulus-specific effects. Trends in Cognitive Sciences, 10, 14-23.

GUERRAZ, M., YARDLEY, L., BERTHOLON, P., POLLAK, L., RUDGE, P., GRESTY, M. & BRONSTEIN, A. 2001. Visual vertigo: symptom assessment, spatial orientation and postural control. Brain, 124, 1646-1656.

GYGI, B. & SHAFIRO, V. 2013. Auditory and Cognitive Effects of Aging on Perception of Environmental Sounds in Natural Auditory Scenes. J Speech Lang Hear Res.

HAFSTROM, A., FRANSSON, P.-A., KARLBERG, M. & MAGNUSSON, M. 2004. Ipsilesional visual field dependency for patients with vestibular schwannoma. Neuroreport, 15, 2201-2204.

HAMANN, K. F. & SCHUSTER, E. M. 1999. Vibration-induced nystagmus - A sign of unilateral vestibular deficit. ORL J Otorhinolaryngol Relat Spec, 61, 74-9.

HANES, D. A. & MCCOLLUM, G. 2006. Cognitive-vestibular interactions: a review of patient difficulties and possible mechanisms. J Vestib Res, 16, 75-91.

HAZIME, F. A., ALLARD, P., IDE, M. R., SIQUEIRA, C. M., AMORIM, C. F. & TANAKA, C. 2012. Postural control under visual and proprioceptive perturbations during double and single limb stances: insights for balance training. J Bodyw Mov Ther, 16, 224-9.

HELD, R., DICHGANS, J. & BAUER, J. 1975. Characteristics of moving visual scenes influencing spatial orientation. Vision Research, 15, 357-IN1.

HORAK, F. & SHUPERT, C. 1994. Role of the vestibular system in postural control. Vestibular rehabilitation. Philadelphia: Davis.

HORAK, F. B. & NASHNER, L. M. 1986. Central programming of postural movements: adaptation to altered support-surface configurations. J Neurophysiol, 55, 1369-81.

HORAK, F. B. 1987. Clinical measurement of postural control in adults. Phys Ther, 67, 1881-5.

HORAK, F. B. 2006. Postural orientation and equilibrium: what do we need to know about neural control of balance to prevent falls? Age Ageing, 35 Suppl 2, ii7-ii11.

HORAK, F. B., DIENER, H. & NASHNER, L. 1989. Influence of central set on human postural responses. Journal of Neurophysiology, 62, 841-853.

HORAK, F. B., NASHNER, L. M. & DIENER, H. C. 1990. Postural strategies associated with somatosensory and vestibular loss. Exp Brain Res, 82, 167-77.

HORAK, F. B., SHUPERT, C. L. & MIRKA, A. 1989. Components of postural dyscontrol in the elderly: a review. Neurobiol Aging, 10, 727-38.

HOWARD, I. 1982. Human visual orientation, Chichester, John Wiley.

HOWARD, I. P. & CHILDERSON, L. 1994. The contribution of motion, the visual frame, and visual polarity to sensations of body tilt. PERCEPTION-LONDON-, 23, 753-753.

HUGHES, P., BRECHER, G. & FISHKIN, S. 1972. Effects of rotating backgrounds upon the perception of verticality. Perception & Psychophysics, 11, 135-138.

HUWELER, R., KANDIL, F. I., ALPERS, G. W. & GERLACH, A. L. 2009. The impact of visual flow stimulation on anxiety, dizziness, and body sway in individuals with and without fear of heights. Behav Res Ther, 47, 345-52.

HUXHOLD, O., LI, S. C., SCHMIEDEK, F. & LINDENBERGER, U. 2006. Dual-tasking postural control: aging and the effects of cognitive demand in conjunction with focus of attention. Brain Res Bull, 69, 294-305.

HWANG, J. H., LEE, C. H., CHANG, H. J. & PARK, D. S. 2013. Sequential analysis of postural control resource allocation during a dual task test. Ann Rehabil Med, 37, 347-54.

ISABLEU, B., FOURRE, B., VUILLERME, N., GIRAUDET, G. & AMORIM, M. A. 2011. Differential integration of visual and kinaesthetic signals to upright stance. Exp Brain Res, 212, 33-46.

ISABLEU, B., GUEGUEN, M., FOURRÉ, B., GIRAUDET, G. & AMORIM, M.-A. 2008. Assessment of visual field dependence: comparison between the mechanical 3D rod-and-frame test developed by Oltman in 1968 with a 2D computer-based version. Journal of Vestibular Research, 18, 239-247.

ISABLEU, B., OHLMANN, T., CRÉMIEUX, J. & AMBLARD, B. 1997b. Selection of spatial frame of reference and postural control variability. Experimental Brain Research, 114, 584-589.

ISABLEU, B., OHLMANN, T., CRÉMIEUX, J. & AMBLARD, B. 1998. How dynamic visual field dependence–independence interacts with the visual contribution to postural control. Human Movement Science, 17, 367-391.

ISABLEU, B., OHLMANN, T., CREMIEUX, J., VUILLERME, N., AMBLARD, B. & GRESTY, M. A. 2010. Individual differences in the ability to identify, select and use appropriate frames of reference for perceptuo-motor control. Neuroscience, 169, 1199-215.

ISHIHARA, Y., IZUMIZAKI, M., ATSUMI, T. & HOMMA, I. 2004. Aftereffects of mechanical vibration and muscle contraction on limb position-sense. Muscle Nerve, 30, 486-92.

IVERS, R. Q., CUMMING, R. G., MITCHELL, P. & ATTEBO, K. 1998. Visual impairment and falls in older adults: the Blue Mountains Eye Study. J Am Geriatr Soc, 46, 58-64.

JACOB, R. G., LILIENFELD, S. O., FURMAN, J. M. R., DURRANT, J. D. & TURNER, S. M. 1989. Panic disorder with vestibular dysfunction: Further clinical observations and description of space and motion phobic stimuli. Journal of Anxiety Disorders, 3, 117-130.

ACOBSON, G. P., MCCASLIN, D. L., GRANTHAM, S. L. & PIKER, E. G. 2008. Significant vestibular system impairment is common in a cohort of elderly patients referred for assessment of falls risk. J Am Acad Audiol, 19, 799-807.

JAMET, M., DEVITERNE, D., GAUCHARD, G. C., VANCON, G. & PERRIN, P. P. 2007. Age-related part taken by attentional cognitive processes in standing postural control in a dual-task context. Gait Posture, 25, 179-84.

JEKA, J. J. & LACKNER, J. R. 1994. Fingertip contact influences human postural control. Exp Brain Res, 100, 495-502.

JEKA, J. J. & LACKNER, J. R. 1995. The role of haptic cues from rough and slippery surfaces in human postural control. Exp Brain Res, 103, 267-76.

JEKA, J. J., OIE, K. S. & KIEMEL, T. 2008. Asymmetric adaptation with functional advantage in human sensorimotor control. Exp Brain Res, 191, 453-63.

JEKA, J., ALLISON, L., SAFFER, M., ZHANG, Y., CARVER, S. & KIEMEL, T. 2006. Sensory reweighting with translational visual stimuli in young and elderly adults: the role of state-dependent noise. Exp Brain Res, 174, 517-27.

JI, R. R., KOHNO, T., MOORE, K. A. & WOOLF, C. J. 2003. Central sensitization and LTP: do pain and memory share similar mechanisms? Trends Neurosci, 26, 696-705.

JORDAN, M. J., NORRIS, S. R., SMITH, D. J. & HERZOG, W. 2005. Vibration training: an overview of the area, training consequences, and future considerations. J Strength Cond Res, 19, 459-66.

JUDGE, J. O., KING, M. B., WHIPPLE, R., CLIVE, J. & WOLFSON, L. I. 1995. Dynamic balance in older persons: effects of reduced visual and proprioceptive input. J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci, 50, M263-70.

KAHNEMAN, D. 1973. Attention and effort, Englewood Cliffs, NJ: Prentice Hall.

KAPLAN, F. S., NIXON, J. E., REITZ, M., RINDFLEISH, L. & TUCKER, J. 1985. Agerelated changes in proprioception and sensation of joint position. Acta Orthop Scand, 56, 72-4.

KARLBERG, M., AW, S. T., HALMAGYI, G. M. & BLACK, R. A. 2002. Vibrationinduced shift of the subjective visual horizontal: a sign of unilateral vestibular deficit. Arch Otolaryngol Head Neck Surg, 128, 21-7.

KARNATH, H. O., FERBER, S. & DICHGANS, J. 2000. The neural representation of postural control in humans. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 97, 13931-6.

KASAI, T., KAWANISHI, M. & YAHAGI, S. 1992. The effects of wrist muscle vibration on human voluntary elbow flexion-extension movements. Exp Brain Res, 90, 217-20.
KAYE, J. A., OKEN, B. S., HOWIESON, D. B., HOWIESON, J., HOLM, L. A. & DENNISON, K. 1994. Neurologic evaluation of the optimally healthy oldest old. Arch Neurol, 51, 1205-11.

KEMPEN, G. I., TODD, C. J., VAN HAASTREGT, J. C., ZIJLSTRA, G. A., BEYER, N., FREIBERGER, E., HAUER, K. A., PIOT-ZIEGLER, C. & YARDLEY, L. 2007. Crosscultural validation of the Falls Efficacy Scale International (FES-I) in older people: results from Germany, the Netherlands and the UK were satisfactory. Disabil Rehabil, 29, 155-62.

KENSHALO, D. R., SR. 1986. Somesthetic sensitivity in young and elderly humans. J Gerontol, 41, 732-42.

KERR, B., CONDON, S. M. & MCDONALD, L. A. 1985. Cognitive spatial processing and the regulation of posture. J Exp Psychol Hum Percept Perform, 11, 617-22.

KINSELLA-SHAW, J. M., HARRISON, S. J., COLON-SEMENZA, C. & TURVEY, M. T. 2006. Effects of visual environment on quiet standing by young and old adults. J Mot Behav, 38, 251-64.

KITAMURA, F. & MATSUNAGA, K. 1990. Field dependence and body balance. Percept Mot Skills, 71, 723-34.

KOBAYASHI, H., HAYASHI, Y., HIGASHINO, K., SAITO, A., KUNIHIRO, T., KANZAKI, J. & GOTO, F. 2002. Dynamic and static subjective visual vertical with aging. Auris Nasus Larynx, 29, 325-328.

KOHN, A. 2007. Visual Adaptation: Physiology, Mechanisms, and Functional Benefits. Journal of Neurophysiology, 97, 3155-3164.

KRISTINSDOTTIR, E. K., FRANSSON, P. A. & MAGNUSSON, M. 2001. Changes in postural control in healthy elderly subjects are related to vibration sensation, vision and vestibular asymmetry. Acta Otolaryngol, 121, 700-6.

KUO, A. D., SPEERS, R. A., PETERKA, R. J. & HORAK, F. B. 1998. Effect of altered sensory conditions on multivariate descriptors of human postural sway. Exp Brain Res, 122, 185-95.

LACKNER, J. R. & DIZIO, P. 2005. Vestibular, proprioceptive, and haptic contributions to spatial orientation. Annu Rev Psychol, 56, 115-47.

LACKNER, J. R. 1977. Induction of illusory self-rotation and nystagmus by a rotating sound-field. Aviat Space Environ Med, 48, 129-31.

LAJOIE, Y., TEASDALE, N., BARD, C. & FLEURY, M. 1993. Attentional demands for static and dynamic equilibrium. Exp Brain Res, 97, 139-44.

LAPPE, M., BREMMER, F. & VAN DEN BERG, A. V. 1999. Perception of selfmotion from visual flow. Trends in Cognitive Sciences, 3, 329-336.

LAU, R. W., TEO, T., YU, F., CHUNG, R. C. & PANG, M. Y. 2011. Effects of wholebody vibration on sensorimotor performance in people with Parkinson disease: a systematic review. Phys Ther, 91, 198-209.

LAZARUS, N. R. & HARRIDGE, S. D. 2010. Exercise, physiological function, and the selection of participants for aging research. J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci, 65, 854-7.

LEDIN, T., ODKVIST, L. M., VRETHEM, M. & MOLLER, C. 1990. Dynamic posturography in assessment of polyneuropathic disease. J Vestib Res, 1, 123-8.

LEE, D. & LISHMAN, J. 1975. Visual proprioceptive control of stance. Journal of Human Movement Studies, 1(2), 87-95.

LEMAIRE, P. 1996. The Role of Working Memory Resources in Simple Cognitive Arithmetic. European Journal of Cognitive Psychology, 8, 73-104.

LESTIENNE, F., BERTHOZ, A., MASCOT, J. C. & KOITCHEVA, V. 1976. Postural effects induced by a visual scene in linear movement. Agressologie, 17, 37-46.

LESTIENNE, F., SOECHTING, J. & BERTHOZ, A. 1977. Postural readjustments induced by linear motion of visual scenes. Exp Brain Res, 28, 363-84.

LIN, S. I. & WOOLLACOTT, M. 2005. Association between sensorimotor function and functional and reactive balance control in the elderly. Age Ageing, 34, 358-63.

LOPEZ, C., LACOUR, M., AHMADI, A. E., MAGNAN, J. & BOREL, L. 2007. Changes of visual vertical perception: a long-term sign of unilateral and bilateral vestibular loss. Neuropsychologia, 45, 2025-37.

LOPEZ, C., LACOUR, M., LÉONARD, J., MAGNAN, J. & BOREL, L. 2008. How body position changes visual vertical perception after unilateral vestibular loss. Neuropsychologia, 46, 2435-2440.

LOPEZ, C., LACOUR, M., MAGNAN, J. & BOREL, L. 2006. Visual field dependenceindependence before and after unilateral vestibular loss. Neuroreport, 17, 797-803.

LORD, S. R. & WARD, J. A. 1994. Age-associated differences in sensori-motor function and balance in community dwelling women. Age Ageing, 23, 452-60.

LORD, S. R. & WEBSTER, I. W. 1990. Visual field dependence in elderly fallers and non-fallers. The International Journal of Aging and Human Development, 31, 267-277.

LORD, S. R. & WEBSTER, I. W. 1990. Visual field dependence in elderly fallers and non-fallers. Int J Aging Hum Dev, 31, 267-77.

LORD, S. R. 2006. Visual risk factors for falls in older people. Age Ageing, 35 Suppl 2, ii42-ii45.

LORD, S. R., CLARK, R. D. & WEBSTER, I. W. 1991a. Physiological factors associated with falls in an elderly population. J Am Geriatr Soc, 39, 1194-200.

LORD, S. R., CLARK, R. D. & WEBSTER, I. W. 1991b. Postural stability and associated physiological factors in a population of aged persons. J Gerontol, 46, M69-76.

LOUGHLIN, P. J. & REDFERN, M. S. 2001. Spectral characteristics of visually induced postural sway in healthy elderly and healthy young subjects. IEEE Trans Neural Syst Rehabil Eng, 9, 24-30.

LOUGHLIN, P. J., REDFERN, M. S. & FURMAN, J. M. 1996. Time-varying characteristics of visually induced postural sway. IEEE Trans Rehabil Eng, 4, 416-24.

LUNDIN-OLSSON, L., NYBERG, L. & GUSTAFSON, Y. 1997. "Stops walking when talking" as a predictor of falls in elderly people. Lancet. England.

LUNDIN-OLSSON, L., NYBERG, L. & GUSTAFSON, Y. 1998. Attention, frailty, and falls: the effect of a manual task on basic mobility. J Am Geriatr Soc, 46, 758-61.

LUYAT, M., OHLMANN, T. & BARRAUD, P. A. 1997. Subjective vertical and postural activity. Acta Psychol (Amst), 95, 181-93.

MAGNUSSON, M., ANDERSSON, G., GOMEZ, S., JOHANSSON, R., MARTENSSON, A., KARLBERG, M. & FRANSSON, P. A. 2006. Cervical muscle afferents play a dominant role over vestibular afferents during bilateral vibration of neck muscles. J Vestib Res, 16, 127-36.

MAGNUSSON, M., ENBOM, H., JOHANSSON, R. & WIKLUND, J. 1990. Significance of pressor input from the human feet in lateral postural control. The effect of hypothermia on galvanically induced body-sway. Acta Otolaryngol, 110, 321-7.

MAHONEY, J. R., LI, P. C., OH-PARK, M., VERGHESE, J. & HOLTZER, R. 2011. Multisensory integration across the senses in young and old adults. Brain Res, 1426, 43-53.

MAKI, B. E. & MCILROY, W. E. 1996. Influence of arousal and attention on the control of postural sway. J Vestib Res, 6, 53-9.

MANCHESTER, D., WOOLLACOTT, M., ZEDERBAUER-HYLTON, N. & MARIN, O. 1989. Visual, vestibular and somatosensory contributions to balance control in the older adult. J Gerontol, 44, M118-27.

MARSH, A. P. & GEEL, S. E. 2000. The effect of age on the attentional demands of postural control. Gait Posture, 12, 105-13.

MASDEU, J. C., WOLFSON, L., LANTOS, G., TOBIN, J. N., GROBER, E., WHIPPLE, R. & AMERMAN, P. 1989. Brain white-matter changes in the elderly prone to falling. Arch Neurol, 46, 1292-6.

MAURER, C., MERGNER, T., BOLHA, B. & HLAVACKA, F. 2000. Vestibular, visual, and somatosensory contributions to human control of upright stance. Neurosci Lett, 281, 99-102.

MAYLOR, E. A. & WING, A. M. 1996. Age differences in postural stability are increased by additional cognitive demands. J Gerontol B Psychol Sci Soc Sci, 51, P143-54.

MAYLOR, E. A., ALLISON, S. & WING, A. M. 2001. Effects of spatial and nonspatial cognitive activity on postural stability. Br J Psychol, 92 Part 2, 319-338.

MCILROY, W. E., NORRIE, R. G., BROOKE, J. D., BISHOP, D. C., NELSON, A. J. & MAKI, B. E. 1999. Temporal properties of attention sharing consequent to disturbed balance. Neuroreport, 10, 2895-9.

MEDINA, J. 1996. The Clock of Ages: Why We Age, How We Age. Cambridge, MA: Cambridge Univ. Press.

MELZER, I., BENJUYA, N. & KAPLANSKI, J. 2001. Age-related changes of postural control: effect of cognitive tasks. Gerontology, 47, 189-94.

MERRIMAN, H. & JACKSON, K. 2009. The effects of whole-body vibration training in aging adults: a systematic review. J Geriatr Phys Ther, 32, 134-45.

MOEZY, A., OLYAEI, G., HADIAN, M., RAZI, M. & FAGHIHZADEH, S. 2008. A comparative study of whole body vibration training and conventional training on knee proprioception and postural stability after anterior cruciate ligament reconstruction. Br J Sports Med, 42, 373-8.

MORIMOTO, K., FAHNESTOCK, M. & RACINE, R. J. 2004. Kindling and status epilepticus models of epilepsy: rewiring the brain. Prog Neurobiol, 73, 1-60.

NAATANEN, R. & WINKLER, I. 1999. The concept of auditory stimulus representation in cognitive neuroscience. Psychol Bull, 125, 826-59.

NAKAGAWA, H., OHASHI, N., WATANABE, Y. & MIZUKOSHI, K. 1993. The contribution of proprioception to posture control in normal subjects. Acta Otolaryngol Suppl, 504, 112-6.

NARDONE, A. & SCHIEPPATI, M. 2004. Group II spindle fibres and afferent control of stance. Clues from diabetic neuropathy. Clin Neurophysiol, 115, 779-89.

NARDONE, A., TARANTOLA, J., MISCIO, G., PISANO, F., SCHENONE, A. & SCHIEPPATI, M. 2000. Loss of large-diameter spindle afferent fibres is not detrimental to the control of body sway during upright stance: evidence from neuropathy. Exp Brain Res, 135, 155-62.

NASHNER, L. 1981. Analysis of stance posture in humans. Handbook of behavioral neurobiology.

NASHNER, L. 1993. Computerised dynamic posturography. IN: Jacobson GP, Newman CW, Kartush JM, eds. Handbook of balance function testing., St Louis, MO, Mosby Year Book.

NASHNER, L. M. 1976. Adapting reflexes controlling the human posture. Exp Brain Res, 26, 59-72.

NASHNER, L. M. 1982. Adaptation of human movement to altered environments. Trends in Neurosciences, 5, 358-361 %@ 0166-2236.

NASHNER, L. M. 1997. Physiology of balance, with special reference to the healthy elderly. Gait disorders of aging: falls and therapeutic strategies, 37-53.

NASHNER, L. M., BLACK, F. O. & WALL, C., 3RD 1982. Adaptation to altered support and visual conditions during stance: patients with vestibular deficits. J Neurosci, 2, 536-44.

NELSON, J. R. 1968. Long-term effects of acoustic neuroma surgery. Arch Otolaryngol, 88, 675-86.

NELSON, W. T., HETTINGER, L. J., CUNNINGHAM, J. A., BRICKMAN, B. J., HAAS, M. W. & MCKINLEY, R. L. 1998. Effects of localized auditory information on visual target detection performance using a helmet-mounted display. Hum Factors, 40, 452-60.

NEVITT, M. C., CUMMINGS, S. R., KIDD, S. & BLACK, D. 1989. Risk factors for recurrent nonsyncopal falls. A prospective study. Jama, 261, 2663-8.

NOGUCHI, Y., INUI, K. & KAKIGI, R. 2004. Temporal dynamics of neural adaptation effect in the human visual ventral stream. J Neurosci, 24, 6283-90.

O'CONNOR, K. W., LOUGHLIN, P. J., REDFERN, M. S. & SPARTO, P. J. 2008. Postural adaptations to repeated optic flow stimulation in older adults. Gait Posture, 28, 385-91.

O'CONNOR, S. M. & KUO, A. D. 2009. Direction-dependent control of balance during walking and standing. J Neurophysiol, 102, 1411-9.

ÖHMAN, A., ERIKSSON, A., FREDRIKSSON, M., HUGDAHL, K. & OLOFSSON, C. 1974. Habituation of the electrodermal orienting reaction to potentially phobic and supposedly neutral stimuli in normal human subjects. Biological Psychology, 2, 85-93.

OIE, K. S., KIEMEL, T. & JEKA, J. J. 2002. Multisensory fusion: simultaneous reweighting of vision and touch for the control of human posture. Brain Res Cogn Brain Res, 14, 164-76.

OLIVIER, I., CUISINIER, R., VAUGOYEAU, M., NOUGIER, V. & ASSAIANTE, C. 2010. Age-related differences in cognitive and postural dual-task performance. Gait Posture, 32, 494-9.

OLTMAN, P. K. 1968. A portable rod-and-frame apparatus. Perceptual and Motor Skills, 26, 503-506.

O'SHEA, S., MORRIS, M. E. & IANSEK, R. 2002. Dual task interference during gait in people with Parkinson disease: effects of motor versus cognitive secondary tasks. Phys Ther, 82, 888-97.

OVERSTALL, P. 2004. Falls and gait disorders in elderly- principles of rehabilitation. In: Bronstein AM, Brandt T., Woollacott MH., Nutt JG Clinical disorders of balance, posture and gait. 2nd ed. London: Hodder Arnold.

OWEN, D. H. 1985. Maintaining posture and avoiding tripping. Optical information for detecting and controlling orientation and locomotion. Clin Geriatr Med, 1, 581-99.

PALM, H. G., STROBEL, J., ACHATZ, G., VON LUEBKEN, F. & FRIEMERT, B. 2009. The role and interaction of visual and auditory afferents in postural stability. Gait Posture, 30, 328-33.

PATEL, M., GOMEZ, S., LUSH, D. & FRANSSON, P. A. 2009. Adaptation and vision change the relationship between muscle activity of the lower limbs and body movement during human balance perturbations. Clin Neurophysiol, 120, 601-9.

PAULUS, W. M., STRAUBE, A. & BRANDT, T. 1984. Visual stabilization of posture. Physiological stimulus characteristics and clinical aspects. Brain, 107 (Pt 4), 1143-63.

PAULUS, W., STRAUBE, A. & BRANDT, T. H. 1987. Visual postural performance after loss of somatosensory and vestibular function. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry, 50, 1542-5.

PAVLOU, M., BRONSTEIN, A. M. & DAVIES, R. A. 2013. Randomized trial of supervised versus unsupervised optokinetic exercise in persons with peripheral vestibular disorders. Neurorehabil Neural Repair, 27, 208-18.

PAVLOU, M., KANEGAONKAR, R., SWAPP, D., BAMIOU, D., SLATER, M. & LUXON, L. 2012. The effect of virtual reality on visual vertigo symptoms in patients with peripheral vestibular dysfunction: A pilot study. Journal of Vestibular Research, 22, 273-281.

PAVLOU, M., QUINN, C., MURRAY, K., SPYRIDAKOU, C., FALDON, M. & BRONSTEIN, A. M. 2011. The effect of repeated visual motion stimuli on visual dependence and postural control in normal subjects. Gait & posture, 33, 113-118.

PETERKA, R. 2002. Sensorimotor integration in human postural control. Journal of Neurophysiology, 88, 1097-1118.

PETERKA, R. J. & BLACK, F. O. 1990. Age-related changes in human posture control: sensory organization tests. J Vestib Res, 1, 73-85.

PETERKA, R. J. & LOUGHLIN, P. J. 2004. Dynamic regulation of sensorimotor integration in human postural control. J Neurophysiol, 91, 410-23.

PITTS, D. 1982. The effects of aging on selected visual functions. IN: Sekuler R., Kline DW., Dismukes K (Eds.) Aging in Human Visual Functions. Liss, New York.

POLLOCK, R. D., PROVAN, S., MARTIN, F. C. & NEWHAM, D. J. 2011. The effects of whole body vibration on balance, joint position sense and cutaneous sensation. Eur J Appl Physiol, 111, 3069-77.

POLLOCK, R. D., WOLEDGE, R. C., MARTIN, F. C. & NEWHAM, D. J. 2012. Effects of whole body vibration on motor unit recruitment and threshold. J Appl Physiol 112, 388-95.

POTHULA, V. B., CHEW, F., LESSER, T. H. & SHARMA, A. K. 2004. Falls and vestibular impairment. Clin Otolaryngol Allied Sci, 29, 179-82.

PRIPLATA, A. A., NIEMI, J. B., HARRY, J. D., LIPSITZ, L. A. & COLLINS, J. J. 2003. Vibrating insoles and balance control in elderly people. Lancet, 362, 1123-4.

PYYKKO, I., JANTTI, P. & AALTO, H. 1990. Postural control in elderly subjects. Age Ageing, 19, 215-21.

PYYKKO, I., MANSSON, M., MATSUOKA, I., ITO, S. & HINOKI, M. 1982. Effects of pure-tone sound, impulse noise, and vibration on visual orientation. Am J Otolaryngol, 3, 104-11.

RANKIN, G. & STOKES, M. 1998. Reliability of assessment tools in rehabilitation: an illustration of appropriate statistical analyses. Clin Rehabil, 12, 187-99.

RANKIN, J. K., WOOLLACOTT, M. H., SHUMWAY-COOK, A. & BROWN, L. A. 2000. Cognitive influence on postural stability: a neuromuscular analysis in young and older adults. J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci, 55, M112-9. RAPER, S. A. & SOAMES, R. W. 1991. The influence of stationary auditory fields on postural sway behaviour in man. Eur J Appl Physiol Occup Physiol, 63, 363-7.

RAY, C. T., HORVAT, M., CROCE, R., MASON, R. C. & WOLF, S. L. 2008. The impact of vision loss on postural stability and balance strategies in individuals with profound vision loss. Gait Posture, 28, 58-61.

REDFERN, M. S., JENNINGS, J. R., MARTIN, C. & FURMAN, J. M. 2001. Attention influences sensory integration for postural control in older adults. Gait Posture, 14, 211-6.

REDFERN, M. S., TALKOWSKI, M. E., JENNINGS, J. R. & FURMAN, J. M. 2004. Cognitive influences in postural control of patients with unilateral vestibular loss. Gait Posture, 19, 105-14. Disord, 15, 81-94.

REDFERN, M. S., YARDLEY, L. & BRONSTEIN, A. M. 2001b. Visual influences on balance. Journal of anxiety disorders, 15, 81-94.

REES, S. S., MURPHY, A. J. & WATSFORD, M. L. 2009. Effects of whole body vibration on postural steadiness in an older population. J Sci Med Sport, 12, 440-4.

RIBOT-CISCAR, E., VEDEL, J. P. & ROLL, J. P. 1989. Vibration sensitivity of slowly and rapidly adapting cutaneous mechanoreceptors in the human foot and leg. Neurosci Lett, 104, 130-5.

RILEY, M. A., BAKER, A. A., SCHMIT, J. M. & WEAVER, E. 2005. Effects of visual and auditory short-term memory tasks on the spatiotemporal dynamics and variability of postural sway. J Mot Behav, 37, 311-24.

RITTWEGER, J. 2010. Vibration as an exercise modality: how it may work, and what its potential might be. Eur J Appl Physiol, 108, 877-904.

RITTWEGER, J., DI PRAMPERO, P. E., MAFFULLI, N. & NARICI, M. V. 2009. Sprint and endurance power and ageing: an analysis of master athletic world records. Proc Biol Sci, 276, 683-9.

ROGAN, S., HILFIKER, R., HERREN, K., RADLINGER, L. & DE BRUIN, E. D. 2011. Effects of whole-body vibration on postural control in elderly: a systematic review and meta-analysis. BMC Geriatr, 11, 72.

ROLL, J. & ROLL, R. 1988. From eye to foot: a proprioceptive chain involved in postural control. Posture and gait, 155-164.

ROLL, J. P., VEDEL, J. P. & RIBOT, E. 1989. Alteration of proprioceptive messages induced by tendon vibration in man: a microneurographic study. Exp Brain Res, 76, 213-22.

ROSENHALL, U. & RUBIN, W. 1975. Degenerative changes in the human vestibular sensory epithelia. Acta Otolaryngol, 79, 67-80.

ROWE, J. W. & KAHN, R. L. 1987. Human aging: usual and successful. Science, 237, 143-149.

RUBIN, C., POPE, M., FRITTON, J. C., MAGNUSSON, M., HANSSON, T. & MCLEOD, K. 2003. Transmissibility of 15-hertz to 35-hertz vibrations to the human hip and lumbar spine: determining the physiologic feasibility of delivering low-level anabolic mechanical stimuli to skeletal regions at greatest risk of fracture because of osteoporosis. Spine (Phila Pa 1976), 28, 2621-7.

SCHLEE, G., RECKMANN, D. & MILANI, T. L. 2012. Whole body vibration training reduces plantar foot sensitivity but improves balance control of healthy subjects. Neurosci Lett, 506, 70-3.

SCHMID, M., NARDONE, A., DE NUNZIO, A. M. & SCHIEPPATI, M. 2007. Equilibrium during static and dynamic tasks in blind subjects: no evidence of cross-modal plasticity. Brain, 130, 2097-107.

SCHMIDT, R. F. & ALTNER, H. 1986. Fundamentals of sensory physiology. Springer.

SCHUHFRIED, O., MITTERMAIER, C., JOVANOVIC, T., PIEBER, K. & PATERNOSTRO-SLUGA, T. 2005. Effects of whole-body vibration in patients with multiple sclerosis: a pilot study. Clin Rehabil, 19, 834-42.

SEIDEL, H. 1988. Myoelectric reactions to ultra-low frequency and low-frequency whole body vibration. Eur J Appl Physiol Occup Physiol, 57, 558-62.

SEIDEL, H., SCHUSTER, U., MENZEL, G., NIKOLAJEWITSCH KUREROV, N., RICHTER, J., SCHAJPAK, E. J., BLUTHNER, R., MEISTER, A. & ULLSPERGER, P. 1990. Changes in auditory evoked brain potentials during ultra-low frequency whole-body vibration of man or of his visual surround. Eur J Appl Physiol Occup Physiol, 61, 356-61.

SHROUT, P. E. & FLEISS, J. L. 1979. Intraclass correlations: uses in assessing rater reliability. Psychological bulletin, 86, 420.

SHUMWAY-COOK, A. & WOOLLACOTT, M. 2000. Attentional demands and postural control: the effect of sensory context. J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci, 55, M10-6.

SHUMWAY-COOK, A. W. M. H. 2012. Motor control : translating research into clinical practice, Philadelphia, Wolters Kluwer Health/Lippincott Williams & Wilkins.

SHUMWAY-COOK, A., WOOLLACOTT, M., KERNS, K. A. & BALDWIN, M. 1997. The effects of two types of cognitive tasks on postural stability in older adults with and without a history of falls. J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci, 52, M232-40.

SHUPERT, C. L. & HORAK, F. B. 1996. Effects of vestibular loss on head stabilization in response to head and body perturbations. J Vestib Res, 6, 423-37.

SIMONEAU, M., TEASDALE, N., BOURDIN, C., BARD, C., FLEURY, M. & NOUGIER, V. 1999. Aging and postural control: postural perturbations caused by changing the visual anchor. J Am Geriatr Soc, 47, 235-40.

SKELTON, D. A., GREIG, C. A., DAVIES, J. M. & YOUNG, A. 1994. Strength, power and related functional ability of healthy people aged 65-89 years. Age Ageing, 23, 371-7.

SKINNER, H. B., BARRACK, R. L. & COOK, S. D. 1984. Age-related decline in proprioception. Clin Orthop Relat Res, 208-11.

SLABODA, J. C., BARTON, J. E., MAITIN, I. B. & KESHNER, E. A. 2009. Visual field dependence influences balance in patients with stroke. Conf Proc IEEE Eng Med Biol Soc, 2009, 1147-50.

SLOANE, P. D., BALOH, R. W. & HONRUBIA, V. 1989. The vestibular system in the elderly: clinical implications. Am J Otolaryngol, 10, 422-9.

SOAMES, R. W. & RAPER, S. A. 1992. The influence of moving auditory fields on postural sway behaviour in man. Eur J Appl Physiol Occup Physiol, 65, 241-5.

SONZA, A., MAURER, C., ACHAVAL, M., ZARO, M. A. & NIGG, B. M. 2013. Human cutaneous sensors on the sole of the foot: altered sensitivity and recovery time after whole body vibration. Neurosci Lett, 533, 81-5.

STOFFREGEN, T. A., SMART, L. J., BARDY, B. G. & PAGULAYAN, R. J. 1999. Postural stabilization of looking. Journal of Experimental Psychology: Human Perception and Performance, 25, 1641-1658.

STREEPEY, J. W., KENYON, R. V. & KESHNER, E. A. 2007. Visual motion combined with base of support width reveals variable field dependency in healthy young adults. Exp Brain Res, 176, 182-7.

STREINER, D. L. & NORMAN, G. R. 2008. Health measurement scales: a practical guide to their development and use, Oxford University Press, USA.

STUDENSKI, S., DUNCAN, P. W. & CHANDLER, J. 1991. Postural responses and effector factors in persons with unexplained falls: results and methodologic issues. J Am Geriatr Soc, 39, 229-34.

STURNIEKS, D. L., ST GEORGE, R. & LORD, S. R. 2008. Balance disorders in the elderly. Neurophysiol Clin, 38, 467-78.

SUNDERMIER, L., WOOLLACOTT, M. H., JENSEN, J. L. & MOORE, S. 1996. Postural sensitivity to visual flow in aging adults with and without balance problems. J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci, 51, M45-52.

TAKALA, E. P., KORHONEN, I. & VIIKARI-JUNTURA, E. 1997. Postural sway and stepping response among working population: reproducibility, long-term stability, and associations with symptoms of the low back. *Clin Biomech (Bristol, Avon)*, 12, 429-437.

TAKASAKI, H., TRELEAVEN, J., JOHNSTON, V. & JULL, G. 2012. Minimum repetitions for stable measures of visual dependency using the dot version of the computer-based Rod-Frame test. Manual therapy, 17, 466-469.

TAKEMORI, S., IDA, M. & UMEZU, H. 1985. Vestibular training after sudden loss of vestibular functions. ORL J Otorhinolaryngol Relat Spec, 47, 76-83.

TALBOTT, R. E. & BROOKHART, J. M. 1980. A predictive model study of the visual contribution to canine postural control. Am J Physiol, 239, R80-92.

TALIS, V. L. & SOLOPOVA, I. A. 2000. Vibration-induced postural reaction continues after the contact with additional back support. Motor Control, 4, 407-19.

TANAKA, T., KOJIMA, S., TAKEDA, H., INO, S. & IFUKUBE, T. 2001. The influence of moving auditory stimuli on standing balance in healthy young adults and the elderly. *Ergonomics*, 44, 1403-12.

TANG, P. F. & WOOLLACOTT, M. 2004. Balance control in older adults. Clinical disorders of balance, posture, and gait, 2nd edn. Oxford University Press, New York, 385-403.

TARANTOLA, J., NARDONE, A., TACCHINI, E. & SCHIEPPATI, M. 1997. Human stance stability improves with the repetition of the task: effect of foot position and visual condition. Neurosci Lett, 228, 75-8.

TEASDALE, N., BARD, C., LARUE, J. & FLEURY, M. 1993. On the cognitive penetrability of posture control. Exp Aging Res, 19, 1-13.

TEASDALE, N., STELMACH, G. E. & BREUNIG, A. 1991. Postural sway characteristics of the elderly under normal and altered visual and support surface conditions. Journal of Gerontology, 46, B238-B244.

TEASDALE, N., STELMACH, G. E., BREUNIG, A. & MEEUWSEN, H. J. 1991. Age differences in visual sensory integration. Exp Brain Res, 85, 691-6.

THELEN, D. G., BROCKMILLER, C., ASHTON-MILLER, J. A., SCHULTZ, A. B. & ALEXANDER, N. B. 1998. Thresholds for sensing foot dorsi- and plantarflexion

during upright stance: effects of age and velocity. J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci, 53, M33-8.

THOMPSON, C., BELANGER, M. & FUNG, J. 2007. Effects of bilateral Achilles tendon vibration on postural orientation and balance during standing. Clin Neurophysiol, 118, 2456-67.

THOMPSON, C., BELANGER, M. & FUNG, J. 2011. Effects of plantar cutaneomuscular and tendon vibration on posture and balance during quiet and perturbed stance. Hum Mov Sci, 30, 153-71.

THYSSEN, H. H., BRYNSKOV, J., JANSEN, E. C. & MUNSTER-SWENDSEN, J. 1982. Normal ranges and reproducibility for the quantitative Romberg's test. *Acta Neurol Scand*, 66, 100-4.

TOPP, R., MIKESKY, A. & THOMPSON, K. 1998. Determinants of four functional tasks among older adults: an exploratory regression analysis. J Orthop Sports Phys Ther, 27, 144-53.

TORVINEN, S., KANNU, P., SIEVANEN, H., JARVINEN, T. A., PASANEN, M., KONTULAINEN, S., JARVINEN, T. L., JARVINEN, M., OJA, P. & VUORI, I. 2002a. Effect of a vibration exposure on muscular performance and body balance. Randomized cross-over study. Clin Physiol Funct Imaging, 22, 145-52.

TRANS, T., AABOE, J., HENRIKSEN, M., CHRISTENSEN, R., BLIDDAL, H. & LUND, H. 2009. Effect of whole body vibration exercise on muscle strength and proprioception in females with knee osteoarthritis. Knee, 16, 256-61.

TURBANSKI, S., HAAS, C. T., SCHMIDTBLEICHER, D., FRIEDRICH, A. & DUISBERG, P. 2005. Effects of random whole-body vibration on postural control in Parkinson's disease. Res Sports Med, 13, 243-56.

VAN ASTEN, W. N., GIELEN, C. C. & DENIER VAN DER GON, J. J. 1988. Postural adjustments induced by simulated motion of differently structured environments. Exp Brain Res, 73, 371-83.

VAN NES, I. J., GEURTS, A. C., HENDRICKS, H. T. & DUYSENS, J. 2004. Short-term effects of whole-body vibration on postural control in unilateral chronic stroke patients: preliminary evidence. Am J Phys Med Rehabil, 83, 867-73.

VAUGOYEAU, M., HAKAM, H. & AZULAY, J. P. 2011. Proprioceptive impairment and postural orientation control in Parkinson's disease. Hum Mov Sci, 30, 405-14.

VEDEL, J. P. & ROLL, J. P. 1982. Response to pressure and vibration of slowly adapting cutaneous mechanoreceptors in the human foot. Neurosci Lett, 34, 289-94.

VITTE, E., SEMONT, A. & BERTHOZ, A. 1994. Repeated optokinetic stimulation in conditions of active standing facilitates recovery from vestibular deficits. Exp Brain Res, 102, 141-8.

WADE, M. 1990. Impact of optical flow on postural control in normal and mentally handicapped persons. IN: Vermeer A. ed. Motor Development: Adapted Physical Activity and Mental Retardation. Basel, Switzerland: S.Karger AG., Medical and Scientific Publishers.

WADE, M. G., LINDQUIST, R., TAYLOR, J. R. & TREAT-JACOBSON, D. 1995. Optical flow, spatial orientation, and the control of posture in the elderly. The Journals of Gerontology Series B: Psychological Sciences and Social Sciences, 50, P51-P54.

WALTHER, L. E. & WESTHOFEN, M. 2007. Presbyvertigo-aging of otoconia and vestibular sensory cells. J Vestib Res, 17, 89-92.

WANG, Y., KENYON, R. V. & KESHNER, E. A. Virtual scene velocity influences postural responses to an inclined base of support. 2008. IEEE, 41-44 %@ 1424427002.

WAXMAN, S. 1999. The visual system. Correlative neuroanatomy. Appleton & Lange.

WEERAKKODY, N. S., MAHNS, D. A., TAYLOR, J. L. & GANDEVIA, S. C. 2007. Impairment of human proprioception by high-frequency cutaneous vibration. J Physiol, 581, 971-80.

WHIPPLE, R., WOLFSON, L., DERBY, C., SINGH, D. & TOBIN, J. 1993. Altered sensory function and balance in older persons. J Gerontol, 48 Spec No, 71-6.

WICKENS, C. D. 1989. Attention and skilled performance. Human skills (2nd ed.). Oxford, England: John Wiley & Sons.

WIERZBICKA, M. M., GILHODES, J. C. & ROLL, J. P. 1998. Vibration-induced postural posteffects. J Neurophysiol, 79, 143-50.

WITKIN, H., LEWIS, H., HERTZMAN, M., MACHOVER, K., MEISSNER, P. & WAPNER, S. 1972. Personality through perception: An experimental and clinical study, Westport, CT, Greenwood Press.

WOLFSON, L. 1997. Balance decrements in older persons: Effects of age and disease. Gait disorders of aging. Philadelphia: Lippincott-Raven, 79-91.

WOLFSON, L., JUDGE, J., WHIPPLE, R. & KING, M. 1995. Strength is a major factor in balance, gait, and the occurrence of falls. J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci, 50 Spec No, 64-7.

WOLFSON, L., WHIPPLE, R., DERBY, C. A., AMERMAN, P., MURPHY, T., TOBIN, J. N. & NASHNER, L. 1992. A dynamic posturography study of balance in healthy elderly. Neurology, 42, 2069-75.

WOOD, D. C. 1988. Habituation in Stentor: produced by mechanoreceptor channel modification. J Neurosci, 8, 2254-8.

WOOLLACOTT, M. & SHUMWAY-COOK, A. 2002. Attention and the control of posture and gait: a review of an emerging area of research. Gait Posture, 16, 1-14.

WOOLLACOTT, M. H. 1993. Age-related changes in posture and movement. J Gerontol, 48 Spec No, 56-60.

WOOLLACOTT, M. H., SHUMWAY-COOK, A. & NASHNER, L. M. 1986. Aging and posture control: changes in sensory organization and muscular coordination. Int J Aging Hum Dev, 23, 97-114.

WOOLLACOTT, M., INGLIN, B. & MANCHESTER, D. 1988. Response preparation and posture control. Neuromuscular changes in the older adult. Ann N Y Acad Sci, 515, 42-53.

WRISLEY, D. M., STEPHENS, M. J., MOSLEY, S., WOJNOWSKI, A., DUFFY, J. & BURKARD, R. 2007. Learning effects of repetitive administrations of the sensory organization test in healthy young adults. Arch Phys Med Rehabil, 88, 1049-54.

WYNBRANDT, J. 2004. Spatial disorientation: Confusion that kills.Safety Advisor: AOPA Air Safety Foundation. MD: Frederick.

YARDLEY, L. & HIGGINS, M. 1998. Spatial updating during rotation: the role of vestibular information and mental activity. J Vestib Res, 8, 435-42.

YARDLEY, L. 1990. Contribution of somatosensory information to perception of the visual vertical with body tilt and rotating visual field. Percept Psychophys, 48, 131-4.

YARDLEY, L., BEYER, N., HAUER, K., KEMPEN, G., PIOT-ZIEGLER, C. & TODD, C. 2005. Development and initial validation of the Falls Efficacy Scale-International (FES-I). Age Ageing, 34, 614-9.

YARDLEY, L., GARDNER, M., BRONSTEIN, A., DAVIES, R., BUCKWELL, D. & LUXON, L. 2001. Interference between postural control and mental task performance in patients with vestibular disorder and healthy controls. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry, 71, 48-52.

YARDLEY, L., GARDNER, M., LAVIE, N. & GRESTY, M. 1999a. Attentional demands of perception of passive self-motion in darkness. Neuropsychologia, 37, 1293-301.

YARDLEY, L., GARDNER, M., LEADBETTER, A. & LAVIE, N. 1999b. Effect of articulatory and mental tasks on postural control. Neuroreport, 10, 215-9.

YARDLEY, L., PAPO, D., BRONSTEIN, A., GRESTY, M., GARDNER, M., LAVIE, N. & LUXON, L. 2002. Attentional demands of continuously monitoring orientation using vestibular information. Neuropsychologia, 40, 373-83.

YELNIK, A. P., KASSOUHA, A., BONAN, I. V., LEMAN, M. C., JACQ, C., VICAUT, E. & COLLE, F. M. 2006. Postural visual dependence after recent stroke: assessment by optokinetic stimulation. Gait Posture, 24, 262-9.

Appendix 1 Information sheet and consent form

INFORMATION SHEET FOR PARTICIPANTS

REC Reference Number: BDM/10/11-72



YOU WILL BE GIVEN A COPY OF THIS INFORMATION SHEET

Title of study: Effect of age on balance control

We would like to invite you to participate in this original research project. You should only participate if you want to; choosing not to take part will not disadvantage you in any way. Before you decide whether you want to take part, it is important for you to understand why the research is being done and what your participation will involve. Please take time to read the following information carefully and discuss it with others if you wish. Ask us if there is anything that is not clear or if you would like more information.

Ageing is associated with many changes including more difficulty in balancing and an increased risk of falling, although it is not known why many falls happen. Older people often report that controlling balance is more difficult after being in a moving environment such as being in a car or bus and also when distracted by noise.

It is not known whether age affects how well we can balance when exposed to both movement and noise. We use many ways to help control balance and one of them is vision which is also affected by age. Movement could disturb our balance control systems and make visual control more important.

We want to know i) how much both movement and noise affect balance and also the role of vision in balance control and ii) if there is an effect of age.

We are looking for healthy volunteers in two age ranges – 18-30 years and also any age over 60. They should not have any known neurological diseases, joint replacements or a history of seizures or fainting. The study involves coming to a laboratory in Shepherd's House, next to Guy's Hospital at London Bridge for one and a half hours at the most. We are doing two tests.

In the first you stand on a large platform that measures how much you sway in any direction. We will ask to to stand still for 45 seconds with your eyes open ,then closed and finally when looking at a pattern of rotating dots.

The second test involves you looking at vertical rod on a screen. This will rotate either to the right or the left and we would like you to bring it back into the upright position using a small electronic wheel. Around the rod are a number of dots arranged in a circle. We will ask you to correct the position of the rod when the dots are not moving and again when they are rotating.

Both tests will be done in a quite environment and also when wearing headphones. Through the headphones you will hear the type of sounds usually heard in the street e.g. traffic noise, sirens, shouting etc.

These tests will be done before and after the movement which will be 5 bouts of 1 minute each standing on a vibrating platform. This is known as whole body vibration. It is a technique which is popular in gyms and fitness centres and is said to increase muscle strength and power and feels rather strange at first but people quickly get used to it.

Before and afterwards the vibration we will do both tests.

You will be asked to complete a questionnaire about any vertigo (dizziness, giddiness, light-headedness or unsteadiness) experienced in a number of everyday situations.

In any data that is analysed or presented you will be anonymous. We will be happy to give you a copy of the final report if you request this on the Consent Form. If you agree we will keep your contact details for possible involvement in future studies that you may be suitable for.

It is up to you to decide whether to take part or not. If you decide to take part you are still free to withdraw at any time and without giving a reason. A decision to withdraw at any time, or a decision not to take part, will not affect the standard of care you receive. In addition to withdrawing yourself from the study, you may also withdraw any data/information you have already provided up until it analysed.

If you do decide to take part you will be given this information sheet to keep and be asked to sign a consent form.

If this study has harmed you in any way you can contact King's College London for further advice and information by emailing either di.newham@kcl.ac.uk or masimo.barcellona@kcl.ac.uk.

If you are interested in participating in the study please contact: <u>Shu-chun.lee@kcl.ac.uk</u> (Phone number 0207 848 6679) or <u>di.newham@kcl.ac.uk</u> (Phone number 0207 848 6320).

CONSENT FORM FOR PARTICIPANTS IN RESEARCH STUDIES

Please complete this form after you have read the Information Sheet and/or listened to an explanation about the research.



Title of Study: Effect of age on balance control

King's College Research Ethics Committee Ref: BDM/10/11-72

Thank you for considering taking part in this research. The person organising the research must explain the project to you before you agree to take part. If you have any questions arising from the Information Sheet or explanation already given to you, please ask the researcher before you decide whether to join in. You will be given a copy of this Consent Form to keep and refer to at any time.

• I understand that if I decide at any time during the research that I no longer wish to participate in this project, I can notify the researchers involved and withdraw from it immediately without giving any reason. Furthermore, I understand that I will be able to withdraw my data up to the point of analysis

• I consent to the processing of my personal information for the purposes explained to me. I understand that such information will be handled in accordance with the terms of the Data Protection Act 1998.

• I agree to be contacted in the future by King's College London researchers who would like to invite me to participate in follow up studies to this project, or in future studies of a similar nature.

• I agree that the research team may use my data for future research and understand that any such use of identifiable data would be reviewed and approved by a research ethics committee. (In such cases, as with this project, data would not be identifiable in any report).

• The information you have submitted will be published as a report and you will be sent a copy. If you would like a copy please tick.

Please note that confidentiality and anonymity will be maintained and it will not be possible to identify you from any publications.

Participant's Statement:

Ι_____

agree that the research project named above has been explained to me to my satisfaction and I agree to take part in the study. I have read both the notes written above and the Information Sheet about the project, and understand what the research study involves.

Signed

Date

Investigator's Statement:

Investigator's Statement: I ______ Confirm that I have carefully explained the nature, demands and any foreseeable risks (where applicable) of the proposed research to the participant.

Signed

Date

Effect of age on balance control - circular

Circular email for use for recruitment of volunteers for study ref BDM/10/11-72, approved by BDM RESC (Health) Sub-committee. This project contributes to the College's role in conducting research, and teaching research methods. You are under no obligation to reply to this email, however if you choose to, participation in this research is voluntary and you may withdraw at anytime.

Title of study: Effect of age on balance control

Ageing is associated with many changes including more difficulty in balancing and an increased risk of falling, although it is not known why many falls happen. Older people often report that controlling balance is more difficult after being in a moving environment such as being in a car or bus and also when distracted by noise. This may be an important cause of falls by older people.

It is not known whether age affects how well we can balance when exposed to both movement and noise. We use many ways to help control balance and one of them is vision which is also affected by age. Movement could disturb our balance control systems and make visual control more important.

Participation involves you coming to Shepherd's House on the Guy's Campus for about an hour. We will measure your standing balance with eyes open and closed and also when looking at a rotating image. We will also measure how accurately you are able to detect the vertical position of a rod projected on a screen with a stationary and moving background. These tests will be performed before and after standing on a vibrating platform for a total of 5 minutes.

We are looking healthy people in two age groups; 18-40 and over 60 years. They should not knowingly have a neurological disease, uncorrected visual impairment, joint replacement or a history of seizures, migraine or fainting.

For further information, please contact me: Shu-Chun Lee (Phone 0207 848 6679 or email <u>shu-chun.lee@kcl.ac.uk</u>)

Appendix 2 Situational Vertigo Questionnaire

SITUATIONAL VERTIGO QUESTIONNAIRE

Vertigo is the medical term used for symptoms which patients often describe as feelings of unusual disorientation, dizziness, giddiness, light-headedness or unsteadiness. Please circle a number to indicate the degree to which each of the situations listed below causes feelings of vertigo, or makes your vertigo worse. If you have never been in one of the situations then for that item ring "N.T." for "Not Tried".

The categories are:

0	1	2	3	4	N.T.
Not at all	Very slightly	Somewhat	Quite a lot	Very much	Not tried

Riding as a passenger in a car on straight flat roads	0	1	2	3	4	N.T.
Riding as a passenger in a car on winding or bumpy roads	0	1	2	3	4	N.T.
Walking down a supermarket aisle	0	1	2	3	4	N.T.
Standing in a lift while it stops	0	1	2	3	4	N.T.
Standing in a lift while it moves at a steady speed	0	1	2	3	4	N.T.
Riding in a car at a steady speed	0	1	2	3	4	N.T.
Starting or stopping in a car	0	1	2	3	4	N.T.
Standing in the middle of a wide open space (e.g. large field or square)	0	1	2	3	4	N.T.
Sitting on a bus	0	1	2	3	4	N.T.

Standing on a bus	0	1	2	3	4	N.T.
Heights	0	1	2	3	4	N.T.
Watching moving scenes on the T.V. or at the cinema	0	1	2	3	4	N.T.
Travelling on escalators	0	1	2	3	4	N.T.
Looking at striped or moving surfaces (e.g. curtains,	0	1	2	3	4	N.T.
Venetian blinds, flowing water)						
Looking at a scrolling computer screen or microfiche	0	1	2	3	4	N.T.
Going through a tunnel looking at the lights on the side	0	1	2	3	4	N.T.
Going through a tunnel looking at the light at the end	0	1	2	3	4	N.T.
Driving over the brow of a hill, around bends, or in wide	0	1	2	3	4	N.T.
open spaces						
Watching moving traffic or trains	0	1	2	3	4	N.T.

Appendix 3 Falls Efficacy Scale- International

The Falls Efficacy Scale-International (FES-I)

Now we would like to ask some questions about how concerned you are about the possibility of falling. Please reply thinking about how you usually do the activity. If you currently don't do the activity (e.g. if someone does your shopping for you), please answer to show whether you think you would be concerned about falling IF you did the activity. For each of the following activities, please tick the box which is closest to your own opinion to show how concerned you are that you might fall if you did this activity.

		Not at all concerned 1	Somewhat concerned 2	Fairly concerned 3	Very concerned 4
1	Cleaning the house (e.g. sweep, vacuum or dust)	1 🗆	2	3 🗆	4
2	Getting dressed or undressed	1 🗆	2	3 🗆	4
3	Preparing simple meals	1	2 🗆	3 🗆	4
4	Taking a bath or shower	1	2 🗆	3 🗆	4
5	Going to the shop	1	2	3 🗆	4
6	Getting in or out of a chair	1	2 🗆	3 🗆	4

7	Going up or down stairs	1 🗆	2 🗆	3 🗆	4 🗆
8	Walking around in the neighbourhood	1 🗆	2 🗆	3 🗆	4
9	Reaching for something above your head or on the ground	1	2 🗆	3 🗆	4
10	Going to answer the telephone before it stops ringing	1 🗆	2 🗆	3 🗆	4
11	Walking on a slippery surface (e.g. wet or icy)	1	2 🗆	3 🗆	4
12	Visiting a friend or relative	1 🗆	2	3 🗆	4
13	Walking in a place with crowds	1 🗆	2 🗆	3 🗆	4 🗆
14	Walking on an uneven surface (e.g. rocky ground, poorly maintained pavement)	1	2 🗆	3 🗆	4
15	Walking up or down a slope	1 🗆	2 🗆	3 🗆	4 🗆
16	Going out to a social event (e.g. religious service, family gathering or club meeting)	1	2 🗆	3 🗆	4